Public Document Pack

Agenda for a meeting of the Keighley Area Committee to
be held on Thursday, 26 March 2020 at 6.00 pm in
Council Chamber - Keighley Town Hall
Members of the Committee – Councillors
LABOUR

CONSERVATIVE

Abid Hussain
M Slater
Lintern

Brown
Ali
Goodall
Herd

BRADFORD
INDEPENDENT
GROUP
Khadim Hussain

THE INDEPENDENTS
Hawkesworth

Alternates:
LABOUR

CONSERVATIVE

Farley
Godwin
Firth
Lee

Gibbons
K Green
Whitaker
Poulsen

THE
INDEPENDENTS
Naylor

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by
contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if
Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.
 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer
named at the foot of that agenda item.

From:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Jane Lythgow
Phone: 01274 432270
E-Mail: jane.lythgow@bradford.gov.uk

To:

A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS
1.

ALTERNATE MEMBERS (Standing Order 34)
The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.

2.

DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST
(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)
To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure
must include the nature of the interest.
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes
apparent to the member during the meeting.
Notes:

3.

(1)

Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set
out in the Code of Conduct. Disclosable pecuniary interests
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2)

Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this
restriction applies to them. A failure to comply with these
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992.

(3)

Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4)

Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council
Standing Order 44.

MINUTES
Recommended –
That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 February 2020 be
signed as a correct record (previously circulated).
(Jane Lythgow – 01274 432270)

4.

INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)
Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by
contacting the person shown after each agenda item. Certain reports
and background papers may be restricted.
Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.
If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.
Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if
you wish to appeal.
(Jane Lythgow - 01274 432270)

5.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)
To hear questions from electors within the District on any matter this is
the responsibility of the Committee.
Questions must be received in writing by the City Solicitor in
Room 112, City Hall, Bradford, BD1 1HY, by mid-day on Tuesday
24 March 2020.
(Jane Lythgow - 01274 432270)

B. BUSINESS ITEMS
6.

LAND AT ELLIOTT STREET, SILSDEN - NOMINATION TO LIST
PROPERTY AS AN ASSET OF COMMUNITY VALUE
The report of the Strategic Director, Corporate Resources, (Document “X”)
informs Members that the Council has received a nomination to list land at
Elliott Street, Silsden, as an Asset of Community Value under the Localism
Act 2011.
Document “X” considers whether the nomination and nominated asset meet
the Asset of Community Value criteria set out in the Localism Act 2011.
Members are asked to make a recommendation to the Strategic
Director, Corporate Resources, to approve or not to approve the
nomination.
Recommended –
That it be recommended to the Strategic Director, Corporate Resources,
that in accordance with option 1, contained in Document “X, the

1 - 38

nomination of land known as land at Elliott Street, Silsden, shown
edged red on the plan attached at Appendix 1 to Document “X”, be
approved as an Asset of Community Value on the grounds that it does
meet the criteria and definition of an Asset of Community Value as set
out in the Localism Act 2011.
(Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
(Nigel Giillat – 01535 618297)

7.

THE HIVE SILSDEN - NOMINATION TO LIST PROPERTY AS AN
ASSET OF COMMUNITY VALUE

39 - 76

The report of the Strategic Director, Corporate Resources, (Document “Y”)
informs Members that the Council has received a nomination to re-list The
Hive, Silsden, formerly known as Silsden Youth club and Silsden Daisy
Chain, as an Asset of Community Value under the Localism Act 2011.
Document “Y” considers whether the nomination and nominated asset meet
the Asset of Community Value criteria set out in the Localism Act 2011.
Members are asked to make a recommendation to the Strategic
Director, Corporate Resources, to approve or not to approve the
nomination.
Recommended –
That it be recommended to the Strategic Director, Corporate Resources,
that in accordance with option 1, contained in Document “Y, the
nomination of The Hive , shown edged red on the plan attached at
Appendix 1 to Document “Y”be approved as an Asset of Community
Value on the grounds that it does meet the criteria and definition of an
Asset of Community Value as set out in the Localism Act 2011.
(Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
(Nigel Giillat – 01535 618297)

8.

CHAPEL ROAD, STEETON - OBJECTIONS TO TRAFFIC
REGULATION ORDER FOR WAITING RESTRICTIONS
The Strategic Director, Place, will present a report, (Document “Z”) which
considers an objection to the proposed Traffic Regulation Order to introduce
waiting restrictions on Chapel Road, Steeton.
Recommended –
1. That the objection be overruled and the Order be sealed and
implemented as advertised.
2. That the objector be informed accordingly.
(Regeneration & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
(Simon D’Vali – 01274 438375)

77 - 82

9.

KEIGHLEY CREATIVE ARTS

83 - 92

The Strategic Director, Place, will present a report, (Document “AA”) which
provides an update on the work of Keighley Creative Space and in particular
the Keighley Arts & Film Festival 2019.
Recommended –
Keighley Area Committee notes the work undertaken by Keighley
Creative Space and the success of the Keighley Arts & Film Festival
2019.
(Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
(Jonathan Hayes – 01535 618008)
10.

PROTECTING CHLDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS AT RISK
OF EXPLOITATION

93 - 162

The report of the Chief Executive (Document “AB”)provides an update to
and builds on the report presented to the Keighley Area Committee on the
20th December 2018 regarding the issue of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE). It
now focuses on the Strategic Response to all forms of exploitation in Children
and Adults and how partners from the Working Together to Safeguard
Children – the Bradford Partnership and the Bradford Safeguarding Adults
Board work to drive improvements across the District and to hold agencies to
account for their work in their area. The report also outlines the emergence of
other complex safeguarding themes and outlines how partners are effectively
collaborating and focussing upon the protection of vulnerable Children and
Adults.
Recommended (1)

That the Area Committee is invited to consider the contents of
this report and how members can support local activity.

(2)

That the Area Committee shall receive a further update on the
progress of the response to exploitation in 12 months time.

(3)

That partners will seek further funding opportunities from
Government funding streams to enable the continuation of
service provision as outlined in this report.

(4)

That Document “AB” is a call to action for all partners to
recognise exploitation in its widest sense and continue to
provide a coordinated safeguarding response to children and
vulnerable adults.
(Mark Griffin – 01274 434361)

11.

HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE NON-CLASSIFIED ROADS AND
SURFACE DRESSING ALLOCATION FOR KEIGHLEY
CONSTITUENCY 2021/21
The report of the Strategic Director, Place, (Document “AC”) provides
information on the Capital Highway Maintenance funding element of the Local
Transport Plan for 2020/21 and makes recommendations on the allocation for

163 174

Non-Classified road resurfacing schemes and Surface Dressing sites in the
Keighley constituency.
Recommended –
That the proposed list of schemes for 2020/21 as shown in appendices 2
and 3 of Document “AC” be approved.
(Regeneration & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
(Andy Fisher – 01535 618297)
12.

SAFER ROADS DEVOLVED BUDGET

175 194

The report of the Strategic Director, Place, (Document “AD”) seeks approval
for programmes for Safer Road Schemes in the Keighley area for 2020/21
and 2021/22.
Recommended –
1. That the programme of Casualty Reduction schemes for 2020/21
and 2021/22 listed in Appendix 2 to Document “AD” be approved.
2.

That the proposed programme of Traffic Management
schemes for 2020/21 and 2021/22 listed in Appendix 3 to
Document “AD” be approved

3.

That the progression of Traffic Regulation Order schemes
for 2018/19 listed in Appendix 4 to Document “AD” be noted.

4. That the proposed programme of Traffic Regulation Order
schemes for 2020/21 and 2021/22 listed in Appendix 5 to
Document “AD” be approved
5.

That any Traffic Regulation Orders, or any legal
procedures linked to the processing of traffic calming measures
or pedestrian crossing facilities which are necessary to
implement the chosen schemes be approved for processing and
advertising subject to the scheme details being agreed with the
local Ward Members.

6.

That any valid objections to the advertised Traffic
Regulation Orders, traffic calming or pedestrian facilities be
submitted to this Area Committee for consideration or in the
event of there being no valid objections the Traffic Regulation
Orders be sealed and implemented and the traffic calming or
pedestrian facilities be implemented as advertised.

(Regeneration & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
(Simon D’Vali – 01274 431000)

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER

Agenda Item 6/
Report of the Strategic Director of Corporate Services
to the meeting of Keighley Area Committee to be held
on 26th March 2020 at 06.00pm at Keighley Town Hall

X
Subject:
Nomination to list property as an Asset of Community Value –
Elliott Street land

Summary statement:
The Council has received a nomination to list an area of land at Elliott Street, Silsden as
an Asset of Community Value under the Localism Act 2011.
This report considers whether the nomination and nominated asset meet the Asset of
Community Value criteria set out in the Localism Act and contains a recommendation as to
whether or not the nomination should be approved.

Joanne Hyde
Strategic Director, Corporate
Resources

Portfolio:
Regeneration, Planning & Transport

Report Contact: Nigel Gillatt,
Senior Estates Surveyor

Overview & Scrutiny Area:
Corporate

Phone: (01274) 434224
E-mail: ACVTeam@bradford.gov.uk
Page 1 of 6

Page 1

1. SUMMARY
1.1 The Council has received a nomination to list an area of land at Elliott Street, Silsden
shown edged red on the plan in Appendix 1, as an Asset of Community Value under
the Localism Act 2011.
1.2 The nomination was made on 10th February 2020. This report considers whether the
nomination and nominated asset meet the Asset of Community Value Criteria set out in
the Localism Act and contains a recommendation as to whether or not the Director of
Corporate Services should approve the Asset of Community Value nomination.
2. BACKGROUND
2.1 The Community Right to Bid provisions of the Localism Act 2011 came into effect on
21st September 2012. The purpose of the provisions is to allow communities time to
prepare bids for land and property assessed as being of benefit to the community when
those assets come up for disposal.
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
3.1

The Community Right to Bid

3.1.1 Local community groups and parish councils are able to nominate privately and
publicly owned land and property for inclusion on a list of assets of community
value. The list is maintained by CBMDC which is also responsible for managing the
process for determining whether a nomination of a property as an asset of
community value is successful. At its meeting of 6th November 2012 the Executive
resolved that Area Committee should recommend a determination of the nomination
to the Director of Corporate Services who makes the decision.
3.1.2 The listing of land or property as an Asset of Community Value has the effect of
preventing owners from disposing of their listed property without first notifying the
Council of their intention to sell. The notification of intention to sell triggers a six
week moratorium on disposal during which local community groups and parish
councils are able to express an interest in bidding for the property. If no expressions
of interest are received the owner is free to dispose of his property at the end of the
six week period. If an expression of interest is received the initial six week
moratorium extends to six months to allow community groups and parish councils to
prepare to bid for the property or to negotiate with the property owner. At the end of
the six month period the owner is able to sell the property to whoever they want and
by whatever means they wish. If the property is not sold within 18 months of the
notification of intention to sell the disposal process must start again. Once sold the
property is removed from the list.
3.1.3 The Community Right to Bid provisions do not:


Give community groups or parish councils a right of first refusal when listed land
and buildings come up for sale.
Page 2 of 6

Page 2




3.2

Give community groups or a parish council the right to purchase land and
property listed as assets of community value at a reduced price i.e. less than
market value.
Compel a property owner to sell to a community group or parish council. Once
the procedures set out in the Act are complied with property owners are free to
sell their property to whomever they wish.
Restrict how a property owner can use their property.

Definition of an Asset of Community Value

3.2.1 The Act provides that land or property falls within the definition of asset of
community value where a current non-ancillary use furthers the social wellbeing or
social interests of the local community and where it is realistic to think that such a
use can continue, whether or not in the same way. Social interests include culture,
recreation and sport. A property will also qualify when a non-ancillary use in the
recent past meets the definition and it is realistic to think that its use may again fall
within the definition within the next five years (whether or not in the same way as
before).
3.2.2 The Act sets out details of certain types of land and property which are exempt from
the Community Right to Bid provisions.
3.3

Who can nominate an asset to be listed

3.3.1 Nominations to list an asset as being of community value can be made by:






A local voluntary or community group that is incorporated – this means it has
a separate legal status from its members.
A local voluntary or community group that is not incorporated but has at least
21 members who appear on the electoral roll within CBMDC or a
neighbouring authority.
A parish council.
Neighbouring parish councils – if a parish council borders another parish
council area it may nominate an asset within that area.
Community interest groups with a local connection which has one of the
following structures:
a) A charity
b) A community interest company
c) A company limited by guarantee that is non-profit-distributing
d) An industrial provident society that is non-profit-distributing

For a local group to be able to nominate it must be able to demonstrate that its
activities are wholly or partly concerned with the local authority area within which
the asset is located or with a neighbouring authority (which shares a boundary
with Bradford).
3.4

The Nomination

3.4.1 The nomination form is included as Appendix 2.
Page 3 of 6

Page 3

3.4.2 Council officers have assessed the nomination to consider whether it meets the
criteria set out in the Localism Act 2011, as follows:
3.4.2.1 The nominator The Hive Silsden is a Charitable Incorporated Organisation
which is eligible to nominate Assets of Community Value a copy of the Constitution
is attached in Appendix 3.
3.4.2.2 The nominated asset is a school playing field that is also used for
community events and is not exempt from listing.
3.4.2.3 The present use of the land is a school playing field which is also used for
informal and formal recreation activities.
3.4.2.4 The land is currently used as a playing field there it meets the criteria that is
likely to be used for community benefit within the next 5 years.
3.4.3 Accordingly, Council officers have assessed that the criteria for listing which have
been met.
3.5

Appeals & Listing

3.5.1

Property owners (but not occupiers) may appeal against the Council’s decision to
list their property as an asset of community value. In the first instance the property
owner should ask the Council to review its decision. If the Council upholds its
decision to list, the owner may appeal to the First Tier Tribunal.

3.5.2 There is no provision within the Act for nominators to challenge a decision not to list
a property or decision to remove a property from the list following a review.
However, the Council will be required to provide nominators with reasons why their
application is unsuccessful or why a property has been removed from the list.
3.5.3 As mentioned at 3.1.3 above, the listing of land or property as an Asset of
Community Value does not prevent a land owner from changing the use of the
listed asset. The Act provides that a listed asset can be removed from the list if the
nature of the asset changes so that it is unrealistic to expect it to be used for social,
sporting, environmental benefits in the near future. An example of substantial
change would be the progression of development works.
3.5.4 The listing of an asset is not retrospective and has no effect on binding agreements
for sale already in place at the date of listing.
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL
In certain circumstances, a property owner may have a right to compensation for
losses incurred as a result of listing.

Page 4 of 6

Page 4

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES
None
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL
6.1 Land or property may only be listed as an Asset of Community Value where it
meets the criteria and definitions set out in the Localism Act 2011 and the Assets of
Community Value Regulations (England) 2012.
6.2 Property owners may seek an internal review of a decision to add a property to the
List of Assets of Community Value. If the decision is upheld the owners can appeal
against the decision to list their property to the First Tier Tribunal.
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY
None
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
None
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS
None
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
None
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT
None
7.6 TRADE UNION
None
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS
None
7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)
None
Page 5 of 6

Page 5

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS
None.
9. OPTIONS
9.1

Option 1: Recommend that the Director of Corporate Resources accept the
nomination on the grounds that it meets the criteria and definition of an Asset of
Community Value as set out in the Localism Act 2011.

9.2

Option 2: Recommend that the Director of Corporate Resources reject the
nomination on the grounds that it does not meet the criteria and definition of an
Asset of Community Value as set out in the Localism Act 2011.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS
It recommended in accordance with Option 1 that Keighley Area Committee
recommend that the Director of Corporate Resources accepts nomination to list the
land known as land at Elliot Street shown edged red on the plan attached in Appendix
1 as an Asset of Community Value.
11. APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - Plan
Appendix 2 - Nomination Form (redacted)
Appendix 3 – The Hive Silsden CIO Constitution
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Report to the Executive meeting of 6th November 2012; The Localism Act 2011 –
The Community Right to Bid.

Page 6 of 6

Page 6

ET

7

17

Spring Gdns

22

20

1

ST REET

1

19

STRAWBERRY
STRE

1

11
1

HAWTHORNE
STREET

19

11

1

Twr

24

k
Trac

2

25

51

Fire Station

ELLIOTT

41

ourt

112.8m

39
1

Silsden Medical Centre

53

TAYLOR
AVENU
E

Youth Centre

7

10

Millfield
1

TUN NICLIFFE

PL

9

12

obbydale Court

1

Stainc to 23
liffe C

26

Spring
Gd
Cotts n

25

1

1

19

2

32

8

Vale V
iew

2

2

12

12a
12

OAKLAND S

TREET

ACV 0084 - Elliott Street Land

20

k
Trac

Sports Court
15

10
20

23

31

31

Date: 11/03/2020

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 0100019304

Page 7

45 47

1:1,250

105.2m
Path
(um)

25

Scale at A4

Allotment
Gardens

41
43

105.2m

MP 0.5

39

Lee

l Canal
o
o
p
r
e
v
ds & Li

Ü

This page is intentionally left blank

The Localism Act 2011
Community Right to Bid
Application to Nominate
Assets of Community Value

Page 1 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 9

You will need to complete this application form if you wish to nominate an asset of community
value for listing. The responses to the questions in your application will enable the Council to reach
a decision about your nomination. In the event that the information you supply is insufficient to
make a decision, your application will be rejected.
Before completing this application, please read the information about the Assets of Community
Value provisions available on the Council website at http://www.bradford.gov.uk/communityassets
This information will help you to better understand whether the asset you propose to nominate
meets with the definition of an ‘asset of community value’. It also provides additional information
about your rights to nominate and bid for assets as well as the rights of asset owners.
Your completed application should be sent, by post or email, to:
Assets of Community Value
City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council
Strategic Asset Management
1st Floor Argus Chambers,
Britannia House,
Bradford.
BD1 1HX

ACVTeam@bradford.gov.uk

For information, the table below summarises the assets of community value nominating and
bidding process in four simple stages.
Identify an asset for nomination
If an eligible community or voluntary group thinks that a local asset meets the definition of an Asset
of Community Value, they can fill in an application form and ask the Council to list the property. If the
nomination meets the relevant criteria and is approved by the Council, the asset will be included on
the list. The listing will last for a period of five years although the local authority has the ability to
remove the asset from the list before the expiry of that period.
The owner wants to sell their asset
If the owner wants to sell their listed asset, they must notify the Council, who will then notify the
community group that nominated the asset and publicise the proposed sale to the wider community.
If within six weeks an eligible community interest group does not come forward, the owner is free to
sell their asset for a period of eighteen months.
A designated community group wants to bid for the asset
If an eligible community interest group does express an interest in bidding for the asset, this group or
groups will be granted extra time to prepare a business plan and gather the finance needed to
purchase the asset. All in all, the time-frame for groups to put together their bids is six months
starting from the time the asset owner informs the Council of their intention to sell the asset.
The point at which the asset is to be sold
The six month window of opportunity (known as ‘full moratorium’) is only for eligible community
interest groups to put their business plans together and gather necessary funding. However, the
asset owner may dispose of the property to (another) community interest group at a price agreed
between the parties during the full moratorium. Once the six month window has expired, the asset
owner is free to sell their property to who they want. They are under no obligation to sell the asset to
any eligible community interest group or groups who bid to purchase the asset.
Page 2 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 10

Section 1
Details of the land or building(s) that you are nominating
Please provide information which helps to clarify the exact location and extent of the asset being
nominated. This could include:
•

Where the land is registered, the Land Registry Title Information document and map with
boundaries clearly marked in red (less than one month old). Provision of Land Registry information
is not essential but it may help us to reach a decision on the nomination more quickly.

•

A written description with ordinance survey location, and explaining where the boundaries lie, the
approximate size and location of any building/s on the land and details of any roads bordering the
site.

•

A drawing or sketch map with boundaries clearly marked in red – websites which might help you in
plotting boundaries include: http://maps.google.co.uk

If the boundary is not clearly defined, you may be required to submit further evidence prior to your
nomination application being accepted.

Name of Asset

Green field land to the Hive MUGA extending to the
Leeds Liverpool canal.

53-55 Elliott Street, Silsden, BD20 0DE
Address or location of the
asset

Description of the asset
and its boundaries

Land Registry plot WYK786607 to the extent not
already registered as an asset of community value.

Section 2
About You
Title
First Name
Surname

Address

Post Code
Telephone number
Email address
Your relationship to the
nominating organisation
Page 3 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 11

Section 3
About your Organisation
Please provide evidence that you are eligible to make a nomination.
Name of organisation
Place a cross
against all those
that apply

Organisation type

Registration number of
charity and/or company (if
applicable)

Neighbourhood forum
Parish Council
Charity

X

1182526

Community interest company
Unincorporated body
Company limited by guarantee
Industrial and provident society
Number of members registered to vote locally (unincorporated bodies)
In the case of an unincorporated body, at least 21 of its individual members must be registered to vote
locally. If relevant, please confirm the number of such members and provide the names and addresses of
21 members registered to vote locally. If they are registered to vote in the area of a neighbouring local
authority, rather than in Bradford District, please confirm which area that is.

N/A
Local connection
Your organisation must have a local connection, which means that its activities are wholly or partly
concerned with the administrative area of Bradford Council or a neighbouring local authority. In some cases
this will be obvious, e.g. an organisation whose activities are confined to the city. If it is not obvious, please
explain what your organisation’s local connection is.

Our charitable aims are to do with provision of activities for the health and wellbeing of the
community of Silsden and the BD20 postal area.
We provide space in our building for preschool groups and adult groups to run local activities
based on sport, music, crafts, health education, and services for young families.
Four out of five of our Trustees live in Silsden.

Page 4 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 12

Distribution of surplus funds (applicable to certain types of organisations only)
If your organisation is an unincorporated body, a company limited by guarantee, or an industrial and
provident society, its rules must provide that any surplus funds are not distributed to members, but are
applied wholly or partly for the benefit of the local area (i.e. within the administrative area of Bradford or a
neighbouring local authority). If relevant, please confirm that this is the case, and specifically which area
this applies to.
N/A

More about your organisation
What are the main aims and activities of your organisation? If your organisation isn’t a registered charity or
company, please provide evidence of its status such as trust deed, Articles of Association, constitution
where appropriate.

Our Aims (from our business plan)
We aim to provide a venue for the residents of Silsden and the neighbourhood without distinction
of gender, sexual orientation, race, age, or of political, religious or other opinions, to get together
for a wide range of leisure, sport, and educational activities.
We aim not only to increase footfall, but to increase benefit and quality of benefit to users of the
building. We will act as a distribution agent for gifts to the community, and we will invite
organisations who offer advice, training, and learning opportunities to use the venue.
We hope to create good connections with local sport and leisure activity providers who may want
to use our facilities.
We aim to use grants, donations, and letting income to improve and refurbish our facilities, and in
the longer term, to re-arrange the layout of the interior, and to build an extension, and to manage
the larger grassy area reaching from the Hive MUGA down to the Leeds Liverpool Canal. This
would be used to create a football/rugby pitch, with space to one side for a wooded area and
outdoor play equipment.
Activities
Every year we organise a big family Christmas Party, summer holiday activities for primary age
children, and in partnership with Silsden gala committee, a large fireworks display on the grassy
area for which we are expressing an interest.
Storm Rugby and Silsden Football Association hold training sessions for junior teams in the
MUGA.
Bradford Family Services use our premises for 8 hours per week, and hirers run stay and play
groups for toddlers three times a week.
We hire out two large rooms for birthday parties for children of pre-school age up to young
teenagers.
Youth Services run an evening session once a week.
Other weekly hirers include Weight Watchers, Taikwondo, Silsden Singers, a sewing group,
Bumbletots, Kinder Kalm. Our volunteers run a community café once a week on a Thursday
afternoon.

Page 5 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 13

Section 4
Owners and others with an interest in the building or land

Current owner(s)’s name
and address

Current leaseholder(s)
name and address

Names and addresses of
all current occupants of
the land

Bradford Metropolitan District Council
Britannia House
Bradford
BD1 1HX

BDMC Education

No occupants.

Section 5
Reasons for nomination; why you think the land or building is of community value
Please note that the following are not able to be assets of community value:• A building wholly used as a residence, together with land “connected with” that residence.
This means adjoining land in the same ownership. Land is treated as adjoining if it is
separated only by a road, railway, river or canal.
• A caravan site.
• Operational land. This is generally land belonging to the former utilities and other statutory
operators.

Page 6 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 14

Does the use of the asset currently further the social wellbeing or social interests*
of the local community, or has it done so in the recent past? If so, how?
* These could be cultural, recreational and/or sporting interests – please say which one(s) apply.

The land we are nominating as a community asset has been used for school sports days and
summer outdoor sport practice for our local infant and primary schools for many years. It is also
open to the general public who use it for general recreational and sporting interests.
However, it is underused, and could be put to much better use as an area for team sports and for
tree planting in a part of town which is mostly built on, and has no green leisure spaces.

How could the building or land be acquired and used in future?
If it is listed as an asset of community value, community interest groups (not limited to your organisation)
will get the opportunity to bid for it if it comes up for sale. Please set out how you think such a group could
fund the purchase of the building or land, and how they could run it for the benefit of the community.

Local organisations such as Silsden Football Association and Storm Rugby Association are
currently hiring pitches in Keighley for practice as we do not have enough pitches in Silsden for
all the junior teams. We are hoping to be able to mark out a pitch or pitches on the land to make
provision for team sports, which will sit well with our Multi Use Games area which is currently
used by the youngest teams for general training.
We provide activities for children of all ages during the summer holidays, and this land would
provide the potential to expand these activities. We would hope to make joint funding bids with
the above named organisations to develop the land to their benefit.
We are currently planning to start up a Preschool in our building, using a smaller grassy area
surrounding the building to plant trees, bulbs, and other plants to enable Forest School activities.
We have funding in place for this first stage to use the land for the benefit of local children. With
the larger area of land we would expand this for older children, planting more trees, and
potentially larger wooden play equipment and a zip wire.
Our current fundraising plans to start the Preschool involve a Business Development Plan which
encompasses ideas for the development of the grassy area.

Section 6
Submitting your nomination

Page 7 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 15

What to include
•
•

Your organisation’s constitution, Articles of Association or Trust Deed
Your location plan of the asset that you are nominating

Signature
By signing your name here (if submitting by post) or typing it (if submitting by email) you
are confirming that the contents of this form are correct, to the best of your knowledge.

SignatureDDD.DDDDDDDDDDDDDD.
DateDDD10th February 2020 ..DDDDDDDDDDDDDDD...

Page 8 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 16

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

1

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
1. Name: The Hive Silsden CIO
2. National location of principal office:
The Hive, 53-55 Elliott Street, Silsden, West Yorkshire BD20 0DE
3. Objects:
To further the wellbeing of, and to benefit, the residents of Silsden and the
neighbourhood, without distinction of gender, sexual orientation, race, age, or of
political, religious or other opinions, by providing a Community Resource Centre
through which individuals, community groups, and other organisations will have
access to meeting spaces, advice, information and guidance, and educational,
social, and leisure opportunities.
In furtherance of these objects, but not otherwise, the trustees shall have power:
To ensure the longer-term viability of this Community Resource Centre by:
1) working with others, 2) seeking access to community grants, 3) encouraging a
degree of self-sustainability from the income of the services we provide, and 4) cooperating with any statutory authority in the maintenance and management of this
Community Resource Centre, for activities promoted by the charity in furtherance
of the above objects.
Nothing in this constitution shall authorise an application of the property of the CIO for
the purposes which are not charitable in accordance with [section 7 of the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005] and [section 2 of the Charities Act (Northern
Ireland) 2008]
4. Powers
The CIO has power to do anything which is calculated to further its object[s]
or is conducive or incidental to doing so. In particular, the CIO has power to:
(1) borrow money and to charge the whole or any part of its property as
security for the repayment of the money borrowed. The CIO must comply as
appropriate with sections 124 and 125 of the Charities Act 2011, if it wishes to
mortgage land;
(2) buy, take on lease or in exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any
property and to maintain and equip it for use;

Page 19

2

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(3) sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the property belonging to
the CIO. In exercising this power, the CIO must comply as appropriate with
sections 117 and 119-123 of the Charities Act 2011;
(4) employ and remunerate such staff as are necessary for carrying out the work
of the CIO. The CIO may employ or remunerate a charity trustee only to the
extent that it is permitted to do so by clause 6 (Benefits and payments to
charity trustees and connected persons) and provided it complies with the
conditions of that clause;
(5) deposit or invest funds, employ a professional fund-manager, and arrange for
the investments or other property of the CIO to be held in the name of a
nominee, in the same manner and subject to the same conditions as the
trustees of a trust are permitted to do by the Trustee Act 2000.

5. Application of income and property
(1) The income and property of the CIO must be applied solely towards the promotion
of the object.
a) A charity trustee is entitled to be reimbursed from the property of
the CIO or may pay out of such property
b) reasonable expenses properly incurred by him or her when acting
on behalf of the CIO.
c) A charity trustee may benefit from trustee indemnity insurance
cover purchased at the CIO’s expense in accordance with and
subject to the conditions in, section 189 of the Charities Act 2011.
(2) None of the income or property of the CIO may be paid or transferred directly or
indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise by way of profit to any member of
the CIO.
(3) Nothing in this clause shall prevent a charity trustee or connected person
receiving any benefit or payment which is authorised by Clause 6.

Page 20

3

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
6. Benefits and payments to charity trustees and connected persons
(1) General provisions
No charity trustee or connected person may:
(a) buy or receive any goods or services from the CIO on terms preferential
to those applicable to members of the public;
(b) sell goods, services, or any interest in land to the CIO;
(c) be employed by or receive any remuneration from, the CIO;
(d) receive any other financial benefit from the CIO;
unless the payment or benefit is permitted by sub-clause (2) of this clause authorised by
the court or the prior written consent of the Charity Commission (“the Commission”)
has been obtained. In this clause, a “financial benefit” means a benefit, direct or indirect,
which is either money or has a monetary value.
(2) Scope and powers permitting trustees’ or connected persons’ benefits
(a) A charity trustee or connected person may receive a benefit from the CIO as a
beneficiary provided that it is available generally to all beneficiaries of the
CIO.
(b) A charity trustee or “connected person” (see clause 30) may enter into a
contract for the supply of services, or of goods that are supplied in connection
with the provision of services, to the CIO where that is permitted in accordance
with, and subject to the conditions in, sections 185 to 188 of the Charities Act
2011.

(c) Subject to sub-clause (3) of this clause a charity trustee or connected person
may provide the CIO with goods that are not supplied in connection with
services provided to the CIO by the charity trustee or connected person.
(d) A charity trustee or connected person may receive interest on money lent to
the CIO at a reasonable and proper rate which must be not more than the Bank
of England bank rate (also known as the base rate).

Page 21

4

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
e) A charity trustee or connected person may receive rent for premises let by
the trustee or connected person to the CIO. The amount of the rent and the
other terms of the lease must be reasonable and proper. The charity trustee
concerned must withdraw from any meeting at which such a proposal or the
rent or other terms of the lease are under discussion.
f) A charity trustee or connected person may take part in the normal trading
and fundraising activities of the CIO on the same terms as members of the
public.

(3) Payment for supply of goods only – controls
The CIO and its charity trustees may only rely upon the authority provided by sub-clause (2)(c)
of this clause if each of the following conditions is satisfied:
a) The amount or maximum amount of the payment for the goods is set out in a
written agreement between the CIO and the charity trustee or connected person
supplying the goods (“the supplier”).
b) The amount or maximum amount of the payment for the goods does not exceed
what is reasonable in the circumstances for the supply of the goods in question.

c) The other charity trustees are satisfied that it is in the best interests of the CIO
to contract with the supplier rather than with someone who is not a charity
trustee or connected person. In reaching that decision the charity trustees must
balance the advantage of contracting with a charity trustee or connected person
against the disadvantages of doing so.
d) The supplier is absent from the part of any meeting at which there is discussion
of the proposal to enter into a contract or arrangement with him or her or it with
regard to the supply of goods to the CIO.
e) The supplier does not vote on any such matter and is not to be counted when
calculating whether a quorum of charity trustees is present at the meeting.
f) The reason for their decision is recorded by the charity trustees in the minute
book.

Page 22

5

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
g) A majority of the charity trustees then in office are not in receipt of
remuneration or payments authorised by clause 6.

(4) In sub-clauses (2) and (3) of this clause:
a) “the CIO” includes any company in which the CIO:
(i)

holds more than 50% of the shares; or

(ii)

controls more than 50% of the voting rights attached to the
shares; or

(iii)

has the right to appoint one or more directors to the board of the
company;

b) connected person” includes any person within the definition set out in clause [30]
(Interpretation);
7. Conflicts of interest and conflicts of loyalty
A charity trustee must:
(1)

declare the nature and extent of any interest, direct or indirect, which he or she
has in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the CIO or in any
transaction or arrangement entered into by the CIO which has not previously
been declared; and

(2)

absent himself or herself from any discussions of the charity trustees in
which it is possible that a conflict of interest will arise between his or her
duty to act solely in the interests of the CIO and any personal interest
(including but not limited to any financial interest)

Any charity trustee absenting himself or herself from any discussions in accordance with this
clause must not vote or be counted as part of the quorum in any decision of the charity trustees
on the matter.

Page 23

6

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
8. Liability of members to contribute to the assets of the CIO if it is wound up
If the CIO is wound up, the members of the CIO have no liability to contribute to its
assets and no personal responsibility for settling its debts and liabilities.
9. Charity trustees
(1) Functions and duties of charity trustees
The charity trustees shall manage the affairs of the CIO and may for that purpose
exercise all the powers of the CIO. It is the duty of each charity trustee:
(a)

to exercise his or her powers and to perform his or her functions in his
or her capacity as a trustee of the CIO in the way he or she decides in
good faith would be most likely to further the purposes of the CIO; and

(b)

to exercise, in the performance of those functions, such care and skill as is
reasonable in the circumstances having regard in particular to:
(i) any special knowledge or experience that he or she has or holds himself

or herself out as having; and,
(ii) if he or she acts as a charity trustee of the CIO in the course of a business

or profession, to any special knowledge or experience that it is
reasonable to expect of a person acting in the course of that kind of
business or profession.
(2)

Eligibility for trusteeship
(a)
(b)

(c)

Every charity trustee must be a natural person.
No individual may be appointed as a charity trustee of
the CIO:
•
if he or she is under the age of 16 years; or
•
if he or she would automatically cease to hold
office under the provisions of clause [12(1)(e)].

No one is entitled to act as a charity trustee whether on appointment or on
any re-appointment until he or she has expressly acknowledged, in whatever
way the charity trustees decide, his or her acceptance of the office of charity
trustee.

Page 24

7

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
3) Number of charity trustees
There must be at least three charity trustees. If the number falls below this
minimum, the remaining trustee or trustees may act only to call a meeting
of the charity trustees or appoint a new charity trustee.
4) First Charity Trustees
The first charity Trustees are as follows, and are appointed for the
following terms;
Jana Young
Keith Moran
Janet Russell

3 years
3 years
3 years

11. Information for new charity trustees
The charity trustees will make available to each new charity trustee, on or before his or
her first appointment:
1) a copy of the current version of this constitution; and
2) a copy of the CIO’s latest Trustees’ Annual Report and statement of accounts

12. Retirement and removal of charity trustees
(1) A charity trustee ceases to hold office if he or she:
(a) retires by notifying the CIO in writing (but only if enough charity trustees will
(i)

remain in office when the notice of resignation takes effect to form a
quorum for meetings);

(b) is absent without the permission of the charity trustees from all their meetings
held within a period of six months and the trustees resolve that his or her office
be vacated;
(c) dies;
(d) in the written opinion, given to the company, of a registered medical
practitioner treating that person, has become physically or mentally incapable
of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three months;

Page 25

8

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(e) is disqualified from acting as a charity trustee by virtue of sections 178-180 of
the Charities Act 2011 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that
provision).
(2) Any person retiring as a charity trustee is eligible for reappointment.
(3) A charity trustee who has served three consecutive terms may not be
reappointed for a fourth consecutive term but may be reappointed
after an interval of at least one year.

13. Taking of decisions by charity trustees
Any decision may be taken either:
(1) at a meeting of the charity trustees; or
(2) by resolution in writing or electronic form agreed by a majority of all of the charity
trustees, which may comprise either a single document or several documents
containing the text of the resolution in like form to which the majority of all of
the charity trustees has signified their agreement. Such a resolution shall be
effective provided that
(a) a copy of the proposed resolution has been sent, at or as near as reasonably
practicable to the same time, to all of the charity trustees; and
(3) the majority of all of the charity trustees has signified agreement to the
resolution in a document or documents which has or have been authenticated by
their signature, by a statement of their identity accompanying the document or
documents, or in such other manner as the charity trustees have previously
resolved, and delivered to the CIO at its principal office or such other place as the
trustees may resolve within 28 days of the circulation date.
14. Delegation by charity trustees
(1) The charity trustees may delegate any of their powers or functions to a
committee or committees, and, if they do, they shall determine the terms and
conditions on which the delegation is made. The charity trustees may at any
time alter those terms and conditions or revoke the delegation.

Page 26

9

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(2) This power is in addition to the power of delegation in the General Regulations and any
other power of delegation available to the charity trustees, but is subject to the
following requirements:
(a) a committee may consist of two or more persons, but at least one member of
each committee must be a charity trustee;
(b) the acts and proceedings of any committee must be brought to the attention of
the charity trustees as a whole as soon as is reasonably practicable; and
(c) the charity trustees shall from time to time review the arrangements which
they have made for the delegation of their powers.

15. Meetings of charity trustees
(1) Calling meetings
(a) Any charity trustee may call a meeting of the charity trustees.
(b) Subject to that, the charity trustees shall decide how their meetings are to be
called, and what notice is required.
(2) Chairing of meetings
The charity trustees may appoint one of their number to chair their meetings and
may at any time revoke such appointment. If no-one has been so appointed, or if the
person appointed is unwilling to preside or is not present within 10 minutes after
the time of the meeting, the charity trustees present may appoint one of their number
to chair that meeting.
(3) Procedure at meetings
(a) No decision shall be taken at a meeting unless a quorum is present at
the time when the decision is taken. The quorum is three charity
trustees, or the number nearest to one third of the total number of
charity trustees, whichever is greater, or such larger number as the
charity trustees may decide from time to time. A charity trustee shall
not be counted in the quorum present when any decision is made
about a matter upon which he or she is not entitled to vote.
(b) Questions arising at a meeting shall be decided by a majority of those

Page 27

10

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
eligible to vote. In the case of an equality of votes, the person who
chairs the meeting hall have a second or casting vote.
(4) Participation in meetings by electronic means
(a) A meeting may be held by suitable electronic means agreed by
the charity trustees in which each participant may communicate
with all the other participants.
(b) Any charity trustee participating at a meeting by suitable electronic
means agreed by the charity trustees in which a participant or
participants may communicate with all the other participants shall
qualify as being present at the meeting.
(c) Meetings held by electronic means must comply with rules for
meetings, including chairing and the taking of minutes.
16. Membership of the CIO

(1) The members of the CIO shall be its charity trustees for the time being. The only
persons eligible to be members of the CIO are its charity trustees. Membership of
the CIO cannot be transferred to anyone else.
(2) Any member and charity trustee who ceases to be a charity trustee automatically
ceases to be a member of the CIO.

17. Informal or associate (non-voting) membership
(1)

The charity trustees may create associate or other classes of non-voting
membership, and may determine the rights and obligations of any such
members (including payment of membership fees), and the conditions for
admission to, and termination of membership of any such class of
members.

(2)

Other references in this constitution to “members” and “membership”
do not apply to non-voting members, and non-voting members do not
qualify as members for any purpose under the Charities Acts, General
Regulations or Dissolution Regulations.

Page 28

11

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
18. Decisions which must be made by the members of the CIO
(1)

Any decision to:
(a)

amend the constitution of the CIO;

(b)

amalgamate the CIO with, or transfer its undertaking to, one or more
other CIOs, in accordance with the Charities Act 2011; or

(c)

wind up or dissolve the CIO (including transferring its business to any
other charity)

must be made by a resolution of the members of the CIO (rather than a resolution
of the charity trustees).
(2)

Decisions of the members may be made either:
(a)

by resolution at a general meeting; or

(b)

by resolution in writing, in accordance with sub-clause (4) of this clause.

(3)

Any decision specified in sub-clause (1) of this clause must be made in accordance
with the provisions of clause [28] (amendment of constitution), clause [29]
(Voluntary winding up or dissolution), or the provisions of the Charities Act
2011, the General Regulations or the Dissolution Regulations as applicable. Those
provisions require the resolution to be agreed by a 75% majority of those
members voting at a general meeting, or agreed by all members in writing.

(4)

Except where a resolution in writing must be agreed by all the members, such a
resolution may be agreed by a simple majority of all the members who are
entitled to vote on it. Such a resolution shall be effective provided that:
(a)

a copy of the proposed resolution has been sent to all the members
eligible to vote; and

(b)

the required majority of members has signified its agreement to the
resolution in a document or documents which are received at the
principal office within the period of 28 days beginning with the
circulation date. The document signifying a member’s agreement must be
authenticated by their signature, by a statement of their identity
accompanying the document, or in such other manner as the CIO has

Page 29

12

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
specified.
The resolution in writing may comprise several copies to which one or more members
has signified their agreement. Eligibility to vote on the resolution is limited to
members who are members of the CIO on the date when the proposal is first
circulated.
19. General meetings of members
(1)

Calling of general meetings of members

The charity trustees may designate any of their meetings as a general meeting of the
members of the CIO. The purpose of such a meeting is to discharge any business which
must by law be discharged by a resolution of the members of the CIO as specified in clause
[18] (Decisions which must be made by the members of the CIO).
(2)

Notice of general meetings of members
(a)

The minimum period of notice required to hold a general
meeting of the members of the CIO is (21) days.

(b)

Except where a specified period of notice is strictly required by
another clause in this constitution, by the Charities Act 2011 or by the
General
Regulations, a general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it is so
agreed by a majority of the members of the CIO.

(c)

(3)

Proof that an envelope containing a notice was properly addressed,
prepaid and posted; or that an electronic form of notice was properly
addressed and sent, shall be conclusive evidence that the notice was given.
Notice shall be deemed to be given 48 hours after it was posted or sent.

Procedure at general meetings of members

The provisions in clause 15 (2)-(4) governing the chairing of meetings, procedure at
meetings and participation in meetings by electronic means apply to any general
meeting of the members, with all references to trustees to be taken as references to
members.

Page 30

13

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
20. Saving provisions
(1)

Subject to sub-clause (2) of this clause, all decisions of the charity trustees,
or of a committee of charity trustees, shall be valid notwithstanding the
participation in any vote of a charity trustee:
(a)

who had previously retired or who had been obliged by the constitution to
vacate office;

(b)

who was not entitled to vote on the matter, whether by reason of a
conflict of interest or otherwise;

c) if, without the vote of that charity trustee and that charity trustee being
counted in the quorum, the decision has been made by a majority of the
charity trustees at a quorate meeting.
(2)

Sub-clause (1) of this clause does not permit a charity trustee to keep any benefit
that may be conferred upon him or her by a resolution of the charity trustees or of
a committee of charity trustees if, but for sub-clause (1), the resolution would
have been void, or if he charity trustee has not complied with clause 7 (conflicts
of interest).

21. Execution of documents
(1)

The CIO shall execute documents either by signature or by affixing its seal (if
it has one)

(2)

A document is validly executed by signature if it is signed by at least two
of the charity trustees.

(3)

If the CIO has a seal:
(a)

it must comply with the provisions of the General Regulations; and

(b)

the seal must only be used by the authority of the charity trustees or of a
committee of charity trustees duly authorised by the charity trustees. The
charity trustees may determine who shall sign any document to which the
seal is affixed and unless otherwise so determined it shall be signed by two
charity trustees.

Page 31

14

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
22. Use of electronic communications
(1)

General

The CIO will comply with the requirements of the Communications
Provisions in the General Regulations and in particular:

(2)

(a)

the requirement to provide within 21 days to any member on request a
hard copy of any document or information sent to the member otherwise
than in hard copy form;

(b)

any requirements to provide information to the Commission in a
particular form or manner.

To the CIO
Any member or charity trustee of the CIO may communicate
electronically with the CIO to an address specified by the CIO for the purpose,
so long as the communication is authenticated in a manner which is
satisfactory to the CIO.

(3)

By the CIO
(a)

Any member or charity trustee of the CIO, by providing the CIO with his or her
email address or similar, is taken to have agreed to receive communications from
the CIO in electronic form at that address, unless the member has indicated to the
CIO his or her unwillingness to receive such communications in that form.

(b)

The charity trustees may, subject to compliance with any legal
requirements, by means of publication on its website:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

provide the members with the notice referred to in clause 19(2) (Notice of
general meetings);
give charity trustees notice of their meetings in accordance with clause
15(1) (Calling meetings); [and
provide the members with the notice referred to in clause 19(2) (Notice of
general meetings);
give charity trustees notice of their meetings in accordance with clause
15(1) (Calling meetings); [and
Submit any proposal to the members or charity trustees for decision
by written resolution or postal vote in accordance with the CIO’s powers
under clause 18 (Members’ decisions), 18(4) (Decisions taken by
resolution in writing).

Page 32

15

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(c) The charity trustees must –
(i) Take reasonable steps to ensure that members and charity trustees are
promptly notified of the publication of any such notice or proposal; and
(ii) Send any such notice or proposal in hard copy form to any member or
charity trustee who has not consented to receive communications in
electronic form.

23. Keeping of Registers
The CIO must comply with its obligations under the General Regulations in relation to the
keeping of, and provision of access to, a (combined) register of its members and charity
trustees.
24. Minutes
The charity trustees must keep minutes of all:
(1) appointments of officers made by the charity trustees;
(2) proceedings at general meetings of the CIO
(3) meetings of the charity trustees and committees of charity
trustees including:
(a)
(b)

c)

the names of the trustees present at the meeting;
the decisions made at the meetings; and
where appropriate the reasons for the decisions;
decisions made by the charity trustees otherwise than in

meetings.
25. Accounting records, accounts, annual reports and returns, register
maintenance
(1) The charity trustees must comply with the requirements of the Charities Act
2011 with regard to the keeping of accounting records, to the preparation
and scrutiny of statements of account, and to the preparation of annual
reports and returns. The statements of account, reports and returns must be
sent to the Charity Commission, regardless of the income of the CIO, within 10
months of the financial year end.
(2)

The charity trustees must comply with their obligation to inform the

Page 33

16

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
Commission within 28 days of any change in the particulars of the CIO entered on the
Central Register of Charities.
(3) Rules
The charity trustees may from time to time make such reasonable and proper rules or
byelaws as they may deem necessary or expedient for the proper conduct and
management of the CIO, but such rules or bye laws must not be inconsistent with any
provision of this constitution. Copies of any such rules or bye laws currently in force
must be made available to any member of the CIO on request.
(4) Disputes
If a dispute arises between members of the CIO about the validity or propriety of
anything done by the members under this constitution, and the dispute cannot be
resolved by agreement, the parties to the dispute must first try in good faith to settle
the dispute by mediation before resorting to litigation.
(5) Amendment of constitution
As provided by sections 224-227 of the Charities Act 2011:
a. This constitution can only be amended:
i. by resolution agreed in writing by all members of the CIO; or
ii. by a resolution passed by a 75% majority of those voting at a general
meeting of the members of the CIO called in accordance with clause 19
(General meetings of members).
b. Any alteration of clause 3 (Objects), clause [29] (Voluntary winding up or
dissolution), this clause, or of any provision where the alteration would provide
authorisation for any benefit to be obtained by charity trustees or members of the
CIO or persons connected with them, requires the prior written consent of the
Charity Commission.
c. No amendment that is inconsistent with the provisions of the Charities Act
2011 or the General Regulations shall be valid.
d. A copy of every resolution amending the constitution, together with a copy of the
CIO’s constitution as amended must be sent to the Commission by the end of the

Page 34

17

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
period of 15 days beginning with the date of passing of the resolution, and the
amendment does not take effect until it has been recorded in the Register of
Charities.
(6) Voluntary winding up or dissolution
a. As provided by the Dissolution Regulations, the CIO may be dissolved by
resolution of its members. Any decision by the members to wind up or
dissolve the CIO can only be made:
i. at a general meeting of the members of the CIO called in accordance
with clause 19 (General meetings of members), of which not less than
14 days’ notice has been given to those eligible to attend and vote:
1. by a resolution passed by a 75% majority of those voting, or
2. by a resolution passed by decision taken without a vote and
without any expression of dissent in response to the
question put to the general meeting; or
ii. by a resolution agreed in writing by all members of the CIO.
b. Subject to the payment of all the CIO’s debts:
i. Any resolution for the winding up of the CIO, or for the dissolution of the
CIO without winding up, may contain a provision directing how any
remaining assets of the CIO shall be applied. If the resolution does not
contain such a provision, the charity trustees must decide how any
remaining assets of the CIO shall be applied.
ii. In either case the remaining assets must be applied
for charitable purposes the same as or similar to those of the CIO.
c. The CIO must observe the requirements of the Dissolution Regulations in
applying to the Commission for the CIO to be removed from the Register of
Charities, and in particular:
i.

the charity trustees must send with their application to
the Commission:
1. a copy of the resolution passed by the members of the CIO
2. a declaration by the charity trustees that any debts and other
liabilities of the CIO have been settled or otherwise provided

Page 35

18

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
for in full; and
3. a statement by the charity trustees setting out the way in
which any property of the CIO has been or is to be applied prior
to its dissolution in accordance with this constitution;
ii. the charity trustees must ensure that a copy of the application is sent
within seven days to every member and employee of the CIO, and to any
charity trustee of the CIO who was not privy to the application.
d. If the CIO is to be wound up or dissolved in any other circumstances,
the provisions of the Dissolution Regulations must be followed.

Interpretation
In this constitution:
connected person means:
(a)

a child, parent, grandchild, grandparent, brother or sister of the
charity trustee;

(b)

the spouse or civil partner of the charity trustee or of any person
falling within sub-clause (a) above;

Page 36

19

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution

(c)

a person carrying on business in partnership with the charity trustee
or with any person falling within sub- clause (a) or (b) above;

(d)

an institution which is controlled –
(i)
(ii)

(e)

by the charity trustee or any connected person falling within
sub-clause (a), (b), or (c) above; or
by two or more persons falling within sub-clause (d) (i)
when taken together

a body corporate in which –
(i)
(ii)

the charity trustee or any connected person falling within subclauses (a) to (c) has a substantial interest; or
two or more persons falling within sub-clause (e)(i) who,
when taken together, have a substantial interest.

Section 118 of the Charities Act 2011 apply for the purposes of
interpreting the terms used in this constitution.
“General Regulations” means the Charitable Incorporated Organisations (General) Regulations
2012.
“Dissolution Regulations” means the Charitable Incorporated Organisations (Insolvency and
Dissolution) Regulations 2012.
The “Communications Provisions” means the Communications Provisions in [Part 10, Chapter 4]
of the General Regulations.
“charity trustee” means a charity trustee of the CIO.
A “poll” means a counted vote or ballot, usually (but not necessarily) in writing

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7/
Report of the Strategic Director of Corporate Services
to the meeting of Keighley Area Committee to be held
on 26th March 2020 at 06.00pm at Keighley Town Hall
Y
Subject:
Nomination to re-list property as an Asset of Community Value –
The Hive Silsden

Summary statement:
The Council has received a nomination to re-list The Hive Silsden, formerly known as
Silsden Youth Club and Silsden Daisy Chain, as an Asset of Community Value under the
Localism Act 2011.
This report considers whether the nomination and nominated asset meet the Asset of
Community Value criteria set out in the Localism Act and contains a recommendation as to
whether or not the nomination should be approved.

Joanne Hyde
Strategic Director, Corporate
Resources

Portfolio:
Regeneration, Planning & Transport

Report Contact: Nigel Gillatt,
Senior Estates Surveyor

Overview & Scrutiny Area:
Corporate

Phone: (01274) 434224
E-mail: ACVTeam@bradford.gov.uk

Page 1 of 6

Page 39

1. SUMMARY
1.1 The Council has received a nomination to re-list The Hive Silsden shown edged red on
the plan in Appendix 1, as an Asset of Community Value under the Localism Act 2011.
1.2 The nomination was made on 10th March 2020. This report considers whether the
nomination and nominated asset meet the Asset of Community Value Criteria set out in
the Localism Act and contains a recommendation as to whether or not the Director of
Corporate Services should approve the Asset of Community Value nomination.
2. BACKGROUND
2.1 The Community Right to Bid provisions of the Localism Act 2011 came into effect on
21st September 2012. The purpose of the provisions is to allow communities time to
prepare bids for land and property assessed as being of benefit to the community when
those assets come up for disposal.
2.2The previous listing lapsed automatically after 5 years on the 3rd July 2019.
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
3.1

The Community Right to Bid

3.1.1 Local community groups and parish councils are able to nominate privately and
publicly owned land and property for inclusion on a list of assets of community
value. The list is maintained by CBMDC which is also responsible for managing the
process for determining whether a nomination of a property as an asset of
community value is successful. At its meeting of 6th November 2012 the Executive
resolved that Area Committee should recommend a determination of the nomination
to the Director of Corporate Services who makes the decision.
3.1.2 The listing of land or property as an Asset of Community Value has the effect of
preventing owners from disposing of their listed property without first notifying the
Council of their intention to sell. The notification of intention to sell triggers a six
week moratorium on disposal during which local community groups and parish
councils are able to express an interest in bidding for the property. If no expressions
of interest are received the owner is free to dispose of his property at the end of the
six week period. If an expression of interest is received the initial six week
moratorium extends to six months to allow community groups and parish councils to
prepare to bid for the property or to negotiate with the property owner. At the end of
the six month period the owner is able to sell the property to whoever they want and
by whatever means they wish. If the property is not sold within 18 months of the
notification of intention to sell the disposal process must start again. Once sold the
property is removed from the list.
3.1.3 The Community Right to Bid provisions do not:


Give community groups or parish councils a right of first refusal when listed land
and buildings come up for sale.
Page 2 of 6

Page 40




3.2

Give community groups or a parish council the right to purchase land and
property listed as assets of community value at a reduced price i.e. less than
market value.
Compel a property owner to sell to a community group or parish council. Once
the procedures set out in the Act are complied with property owners are free to
sell their property to whomever they wish.
Restrict how a property owner can use their property.

Definition of an Asset of Community Value

3.2.1 The Act provides that land or property falls within the definition of asset of
community value where a current non-ancillary use furthers the social wellbeing or
social interests of the local community and where it is realistic to think that such a
use can continue, whether or not in the same way. Social interests include culture,
recreation and sport. A property will also qualify when a non-ancillary use in the
recent past meets the definition and it is realistic to think that its use may again fall
within the definition within the next five years (whether or not in the same way as
before).
3.2.2 The Act sets out details of certain types of land and property which are exempt from
the Community Right to Bid provisions.
3.3

Who can nominate an asset to be listed

3.3.1 Nominations to list an asset as being of community value can be made by:






A local voluntary or community group that is incorporated – this means it has
a separate legal status from its members.
A local voluntary or community group that is not incorporated but has at least
21 members who appear on the electoral roll within CBMDC or a
neighbouring authority.
A parish council.
Neighbouring parish councils – if a parish council borders another parish
council area it may nominate an asset within that area.
Community interest groups with a local connection which has one of the
following structures:
a) A charity
b) A community interest company
c) A company limited by guarantee that is non-profit-distributing
d) An industrial provident society that is non-profit-distributing

For a local group to be able to nominate it must be able to demonstrate that its
activities are wholly or partly concerned with the local authority area within which
the asset is located or with a neighbouring authority (which shares a boundary
with Bradford).
3.4

The Nomination

3.4.1 The nomination form is included as Appendix 2.
Page 3 of 6

Page 41

3.4.2 Council officers have assessed the nomination to consider whether it meets the
criteria set out in the Localism Act 2011, as follows:
3.4.2.1 The nominator The Hive Silsden is a Charitable Incorporated Organisation
which is eligible to nominate Assets of Community Value a copy of the Constitution
is attached in Appendix 3.
3.4.2.2 The nominated asset is a community centre that is also used for community
events and is not exempt from listing.
3.4.2.3 The present use of The Hive is a community centre uses includes, delivery
of children’s centre services, youth services and community activities.
3.4.2.4 The Hive which is currently used as community centre therefore meets the
criteria that is likely to be used for community benefit within the next 5 years.
3.4.3 Accordingly, Council officers have assessed that the criteria for listing which have
been met.
3.5

Appeals & Listing

3.5.1

Property owners (but not occupiers) may appeal against the Council’s decision to
list their property as an asset of community value. In the first instance the property
owner should ask the Council to review its decision. If the Council upholds its
decision to list, the owner may appeal to the First Tier Tribunal.

3.5.2 There is no provision within the Act for nominators to challenge a decision not to list
a property or decision to remove a property from the list following a review.
However, the Council will be required to provide nominators with reasons why their
application is unsuccessful or why a property has been removed from the list.
3.5.3 As mentioned at 3.1.3 above, the listing of land or property as an Asset of
Community Value does not prevent a land owner from changing the use of the
listed asset. The Act provides that a listed asset can be removed from the list if the
nature of the asset changes so that it is unrealistic to expect it to be used for social,
sporting, environmental benefits in the near future. An example of substantial
change would be the progression of development works.
3.5.4 The listing of an asset is not retrospective and has no effect on binding agreements
for sale already in place at the date of listing.
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL
In certain circumstances, a property owner may have a right to compensation for
losses incurred as a result of listing.

Page 4 of 6

Page 42

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES
None
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL
6.1 Land or property may only be listed as an Asset of Community Value where it
meets the criteria and definitions set out in the Localism Act 2011 and the Assets of
Community Value Regulations (England) 2012.
6.2 Property owners may seek an internal review of a decision to add a property to the
List of Assets of Community Value. If the decision is upheld the owners can appeal
against the decision to list their property to the First Tier Tribunal.
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY
None
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
None
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS
None
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
None
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT
None
7.6 TRADE UNION
None
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS
None
7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)
None
Page 5 of 6

Page 43

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS
None.
9. OPTIONS
9.1

Option 1: Recommend that the Director of Corporate Resources accept the
nomination on the grounds that it meets the criteria and definition of an Asset of
Community Value as set out in the Localism Act 2011.

9.2

Option 2: Recommend that the Director of Corporate Resources reject the
nomination on the grounds that it does not meet the criteria and definition of an
Asset of Community Value as set out in the Localism Act 2011.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS
It recommended in accordance with Option 1 that Keighley Area Committee
recommend that the Director of Corporate Resources accepts nomination to list the
The Hive shown edged red on the plan attached in Appendix 1 as an Asset of
Community Value.
11. APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - Plan
Appendix 2 - Nomination Form (redacted)
Appendix 3 – The Hive Silsden CIO Constitution
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Report to the Executive meeting of 6th November 2012; The Localism Act 2011 –
The Community Right to Bid.

Page 6 of 6

Page 44

ET

7

17

Spring Gdns

22

20

1

ST REET

1

19

STRAWBERRY
STRE

1

11
1

HAWTHORNE
STREET

19

11

1

Twr

24

k
Trac

2

25

51

Fire Station

ELLIOTT

41

ourt

112.8m

39
1

Silsden Medical Centre

53

TAYLOR
AVENU
E

Youth Centre

7

10

Millfield
1

TUN NICLIFFE

PL

9

12

obbydale Court

1

Stainc to 23
liffe C

26

Spring
Gd
Cotts n

25

1

1

19

2

32

8

Vale V
iew

2

2

12

12a
12

OAKLAND S

TREET

ACV 0084 - Elliott Street Land

20

k
Trac

Sports Court
15

10
20

23

31

31

Date: 11/03/2020

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 0100019304

Page 45

45 47

1:1,250

105.2m
Path
(um)

25

Scale at A4

Allotment
Gardens

41
43

105.2m

MP 0.5

39

Lee

l Canal
o
o
p
r
e
v
ds & Li

Ü

This page is intentionally left blank

The Localism Act 2011
Community Right to Bid
Application to Nominate
Assets of Community Value

Page 1 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 47

You will need to complete this application form if you wish to nominate an asset of community
value for listing. The responses to the questions in your application will enable the Council to reach
a decision about your nomination. In the event that the information you supply is insufficient to
make a decision, your application will be rejected.
Before completing this application, please read the information about the Assets of Community
Value provisions available on the Council website at http://www.bradford.gov.uk/communityassets
This information will help you to better understand whether the asset you propose to nominate
meets with the definition of an ‘asset of community value’. It also provides additional information
about your rights to nominate and bid for assets as well as the rights of asset owners.
Your completed application should be sent, by post or email, to:
Assets of Community Value
City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council
Strategic Asset Management
1st Floor Argus Chambers,
Britannia House,
Bradford.
BD1 1HX

ACVTeam@bradford.gov.uk

For information, the table below summarises the assets of community value nominating and
bidding process in four simple stages.
Identify an asset for nomination
If an eligible community or voluntary group thinks that a local asset meets the definition of an Asset
of Community Value, they can fill in an application form and ask the Council to list the property. If the
nomination meets the relevant criteria and is approved by the Council, the asset will be included on
the list. The listing will last for a period of five years although the local authority has the ability to
remove the asset from the list before the expiry of that period.
The owner wants to sell their asset
If the owner wants to sell their listed asset, they must notify the Council, who will then notify the
community group that nominated the asset and publicise the proposed sale to the wider community.
If within six weeks an eligible community interest group does not come forward, the owner is free to
sell their asset for a period of eighteen months.
A designated community group wants to bid for the asset
If an eligible community interest group does express an interest in bidding for the asset, this group or
groups will be granted extra time to prepare a business plan and gather the finance needed to
purchase the asset. All in all, the time-frame for groups to put together their bids is six months
starting from the time the asset owner informs the Council of their intention to sell the asset.
The point at which the asset is to be sold
The six month window of opportunity (known as ‘full moratorium’) is only for eligible community
interest groups to put their business plans together and gather necessary funding. However, the
asset owner may dispose of the property to (another) community interest group at a price agreed
between the parties during the full moratorium. Once the six month window has expired, the asset
owner is free to sell their property to who they want. They are under no obligation to sell the asset to
any eligible community interest group or groups who bid to purchase the asset.
Page 2 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 48

Section 1
Details of the land or building(s) that you are nominating
Please provide information which helps to clarify the exact location and extent of the asset being
nominated. This could include:
•

Where the land is registered, the Land Registry Title Information document and map with
boundaries clearly marked in red (less than one month old). Provision of Land Registry information
is not essential but it may help us to reach a decision on the nomination more quickly.

•

A written description with ordinance survey location, and explaining where the boundaries lie, the
approximate size and location of any building/s on the land and details of any roads bordering the
site.

•

A drawing or sketch map with boundaries clearly marked in red – websites which might help you in
plotting boundaries include: http://maps.google.co.uk

If the boundary is not clearly defined, you may be required to submit further evidence prior to your
nomination application being accepted.

Name of Asset

Address or location of the
asset

Description of the asset
and its boundaries

The, Hive Silsden

53-55 Elliott Street, Silsden, BD20 0DE

Formerly Silsden Youth Club and Silsden Daisy Chain
Centre, sits between Silsden fire station and Taylor
Avenue. The building, surrounding land, and Multi
Use Games Area are all currently managed by The
Hive Silsden CIO.
Section 2
About You

Title
First Name
Surname

Address

Post Code
Telephone number
Email address
Your relationship to the
nominating organisation
Page 3 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 49

Section 3
About your Organisation
Please provide evidence that you are eligible to make a nomination.
Name of organisation

The Hive Silsden CIO
Place a cross
against all those
that apply

Organisation type

Registration number of
charity and/or company (if
applicable)

Neighbourhood forum
Parish Council
Charity

X

1182526

Community interest company
Unincorporated body
Company limited by guarantee
Industrial and provident society
Number of members registered to vote locally (unincorporated bodies)
In the case of an unincorporated body, at least 21 of its individual members must be registered to vote
locally. If relevant, please confirm the number of such members and provide the names and addresses of
21 members registered to vote locally. If they are registered to vote in the area of a neighbouring local
authority, rather than in Bradford District, please confirm which area that is.

Local connection
Your organisation must have a local connection, which means that its activities are wholly or
partly concerned with the administrative area of Bradford Council or a neighbouring local
authority. In some cases this will be obvious, e.g. an organisation whose activities are confined to
the city. If it is not obvious, please explain what your organisation’s local connection is.
We manage the former youth club and children’s services building, and continue to host midwife
services, breastfeeding advice, and stay and play groups for local families with pre school
children. We have recently negotiated a restart of sessions for younger youth groups as a result
of initiative taken by our management committee to hold an open day for 11 – 16s. We are
about to start a group for 8-10 year olds also.
The Hive is hired out almost every weekend for local children’s birthday parties. We provide
space in our building for groups of all ages and abilities to run local activities based on sport,
films, music, crafts, health, education, and services for young families.
Four out of five of our Trustees live in Silsden.

Page 4 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 50

Distribution of surplus funds (applicable to certain types of organisations only)
If your organisation is an unincorporated body, a company limited by guarantee, or an industrial and
provident society, its rules must provide that any surplus funds are not distributed to members, but are
applied wholly or partly for the benefit of the local area (i.e. within the administrative area of Bradford or a
neighbouring local authority). If relevant, please confirm that this is the case, and specifically which area
this applies to.

N/A

More about your organisation
What are the main aims and activities of your organisation? If your organisation isn’t a registered charity or
company, please provide evidence of its status such as trust deed, Articles of Association, constitution
where appropriate.

Our Aims
We aim to provide a venue for the residents of Silsden and the neighbourhood without distinction
of gender, sexual orientation, race, age, or of political, religious or other opinions, to get together
for a wide range of leisure, sport, and educational activities.
We aim not only to increase footfall, but to increase benefit and quality of benefit to users of the
building. We will act as a distribution agent for gifts to the community, and we will invite
organisations who offer advice, training, and learning opportunities to use the venue.
We hope to create good connections with local sport and leisure activity providers who may want
to use our facilities.
We aim to use grants, donations, and letting income to improve and refurbish our facilities, and in
the longer term, to re-arrange the layout of the interior, and to build an extension, and to manage
the larger grassy area reaching from the Hive MUGA down to the Leeds Liverpool Canal. This
would be used to create a football/rugby pitch, with space to one side for a wooded area and
outdoor play equipment.
Activities
Every year we organise a big family Christmas Party, summer holiday activities for primary age
children, and in partnership with Silsden gala committee, a large fireworks display on the grassy
area for which we are expressing an interest.
Storm Rugby and Silsden Football Association hold training sessions for junior teams in the
MUGA.
Bradford Family Services use our premises for 8 hours per week, and hirers run stay and play
groups for toddlers three times a week.
We hire out two large rooms for birthday parties for children of pre-school age up to young
teenagers.
Youth Services run an evening session once a week.
Other weekly hirers include Weight Watchers, Taikwondo, Silsden Singers, a sewing group,
Bumbletots, Kinder Kalm. Our volunteers run a community café once a week on a Thursday
afternoon.

Page 5 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 51

Section 4
Owners and others with an interest in the building or land

Current owner(s)’s name
and address

Current leaseholder(s)
name and address

Bradford Metropolitan District Council
Britannia House
Bradford
BD1 1HX

The Hive Silsden CIO (Tenancy at will)
53-55 Elliott Street, Silsden
BD200JY

No occupants
Names and addresses of
all current occupants of
the land

Section 5
Reasons for nomination; why you think the land or building is of community value
Please note that the following are not able to be assets of community value:• A building wholly used as a residence, together with land “connected with” that residence.
This means adjoining land in the same ownership. Land is treated as adjoining if it is
separated only by a road, railway, river or canal.
• A caravan site.
• Operational land. This is generally land belonging to the former utilities and other statutory
operators.

Page 6 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 52

Does the use of the asset currently further the social wellbeing or social interests*
of the local community, or has it done so in the recent past? If so, how?
* These could be cultural, recreational and/or sporting interests – please say which one(s) apply.

The Hive building is used by family services for 8 hours per week.
Youth workers hold a youth session weekly. This now caters for two age groups, one
older teenagers, and one 11-16 year old group. We are negotiating a startup of a group
for 8-10 year olds.
The building is used for children’s parties, for sports activities, for recreational and arts
activities, and for film viewings.
The Hive building and the MUGA are used every week for activities of cultural,
recreational and sporting interests.

How could the building or land be acquired and used in future?
If it is listed as an asset of community value, community interest groups (not limited to your organisation)
will get the opportunity to bid for it if it comes up for sale. Please set out how you think such a group could
fund the purchase of the building or land, and how they could run it for the benefit of the community.

We already have a stage 1 CAT transfer in place, and will be submitting our stage 2 CAT
transfer in the coming months. We intend to negotiate a long term lease with Bradford
Council to manage the building and the MUGA, with the surrounding land.
We will continue to run the venue to further or benefit the residents of Silsden, West
Yorkshire and the neighbourhood, without distinction of sex, sexual orientation, race or of
political, religious or other opinions by associating together the said residents and the
local authorities, voluntary and other organisations in a common effort to advance
education and to provide facilities in the interests of social welfare for recreation and
leisure time occupation with the objective of improving the conditions of life for the
residents. (from our constitution).

Section 6
Submitting your nomination

Page 7 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 53

What to include
•
•

Your organisation’s constitution, Articles of Association or Trust Deed
Your location plan of the asset that you are nominating

Signature
By signing your name here (if submitting by post) or typing it (if submitting by email) you
are confirming that the contents of this form are correct, to the best of your knowledge.

SignatureBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB.
DateBB10th March 2020BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB...

Page 8 of 8
ACV Nomination Form January 2018

Page 54

10

5

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200
Meters

USE ONLY ORIGINAL PRINTED PAPER COPIES - ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED COPIES WILL NOT BE TO SCALE THUS FOR ID ONLY - DO NOT REDUCE OR SCAN!

FOR IDENTIFICATION ONLY
19

1

2

19

Sp ring

8
STREET

17

STRAWBERRY

11

HAWTHORNE

32

Spring Gdns

11
1

EL LIO
TT ST
REET

1

2

Vale V
iew

19

7

1

2

25
STREET

12
12

OAKLAND STREET

12a

1

26

22

112.8m
EL LIOTT

20

1

24

1

Gdn

Cotts

STREET
41

39

7

1

25

TAYL OR
AVENUE

1

TUNNICLIFFE

PL

9

12

15

k
Trac

10
20
23

31

39
47

45

31

LEEDS

SE0346

1/1250@A4

ERP
AND LIV

OO L CA

N AL

02-07-2019

Page 55

DCB

E-032-016 NSG

43
41

This page is intentionally left blank

1

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
1. Name: The Hive Silsden CIO
2. National location of principal office:
The Hive, 53-55 Elliott Street, Silsden, West Yorkshire BD20 0DE
3. Objects:
To further the wellbeing of, and to benefit, the residents of Silsden and the
neighbourhood, without distinction of gender, sexual orientation, race, age, or of
political, religious or other opinions, by providing a Community Resource Centre
through which individuals, community groups, and other organisations will have
access to meeting spaces, advice, information and guidance, and educational,
social, and leisure opportunities.
In furtherance of these objects, but not otherwise, the trustees shall have power:
To ensure the longer-term viability of this Community Resource Centre by:
1) working with others, 2) seeking access to community grants, 3) encouraging a
degree of self-sustainability from the income of the services we provide, and 4) cooperating with any statutory authority in the maintenance and management of this
Community Resource Centre, for activities promoted by the charity in furtherance
of the above objects.
Nothing in this constitution shall authorise an application of the property of the CIO for
the purposes which are not charitable in accordance with [section 7 of the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005] and [section 2 of the Charities Act (Northern
Ireland) 2008]
4. Powers
The CIO has power to do anything which is calculated to further its object[s]
or is conducive or incidental to doing so. In particular, the CIO has power to:
(1) borrow money and to charge the whole or any part of its property as
security for the repayment of the money borrowed. The CIO must comply as
appropriate with sections 124 and 125 of the Charities Act 2011, if it wishes to
mortgage land;
(2) buy, take on lease or in exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any
property and to maintain and equip it for use;

Page 57

2

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(3) sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the property belonging to
the CIO. In exercising this power, the CIO must comply as appropriate with
sections 117 and 119-123 of the Charities Act 2011;
(4) employ and remunerate such staff as are necessary for carrying out the work
of the CIO. The CIO may employ or remunerate a charity trustee only to the
extent that it is permitted to do so by clause 6 (Benefits and payments to
charity trustees and connected persons) and provided it complies with the
conditions of that clause;
(5) deposit or invest funds, employ a professional fund-manager, and arrange for
the investments or other property of the CIO to be held in the name of a
nominee, in the same manner and subject to the same conditions as the
trustees of a trust are permitted to do by the Trustee Act 2000.

5. Application of income and property
(1) The income and property of the CIO must be applied solely towards the promotion
of the object.
a) A charity trustee is entitled to be reimbursed from the property of
the CIO or may pay out of such property
b) reasonable expenses properly incurred by him or her when acting
on behalf of the CIO.
c) A charity trustee may benefit from trustee indemnity insurance
cover purchased at the CIO’s expense in accordance with and
subject to the conditions in, section 189 of the Charities Act 2011.
(2) None of the income or property of the CIO may be paid or transferred directly or
indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise by way of profit to any member of
the CIO.
(3) Nothing in this clause shall prevent a charity trustee or connected person
receiving any benefit or payment which is authorised by Clause 6.

Page 58

3

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
6. Benefits and payments to charity trustees and connected persons
(1) General provisions
No charity trustee or connected person may:
(a) buy or receive any goods or services from the CIO on terms preferential
to those applicable to members of the public;
(b) sell goods, services, or any interest in land to the CIO;
(c) be employed by or receive any remuneration from, the CIO;
(d) receive any other financial benefit from the CIO;
unless the payment or benefit is permitted by sub-clause (2) of this clause authorised by
the court or the prior written consent of the Charity Commission (“the Commission”)
has been obtained. In this clause, a “financial benefit” means a benefit, direct or indirect,
which is either money or has a monetary value.
(2) Scope and powers permitting trustees’ or connected persons’ benefits
(a) A charity trustee or connected person may receive a benefit from the CIO as a
beneficiary provided that it is available generally to all beneficiaries of the
CIO.
(b) A charity trustee or “connected person” (see clause 30) may enter into a
contract for the supply of services, or of goods that are supplied in connection
with the provision of services, to the CIO where that is permitted in accordance
with, and subject to the conditions in, sections 185 to 188 of the Charities Act
2011.

(c) Subject to sub-clause (3) of this clause a charity trustee or connected person
may provide the CIO with goods that are not supplied in connection with
services provided to the CIO by the charity trustee or connected person.
(d) A charity trustee or connected person may receive interest on money lent to
the CIO at a reasonable and proper rate which must be not more than the Bank
of England bank rate (also known as the base rate).

Page 59

4

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
e) A charity trustee or connected person may receive rent for premises let by
the trustee or connected person to the CIO. The amount of the rent and the
other terms of the lease must be reasonable and proper. The charity trustee
concerned must withdraw from any meeting at which such a proposal or the
rent or other terms of the lease are under discussion.
f) A charity trustee or connected person may take part in the normal trading
and fundraising activities of the CIO on the same terms as members of the
public.

(3) Payment for supply of goods only – controls
The CIO and its charity trustees may only rely upon the authority provided by sub-clause (2)(c)
of this clause if each of the following conditions is satisfied:
a) The amount or maximum amount of the payment for the goods is set out in a
written agreement between the CIO and the charity trustee or connected person
supplying the goods (“the supplier”).
b) The amount or maximum amount of the payment for the goods does not exceed
what is reasonable in the circumstances for the supply of the goods in question.

c) The other charity trustees are satisfied that it is in the best interests of the CIO
to contract with the supplier rather than with someone who is not a charity
trustee or connected person. In reaching that decision the charity trustees must
balance the advantage of contracting with a charity trustee or connected person
against the disadvantages of doing so.
d) The supplier is absent from the part of any meeting at which there is discussion
of the proposal to enter into a contract or arrangement with him or her or it with
regard to the supply of goods to the CIO.
e) The supplier does not vote on any such matter and is not to be counted when
calculating whether a quorum of charity trustees is present at the meeting.
f) The reason for their decision is recorded by the charity trustees in the minute
book.

Page 60

5

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
g) A majority of the charity trustees then in office are not in receipt of
remuneration or payments authorised by clause 6.

(4) In sub-clauses (2) and (3) of this clause:
a) “the CIO” includes any company in which the CIO:
(i)

holds more than 50% of the shares; or

(ii)

controls more than 50% of the voting rights attached to the
shares; or

(iii)

has the right to appoint one or more directors to the board of the
company;

b) connected person” includes any person within the definition set out in clause [30]
(Interpretation);
7. Conflicts of interest and conflicts of loyalty
A charity trustee must:
(1)

declare the nature and extent of any interest, direct or indirect, which he or she
has in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the CIO or in any
transaction or arrangement entered into by the CIO which has not previously
been declared; and

(2)

absent himself or herself from any discussions of the charity trustees in
which it is possible that a conflict of interest will arise between his or her
duty to act solely in the interests of the CIO and any personal interest
(including but not limited to any financial interest)

Any charity trustee absenting himself or herself from any discussions in accordance with this
clause must not vote or be counted as part of the quorum in any decision of the charity trustees
on the matter.

Page 61

6

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
8. Liability of members to contribute to the assets of the CIO if it is wound up
If the CIO is wound up, the members of the CIO have no liability to contribute to its
assets and no personal responsibility for settling its debts and liabilities.
9. Charity trustees
(1) Functions and duties of charity trustees
The charity trustees shall manage the affairs of the CIO and may for that purpose
exercise all the powers of the CIO. It is the duty of each charity trustee:
(a)

to exercise his or her powers and to perform his or her functions in his
or her capacity as a trustee of the CIO in the way he or she decides in
good faith would be most likely to further the purposes of the CIO; and

(b)

to exercise, in the performance of those functions, such care and skill as is
reasonable in the circumstances having regard in particular to:
(i) any special knowledge or experience that he or she has or holds himself

or herself out as having; and,
(ii) if he or she acts as a charity trustee of the CIO in the course of a business

or profession, to any special knowledge or experience that it is
reasonable to expect of a person acting in the course of that kind of
business or profession.
(2)

Eligibility for trusteeship
(a)
(b)

(c)

Every charity trustee must be a natural person.
No individual may be appointed as a charity trustee of
the CIO:
•
if he or she is under the age of 16 years; or
•
if he or she would automatically cease to hold
office under the provisions of clause [12(1)(e)].

No one is entitled to act as a charity trustee whether on appointment or on
any re-appointment until he or she has expressly acknowledged, in whatever
way the charity trustees decide, his or her acceptance of the office of charity
trustee.

Page 62

7

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
3) Number of charity trustees
There must be at least three charity trustees. If the number falls below this
minimum, the remaining trustee or trustees may act only to call a meeting
of the charity trustees or appoint a new charity trustee.
4) First Charity Trustees
The first charity Trustees are as follows, and are appointed for the
following terms;
Jana Young
Keith Moran
Janet Russell

3 years
3 years
3 years

11. Information for new charity trustees
The charity trustees will make available to each new charity trustee, on or before his or
her first appointment:
1) a copy of the current version of this constitution; and
2) a copy of the CIO’s latest Trustees’ Annual Report and statement of accounts

12. Retirement and removal of charity trustees
(1) A charity trustee ceases to hold office if he or she:
(a) retires by notifying the CIO in writing (but only if enough charity trustees will
(i)

remain in office when the notice of resignation takes effect to form a
quorum for meetings);

(b) is absent without the permission of the charity trustees from all their meetings
held within a period of six months and the trustees resolve that his or her office
be vacated;
(c) dies;
(d) in the written opinion, given to the company, of a registered medical
practitioner treating that person, has become physically or mentally incapable
of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three months;

Page 63

8

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(e) is disqualified from acting as a charity trustee by virtue of sections 178-180 of
the Charities Act 2011 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that
provision).
(2) Any person retiring as a charity trustee is eligible for reappointment.
(3) A charity trustee who has served three consecutive terms may not be
reappointed for a fourth consecutive term but may be reappointed
after an interval of at least one year.

13. Taking of decisions by charity trustees
Any decision may be taken either:
(1) at a meeting of the charity trustees; or
(2) by resolution in writing or electronic form agreed by a majority of all of the charity
trustees, which may comprise either a single document or several documents
containing the text of the resolution in like form to which the majority of all of
the charity trustees has signified their agreement. Such a resolution shall be
effective provided that
(a) a copy of the proposed resolution has been sent, at or as near as reasonably
practicable to the same time, to all of the charity trustees; and
(3) the majority of all of the charity trustees has signified agreement to the
resolution in a document or documents which has or have been authenticated by
their signature, by a statement of their identity accompanying the document or
documents, or in such other manner as the charity trustees have previously
resolved, and delivered to the CIO at its principal office or such other place as the
trustees may resolve within 28 days of the circulation date.
14. Delegation by charity trustees
(1) The charity trustees may delegate any of their powers or functions to a
committee or committees, and, if they do, they shall determine the terms and
conditions on which the delegation is made. The charity trustees may at any
time alter those terms and conditions or revoke the delegation.

Page 64

9

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(2) This power is in addition to the power of delegation in the General Regulations and any
other power of delegation available to the charity trustees, but is subject to the
following requirements:
(a) a committee may consist of two or more persons, but at least one member of
each committee must be a charity trustee;
(b) the acts and proceedings of any committee must be brought to the attention of
the charity trustees as a whole as soon as is reasonably practicable; and
(c) the charity trustees shall from time to time review the arrangements which
they have made for the delegation of their powers.

15. Meetings of charity trustees
(1) Calling meetings
(a) Any charity trustee may call a meeting of the charity trustees.
(b) Subject to that, the charity trustees shall decide how their meetings are to be
called, and what notice is required.
(2) Chairing of meetings
The charity trustees may appoint one of their number to chair their meetings and
may at any time revoke such appointment. If no-one has been so appointed, or if the
person appointed is unwilling to preside or is not present within 10 minutes after
the time of the meeting, the charity trustees present may appoint one of their number
to chair that meeting.
(3) Procedure at meetings
(a) No decision shall be taken at a meeting unless a quorum is present at
the time when the decision is taken. The quorum is three charity
trustees, or the number nearest to one third of the total number of
charity trustees, whichever is greater, or such larger number as the
charity trustees may decide from time to time. A charity trustee shall
not be counted in the quorum present when any decision is made
about a matter upon which he or she is not entitled to vote.
(b) Questions arising at a meeting shall be decided by a majority of those

Page 65

10

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
eligible to vote. In the case of an equality of votes, the person who
chairs the meeting hall have a second or casting vote.
(4) Participation in meetings by electronic means
(a) A meeting may be held by suitable electronic means agreed by
the charity trustees in which each participant may communicate
with all the other participants.
(b) Any charity trustee participating at a meeting by suitable electronic
means agreed by the charity trustees in which a participant or
participants may communicate with all the other participants shall
qualify as being present at the meeting.
(c) Meetings held by electronic means must comply with rules for
meetings, including chairing and the taking of minutes.
16. Membership of the CIO

(1) The members of the CIO shall be its charity trustees for the time being. The only
persons eligible to be members of the CIO are its charity trustees. Membership of
the CIO cannot be transferred to anyone else.
(2) Any member and charity trustee who ceases to be a charity trustee automatically
ceases to be a member of the CIO.

17. Informal or associate (non-voting) membership
(1)

The charity trustees may create associate or other classes of non-voting
membership, and may determine the rights and obligations of any such
members (including payment of membership fees), and the conditions for
admission to, and termination of membership of any such class of
members.

(2)

Other references in this constitution to “members” and “membership”
do not apply to non-voting members, and non-voting members do not
qualify as members for any purpose under the Charities Acts, General
Regulations or Dissolution Regulations.

Page 66

11

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
18. Decisions which must be made by the members of the CIO
(1)

Any decision to:
(a)

amend the constitution of the CIO;

(b)

amalgamate the CIO with, or transfer its undertaking to, one or more
other CIOs, in accordance with the Charities Act 2011; or

(c)

wind up or dissolve the CIO (including transferring its business to any
other charity)

must be made by a resolution of the members of the CIO (rather than a resolution
of the charity trustees).
(2)

Decisions of the members may be made either:
(a)

by resolution at a general meeting; or

(b)

by resolution in writing, in accordance with sub-clause (4) of this clause.

(3)

Any decision specified in sub-clause (1) of this clause must be made in accordance
with the provisions of clause [28] (amendment of constitution), clause [29]
(Voluntary winding up or dissolution), or the provisions of the Charities Act
2011, the General Regulations or the Dissolution Regulations as applicable. Those
provisions require the resolution to be agreed by a 75% majority of those
members voting at a general meeting, or agreed by all members in writing.

(4)

Except where a resolution in writing must be agreed by all the members, such a
resolution may be agreed by a simple majority of all the members who are
entitled to vote on it. Such a resolution shall be effective provided that:
(a)

a copy of the proposed resolution has been sent to all the members
eligible to vote; and

(b)

the required majority of members has signified its agreement to the
resolution in a document or documents which are received at the
principal office within the period of 28 days beginning with the
circulation date. The document signifying a member’s agreement must be
authenticated by their signature, by a statement of their identity
accompanying the document, or in such other manner as the CIO has

Page 67

12

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
specified.
The resolution in writing may comprise several copies to which one or more members
has signified their agreement. Eligibility to vote on the resolution is limited to
members who are members of the CIO on the date when the proposal is first
circulated.
19. General meetings of members
(1)

Calling of general meetings of members

The charity trustees may designate any of their meetings as a general meeting of the
members of the CIO. The purpose of such a meeting is to discharge any business which
must by law be discharged by a resolution of the members of the CIO as specified in clause
[18] (Decisions which must be made by the members of the CIO).
(2)

Notice of general meetings of members
(a)

The minimum period of notice required to hold a general
meeting of the members of the CIO is (21) days.

(b)

Except where a specified period of notice is strictly required by
another clause in this constitution, by the Charities Act 2011 or by the
General
Regulations, a general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it is so
agreed by a majority of the members of the CIO.

(c)

(3)

Proof that an envelope containing a notice was properly addressed,
prepaid and posted; or that an electronic form of notice was properly
addressed and sent, shall be conclusive evidence that the notice was given.
Notice shall be deemed to be given 48 hours after it was posted or sent.

Procedure at general meetings of members

The provisions in clause 15 (2)-(4) governing the chairing of meetings, procedure at
meetings and participation in meetings by electronic means apply to any general
meeting of the members, with all references to trustees to be taken as references to
members.

Page 68

13

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
20. Saving provisions
(1)

Subject to sub-clause (2) of this clause, all decisions of the charity trustees,
or of a committee of charity trustees, shall be valid notwithstanding the
participation in any vote of a charity trustee:
(a)

who had previously retired or who had been obliged by the constitution to
vacate office;

(b)

who was not entitled to vote on the matter, whether by reason of a
conflict of interest or otherwise;

c) if, without the vote of that charity trustee and that charity trustee being
counted in the quorum, the decision has been made by a majority of the
charity trustees at a quorate meeting.
(2)

Sub-clause (1) of this clause does not permit a charity trustee to keep any benefit
that may be conferred upon him or her by a resolution of the charity trustees or of
a committee of charity trustees if, but for sub-clause (1), the resolution would
have been void, or if he charity trustee has not complied with clause 7 (conflicts
of interest).

21. Execution of documents
(1)

The CIO shall execute documents either by signature or by affixing its seal (if
it has one)

(2)

A document is validly executed by signature if it is signed by at least two
of the charity trustees.

(3)

If the CIO has a seal:
(a)

it must comply with the provisions of the General Regulations; and

(b)

the seal must only be used by the authority of the charity trustees or of a
committee of charity trustees duly authorised by the charity trustees. The
charity trustees may determine who shall sign any document to which the
seal is affixed and unless otherwise so determined it shall be signed by two
charity trustees.

Page 69

14

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
22. Use of electronic communications
(1)

General

The CIO will comply with the requirements of the Communications
Provisions in the General Regulations and in particular:

(2)

(a)

the requirement to provide within 21 days to any member on request a
hard copy of any document or information sent to the member otherwise
than in hard copy form;

(b)

any requirements to provide information to the Commission in a
particular form or manner.

To the CIO
Any member or charity trustee of the CIO may communicate
electronically with the CIO to an address specified by the CIO for the purpose,
so long as the communication is authenticated in a manner which is
satisfactory to the CIO.

(3)

By the CIO
(a)

Any member or charity trustee of the CIO, by providing the CIO with his or her
email address or similar, is taken to have agreed to receive communications from
the CIO in electronic form at that address, unless the member has indicated to the
CIO his or her unwillingness to receive such communications in that form.

(b)

The charity trustees may, subject to compliance with any legal
requirements, by means of publication on its website:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

provide the members with the notice referred to in clause 19(2) (Notice of
general meetings);
give charity trustees notice of their meetings in accordance with clause
15(1) (Calling meetings); [and
provide the members with the notice referred to in clause 19(2) (Notice of
general meetings);
give charity trustees notice of their meetings in accordance with clause
15(1) (Calling meetings); [and
Submit any proposal to the members or charity trustees for decision
by written resolution or postal vote in accordance with the CIO’s powers
under clause 18 (Members’ decisions), 18(4) (Decisions taken by
resolution in writing).

Page 70

15

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
(c) The charity trustees must –
(i) Take reasonable steps to ensure that members and charity trustees are
promptly notified of the publication of any such notice or proposal; and
(ii) Send any such notice or proposal in hard copy form to any member or
charity trustee who has not consented to receive communications in
electronic form.

23. Keeping of Registers
The CIO must comply with its obligations under the General Regulations in relation to the
keeping of, and provision of access to, a (combined) register of its members and charity
trustees.
24. Minutes
The charity trustees must keep minutes of all:
(1) appointments of officers made by the charity trustees;
(2) proceedings at general meetings of the CIO
(3) meetings of the charity trustees and committees of charity
trustees including:
(a)
(b)

c)

the names of the trustees present at the meeting;
the decisions made at the meetings; and
where appropriate the reasons for the decisions;
decisions made by the charity trustees otherwise than in

meetings.
25. Accounting records, accounts, annual reports and returns, register
maintenance
(1) The charity trustees must comply with the requirements of the Charities Act
2011 with regard to the keeping of accounting records, to the preparation
and scrutiny of statements of account, and to the preparation of annual
reports and returns. The statements of account, reports and returns must be
sent to the Charity Commission, regardless of the income of the CIO, within 10
months of the financial year end.
(2)

The charity trustees must comply with their obligation to inform the

Page 71

16

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
Commission within 28 days of any change in the particulars of the CIO entered on the
Central Register of Charities.
(3) Rules
The charity trustees may from time to time make such reasonable and proper rules or
byelaws as they may deem necessary or expedient for the proper conduct and
management of the CIO, but such rules or bye laws must not be inconsistent with any
provision of this constitution. Copies of any such rules or bye laws currently in force
must be made available to any member of the CIO on request.
(4) Disputes
If a dispute arises between members of the CIO about the validity or propriety of
anything done by the members under this constitution, and the dispute cannot be
resolved by agreement, the parties to the dispute must first try in good faith to settle
the dispute by mediation before resorting to litigation.
(5) Amendment of constitution
As provided by sections 224-227 of the Charities Act 2011:
a. This constitution can only be amended:
i. by resolution agreed in writing by all members of the CIO; or
ii. by a resolution passed by a 75% majority of those voting at a general
meeting of the members of the CIO called in accordance with clause 19
(General meetings of members).
b. Any alteration of clause 3 (Objects), clause [29] (Voluntary winding up or
dissolution), this clause, or of any provision where the alteration would provide
authorisation for any benefit to be obtained by charity trustees or members of the
CIO or persons connected with them, requires the prior written consent of the
Charity Commission.
c. No amendment that is inconsistent with the provisions of the Charities Act
2011 or the General Regulations shall be valid.
d. A copy of every resolution amending the constitution, together with a copy of the
CIO’s constitution as amended must be sent to the Commission by the end of the

Page 72

17

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
period of 15 days beginning with the date of passing of the resolution, and the
amendment does not take effect until it has been recorded in the Register of
Charities.
(6) Voluntary winding up or dissolution
a. As provided by the Dissolution Regulations, the CIO may be dissolved by
resolution of its members. Any decision by the members to wind up or
dissolve the CIO can only be made:
i. at a general meeting of the members of the CIO called in accordance
with clause 19 (General meetings of members), of which not less than
14 days’ notice has been given to those eligible to attend and vote:
1. by a resolution passed by a 75% majority of those voting, or
2. by a resolution passed by decision taken without a vote and
without any expression of dissent in response to the
question put to the general meeting; or
ii. by a resolution agreed in writing by all members of the CIO.
b. Subject to the payment of all the CIO’s debts:
i. Any resolution for the winding up of the CIO, or for the dissolution of the
CIO without winding up, may contain a provision directing how any
remaining assets of the CIO shall be applied. If the resolution does not
contain such a provision, the charity trustees must decide how any
remaining assets of the CIO shall be applied.
ii. In either case the remaining assets must be applied
for charitable purposes the same as or similar to those of the CIO.
c. The CIO must observe the requirements of the Dissolution Regulations in
applying to the Commission for the CIO to be removed from the Register of
Charities, and in particular:
i.

the charity trustees must send with their application to
the Commission:
1. a copy of the resolution passed by the members of the CIO
2. a declaration by the charity trustees that any debts and other
liabilities of the CIO have been settled or otherwise provided

Page 73

18

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution
for in full; and
3. a statement by the charity trustees setting out the way in
which any property of the CIO has been or is to be applied prior
to its dissolution in accordance with this constitution;
ii. the charity trustees must ensure that a copy of the application is sent
within seven days to every member and employee of the CIO, and to any
charity trustee of the CIO who was not privy to the application.
d. If the CIO is to be wound up or dissolved in any other circumstances,
the provisions of the Dissolution Regulations must be followed.

Interpretation
In this constitution:
connected person means:
(a)

a child, parent, grandchild, grandparent, brother or sister of the
charity trustee;

(b)

the spouse or civil partner of the charity trustee or of any person
falling within sub-clause (a) above;

Page 74

19

The Hive Silsden CIO
Constitution

(c)

a person carrying on business in partnership with the charity trustee
or with any person falling within sub- clause (a) or (b) above;

(d)

an institution which is controlled –
(i)
(ii)

(e)

by the charity trustee or any connected person falling within
sub-clause (a), (b), or (c) above; or
by two or more persons falling within sub-clause (d) (i)
when taken together

a body corporate in which –
(i)
(ii)

the charity trustee or any connected person falling within subclauses (a) to (c) has a substantial interest; or
two or more persons falling within sub-clause (e)(i) who,
when taken together, have a substantial interest.

Section 118 of the Charities Act 2011 apply for the purposes of
interpreting the terms used in this constitution.
“General Regulations” means the Charitable Incorporated Organisations (General) Regulations
2012.
“Dissolution Regulations” means the Charitable Incorporated Organisations (Insolvency and
Dissolution) Regulations 2012.
The “Communications Provisions” means the Communications Provisions in [Part 10, Chapter 4]
of the General Regulations.
“charity trustee” means a charity trustee of the CIO.
A “poll” means a counted vote or ballot, usually (but not necessarily) in writing

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8/
Report of the Strategic Director, Place, to the meeting of
Keighley Area Committee to be held on 26 March 2020.

Z
Subject:
OBJECTIONS RECEIVED TO THE TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER FOR WAITING
RESTRICTIONS ON CHAPEL ROAD, STEETON

Summary statement:
This report considers an objection to the proposed Traffic Regulation Order to
introduce waiting restrictions on Chapel Road, Steeton.

Steve Hartley
Strategic Director Place

Portfolio:
Regeneration, Planning & Transport

Report Contact: Simon D’Vali
Phone: (01274) 438375
E-mail: simon.dvali@bradford.gov.uk

Overview & Scrutiny Area:
Regeneration & Environment

Page 77

Keighley Area Committee
1.0 SUMMARY
1.1. This report considers an objection to a recently advertised Traffic Regulation Order
for various parking restrictions in the Keighley constituency
2.0 BACKGROUND
2.1. At its meeting on the 18 July 2019 this committee approved as part of its Safer
Roads Programme, the promotion of a Traffic Regulation Order for parking
restrictions on Belton Road, Ryefield Way, Howden Road and New Close Mill Fold,
Silsden; Main Street, Addingham; Thornhill Road, Dale Crescent, Chapel Road and
Barrows Lane, Steeton; Wheatley Lane and Moorfield Road, Ben Rhydding; Queen’s
Road, Ilkley; Aireworth Road, Temple Row, Thwaites Brow Road, Thwaites Bridge,
Ingrow Lane, Elmwood Road and Elmwood Drive, Keighley; Keighley Road (Lidget),
Oakworth; Dale View Grove, Cherry Tree Rise and Spring Drive, Long Lee and
Changegate, Haworth.
2.2. The Traffic Regulation Order was formally advertised between the 12 December 2019
and 8 January 2020. Three objections were received for the Chapel Rd, Steeton
scheme, two were withdrawn following clarification of the restrictions, and one from a
resident of Steeton that remains outstanding.
2.3. The Chapel Road, Steeton section of the Order was promoted to resolve concerns
over parking along Chapel Road, Steeton. The restrictions will prohibit waiting at all
times along 4 sections of Chapel Road and prohibit waiting Monday to Friday
between 9am and 6pm on 1 section, and are proposed to encourage the free flow of
traffic, preventing congestion, and to improve the safety of pedestrians. The
proposals were formulated following consultation with Steeton and Eastburn Parish
Council, residents and other interested parties following a site meeting.
2.4. The proposals are attached as Appendix 1.
2.5. A summary of the points of objection and corresponding officer comments is
tabulated below: Objectors concerns
The 28 properties shown in red on the map below (in
Queen Street, Chapel Road and Barrows lane) do
NOT have a drive or a garage where they can park a
car.
The other 17 houses on Queen Street only have room
to park one car where they have converted their back
yards or there is space on the edge of the road.

Officer comments
The proposed No Waiting At
Any Time restrictions will
formalise the existing parking
conditions allowing vehicles to
park where they currently do.
This creates a ‘chicane’ type
situation which keeps speeds
down.
The only change to parking
would be the No Waiting Mon –
Fri 9am to 5pm restriction
which is intended to limit
parking during the day so that

2
02/03/20

Page 78

Keighley Area Committee
access can be gained to 2 & 4
Chapel Rd. This was proposed
after complaints that the
resident
cannot
exit
the
property with a buggy due to
the lack of pavement.
With regards to the proposed
extra parking area on the
green, due to issues with a
covenant this scheme is unable
to go ahead at present.

I attended a meeting with John Grogan on 26th June
2018 where it was proposed to create extra parking
spaces along Chapel road for residents (shown in
yellow on the map). The area proposed is shown in
yellow on the map.

Blue badge holders can park on
waiting restrictions for up to 3
hours as long as they do not
cause an obstruction or there is
a loading ban.

We have not received confirmation of this new parking
area. If you stop people parking along Dale crescent
and Chapel road without this in place the proposed
order will be ignored. Where exactly do you propose
people park? I live on Queen Street, where we have
turned our back yard into a drive to park one small
car. Without additional parking I would be unable to
ever have visitors, including a family member who has
a blue badge.

3
02/03/20

Page 79

Keighley Area Committee
3.0 OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
3.1. Local ward members and the emergency services have been consulted. The

comments received have been considered in the development of the proposals.
4.0 FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL
4.1. A budget of £25,000 has been allocated from the Safer Roads Programme for this

project. The project can be delivered within budget.
5.0 RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES
5.1. There are no significant risks arising from this report.
6.0 LEGAL APPRAISAL
6.1. There are no specific issues arising from this report. The course of action proposed is
in general accordance with the Councils power as Highway Authority and Traffic
Regulation Authority.
7.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS
7.1. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY
There are no issues arising from the Council’s Equality & Diversity Strategy.
7.2. SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
There are no significant Sustainability implications arising from this report.
7.3. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS
There is no impact on the Council's own and the wider District's carbon footprint and
emissions from other greenhouse gases arising from this report.
7.4. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
The introduction of some of the waiting restrictions in the Order will be beneficial in
terms of road safety.
7.5. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT
None
7.6. TRADE UNION
None

4
02/03/20

Page 80

Keighley Area Committee
7.7. WARD IMPLICATIONS
Ward members have been consulted on the advertised Traffic Regulation Order.
7.8. AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
None
8.0 NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS
None
9.0 OPTIONS
9.1. That the objection be overruled and the Traffic Regulation Order be sealed and
implemented as advertised.
9.2. That the objections be upheld.
9.3. Councillors may propose an alternative course of action.
10.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
10.1. That the objection be overruled and the Order be sealed and implemented as
advertised.
10.2. That the objector be informed accordingly.
11.0 APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – drawing No. P/HS/TRN/104571/0006/CON-1C
12.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
12.1

none

5
02/03/20

Page 81

APPENDIX 1

6
02/03/20

Page 82

Agenda Item 9/

Report of the Strategic Director - Place to the meeting of
Keighley Area Committee to be held on Thursday 26
March 2020

AA
Subject:
Keighley Creative Space

Summary statement:
This report gives an update on the work of Keighley Creative Space and in particular the
Keighley Arts & Film Festival 2019.

Steve Hartley
Strategic Director
Place

Portfolio:
Neighbourhoods & Community
Safety

Report Contact: Jonathan Hayes

Overview & Scrutiny Committee:
Corporate

E-mail jonathan.hayes@bradford.gov.uk
Phone : 01535 618008

1

Page 83

1.

SUMMARY

1.1

This report gives an update on the work of Keighley Creative Space and in
particular the Keighley Arts & Film Festival 2019.

2.

BACKGROUND

2.1

Appendix A gives a summary of the work of Keighley Creative Space and in
particular the Keighley Arts & Film Festival 2019.

3.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1

Keighley Creative Space (KCS) was formed 5 years ago when a national charity,
East Street Arts, was asked by the Co-operative Society to take over a two storied
department store in Keighley.

3.2

Over the last four years (until October 2019) the Co-op have paid East Street Arts
a small annual retainer to manage the building and to find individual artists to rent
small areas within the ground floor of the building, which have been temporarily
walled off to make studios, at a very low rent per month, to encourage people to
become self-employed, and/or to start to promote, show and sell their work.

3.3

Two and a half years ago there were enough artists in residence (from the initial 2
to 8) to form a Community Interest Company in their own right. In the last 18
months however things have significantly changed and accelerated for KCS and the
number of artists’ studios housed in KCS has expanded to 17 with a couple more
studios currently being built.

3.4

In June 2018 KCS became the organising hub for a collective of over 40 different
community groups and grass roots arts organisations who came together to try and
develop and deliver the first ever Keighley Arts and Film Festival (KAFF). This was
successfully delivered in October 2019, with numerous community participation
events held over several months prior to the KAFF long week-end (e.g. with young
people to make lanterns for the parade, with people with disabilities to write and
perform a play). Over 40 different events and activities were held featuring over 100
performers (many who were performing for the first time - such as Flash Mob
dancers, community choir, poets).

4.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1

Not applicable.

5.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1

No significant risks.

6.

LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1

There are no known legal implications.
2

Page 84

7.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

7.1.1 No implications.
7.2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.2.2 No implications.
7.3

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

7.3.1 No impacts.
7.4

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

7.4.1 No implications.
7.5

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

7.5.1 No specific implications.
7.6

TRADE UNION

7.6.1 None.
7.7

WARD IMPLICATIONS

7.7.1 The information provided in this report is relevant to all Wards within Keighley Area.
7.8

AREA COMMITTEE WARD PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.8.1 The actions contained within this report impact on some aspects of Ward Plans.
8.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

8.1

None.

9.

OPTIONS

9.1

This report is presented primarily for information.

10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1

Keighley Area Committee notes the work undertaken by Keighley Creative Space
and the success of the Keighley Arts & Film Festival 2019.

11.

APPENDICES

11.1

Appendix A – Keighley Creative Space – Report to Keighley Area Committee
3

Page 85

12.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1

None.

4

Page 86

Appendix A
KEIGHLEY CREATIVE SPACE
Report to Keighley Area Committee on 26/3/20

Our history to present
Keighley Creative Space (KCS) was formed 5 years ago when a national charity, East
Street Arts, was asked by the Co-operative Society to take over a two storied department
store, which they had vacated a few years earlier, and had laid empty since.
The Co-op had the building on a lease from a property company for many years
previously, and the lease still had around eight years to run. The Co-op were responsible
for 100% Business Rates, so it was in their interest to get a charity to take over the running
of the building so the rates bill reduced by 80%.
Over the last four years (until October 2019) the Co-op have paid East Street Arts a small
annual retainer to manage the building and to find individual artists to rent small areas
within the ground floor of the building, which have been temporarily walled off to make
studios, at a very low rent per month, to encourage people to become self-employed,
and/or to start to promote, show and sell their work.
Two and a half years ago there were enough artists in residence (from the initial 2 to 8) to
form a Community Interest Company in their own right. In the last 18 months however
things have significantly changed and accelerated for KCS. During the last 18 months the
number of artists’ studios housed in KCS has expanded to 17 with a couple more studios
currently being built.
The biggest change has been from a predominantly inward looking focus on individual
artists to an outward facing, mass community engagement focus.

BIG Shift 2018: The Festival (and more!)
In June 2018 KCS became the organising hub for a collective of over 40 different
community groups and grass roots arts organisations who came together to try and
develop and deliver the first ever Keighley Arts and Film Festival (KAFF). This was
successfully delivered in October 2019, with numerous community participation events
held over several months prior to the KAFF long week-end (e.g. with young people to
make lanterns for the parade, with people with disabilities to write and perform a play).
Over 40 different events and activities were held featuring over 100 performers (many who
were performing for the first time - such as Flash Mob dancers, community choir, poets).
KCS was the host venue for several of the film and performance events; others were held
in community buildings, shopping centre, and public parks and open spaces. Altogether
around £60,000 was raised by KCS from a range of different funders for KAFF 2019, and
in addition we helped two other local community projects raise an addition £15,000 each
from Arts Council to contribute additional participatory events and activities during the
KAFF long week-end.
Parallel to the KAFF organising process, KCS was also successful in securing an Arts
Council grant of £15,000 to build a display gallery and small community cinema in the
5

Page 87

upstairs area of the former department store. With voluntary effort we have also built a
community and children’s reading library and a performance space (which currently hosts
an open mike poetry and prose performance space, regularly attracting 15 or so
performers and an audience of around 60 on a monthly basis for example) and an
Education Room (currently home to a weekly arts and crafts group for people living with
dementia and their carers for example). All of these new development bring in a wide
range of individuals and community groups keen to participate. Nine artists (including two
local community arts groups) have been supported by a KCS Curator to display and
promote exhibitions in our gallery area, open to all the people of Keighley and visitors to
the town to come in and enjoy.

How are people and communities involved with your project?
People are involved in a range of different ways:

As arts studio holders
These are often people who have changed direction in life (such as through redundancy or
mental health challenges) and are renting one of the 14 (soon to be 17) studios to trial
developing their art hobby into a business, or a social enterprise. We also house
established artists who need big physical spaces for their work and/or to hold community
groups and classes.

Our group of directors and transition towards a charity
We have four Directors of our existing Community Interest Company structure. However
as we are in transition to becoming a Charitable Incorporated Organisation we have
recently recruited seven new people from a range of backgrounds to take over as Trustees
as soon as the Charity Commission approve our bid. The Trustees are all very
experienced people in running organisations, managing finances and taking forward larger
scale change.

Volunteers
We have a number of volunteers who do practical tasks such as basic building upkeep
and fundraising. We house Keighley Cat Rescue and their charity shop in their small shop,
a part of our building which is totally reliant on volunteers. For the Keighley Arts and Film
Festival (KAFF) in October 2019 we had over 20 volunteer stewards working throughout
the week-end.

As participants and performers
We have held and will hold numerous workshops in preparation for different aspects of the
KAFF, for example in 2019 this ranged from workshops in schools to produce paper
sculptures for the Keighley ‘Little People’ trail, to open drop-in sessions in the shopping
centre for making lanterns for the giant lantern parade, to dance rehearsals for the
shopping centre ‘flash mob’ performance. All together 700 people of all ages and
backgrounds were involved in our pre-festival workshops and subsequent performances,
events and activities over the Festival four days.

As audiences
During KAFF, we had over 800 people from our community, mostly families with children,
attending our Festival opening night lantern, fire, giant sculptures and musical parade. We
had many times that number in total attend the 20 plus events and performances over the
6

Page 88

Festival long weekend. In tandem, we held 6 exhibitions in our Arts Council funded gallery
over summer 2019, with large audiences for our opening nights, and then throughout the
weeks each exhibition was on display. In total over 1000 members of the public visited the
gallery. Exhibitions were developed through our community links, for example, we
collaborated with a young local art graduate and Dementia Friendly Keighley to mount a
month long exhibition of work inspired by the artist’s grandmother who was living with
dementia. Our opening night was attended by many local people living with dementia and
their carers.
Over the last 18 months we have had meaningfully engaged with more than 3,500 local
Keighley residents, businesses and other community group workers and participants. Our
four-day inaugural Keighley Arts and Film Festival in October 2020 alone attracted over
2,000 participants, many of them as very hands on participants, not just ‘audiences’.

Current change
Based on the successful expansion of the work of KCS in the last 18 months, the Co-op
now want to transfer the remainder of the lease (3 years) to KCS from April 2020 (it is
currently on an insecure basis with a 28 day notice period). KCS would have responsibility
for the whole building, with no retainer from the Co-op, but all rates paid and rent free for
the three years. East Street Arts have been clear they want to withdraw at that stage.
Thus, KCS has now submitted an application to become a Chartable Incorporated
Organisation (in November 2019). We were also successful that month in bid for £5k to
CBMDC for an Interim Director post for 2 days a week up until end of April 2020 to get the
organisation ready for taking over full use of and responsibility for the whole of the two
floor large building from April 2020. This includes setting up and training a new Trustee
Board to run the Charity.
The ‘arts’ is not something it is known for either by its residents nor externally. However,
the last four years has seen the gradual growth of self-employed artist based in the
Keighley Creative Space (KCS) start-up, low rent studios, and the explosion of community
engagement and participation in a wide range of arts mediums including:







photography
sculpture
painting and drawing
music and dance
poetry
street performance and drama

This has been brought about by KCS’s shift to outward facing community engagement
work, including its key role in coordinating and delivering the four-day inaugural Keighley
Arts and Film Festival (KAFF) in October 2019.
This has been further expanded through expanding use of our building including the
opening of the KCS gallery, cinema, community library, performance space, education
room and community drop-in events (such as the Maker’s Market). During the last 18
months we have worked with over 40 local community, voluntary and business
organisations, and literally hundreds of local residents of all ages, cultural backgrounds
and genders via these new initiatives. Our evaluations for funders and sponsors of these
show a great tide of enthusiasm for more of everything people have tasted and enjoyed so
far.
7

Page 89

Our key aims is to make a difference
Having a staffed, accessible, well-promoted community arts centre at the heart of the
town, with outreach and engagement work to take the arts to communities in order to
bring them into the many events, activities and opportunities the building itself offers, will
be a real boon to the reputation of the town, to community integration, opening up the arts
and creative industries as potential hobbies, and also as potential careers for young
people and adults who are out of work or looking to change career paths.
Our aims:
 To take ‘the arts’ to ‘the people’ in whatever ways excite or interest them as initiators
participants and/or as audiences


To outreach to and engage all the Town’s diverse communities



To build inclusivity and diversity into all aspects of our work



To widen opportunities for new experience and open up opportunities for residents of
all ages to experience new/diverse arts and film mediums



To inspire potential new artists, musicians, writers and other creative talent



To widen skill, training and employment opportunities both in the arts and creative
industries



To stimulate opportunities for existing arts and film initiatives and individuals to network
and collaborate and strengthen inter-connectivity



To support and strengthen the growth of Keighley’s existing arts and film businesses
and initiatives



Bring more financial backing into arts and film initiatives in Keighley to enable new
initiatives and widen access and reach



To deliver an annual Keighley Arts and Film Festival (KAFF) to bring together the
community to experience and participate in art, music and film performances

Where we fit into the local and District Strategic Picture
We work with a range of strategic initiatives and with key partners:









Keighley Town Fund bid (we were invited to the initial stakeholder meeting and have applied for a place
on the Board)
Bradford 2025: we have met with the Director and are making a video focusing on creative initiatives in
Keighley (our own and others) for the bid
Leap (creative people and places):
Community Led Local Development (CLLD): we have been working with Airedale Enterprise Services for
over six months to try and release some of the European funds for supporting self-employment potential
of the arts and creative industries: unfortunately we keep hitting match funding hurdle requirements so
far
CBMDC Culture and Tourism Strategy: we have met with Nicola Greenan and will be organising for her
to meet others in Keighley
Bids going in the Arts Council for KAFF2020 and extended gallery and education work
Bid gone into Big Lottery for a range of posts over 3 years.

HOWEVER…despite all the above, we are still struggling with little finance, huge amount
8

Page 90

of voluntary commitments and time investment and everything remains very vulnerable
until we can secure funding.

9

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10/

Report of the Chief Executive Office to the meeting of
the Keighley Area Committee to be held on the 26th
March 2020.

AB
Subject:
Protecting Children and Vulnerable Adults at Risk of Exploitation

Summary statement:
This report provides an update to and builds on the report presented to the Keighley
Area Committee on the 20th December 2018 regarding the issue of Child Sexual
Exploitation (CSE). It now focuses on the Strategic Response to all forms of
exploitation in Children and Adults and how partners from the Working Together to
Safeguard Children – the Bradford Partnership and the Bradford Safeguarding
Adults Board work to drive improvements across the District and to hold agencies
to account for their work in their area. This report also outlines the emergence of
other complex safeguarding themes and outlines how partners are effectively
collaborating and focussing upon the protection of vulnerable Children and Adults.

Kersten England
Chief Executive

Portfolio:
Children and Families, Health and Wellbeing

Report Contact: Mark Griffin
Manager of Bradford Safeguarding
Children Board

Overview & Scrutiny Area:
Children’s Services, Health and Wellbeing

Phone: (01274) 434361
E-mail: mark.griffin@bradford.gov.uk

Page 93

1.

SUMMARY

1.1

This report provides an update to the report presented to the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and to the Area Committees in December 2018/January 2019 regarding
the issue of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and also the emerging issue of other
criminal exploitation. Previously, the Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB)
has coordinated the District response and this is now coordinated by the new
Working Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership (TBP). This
ensures that partners are working to improve how children are supported and
protected and to seek assurance for work in this area. This report now focuses on
the strategic response to all forms of exploitation to Children and Adults and how
partners are contributing to improve service provision across the District. The report
also outlines the emergence of other complex and contextual safeguarding themes
and the subsequent partnership response. Partners are continuing to effectively
work together to protect vulnerable Children and Adults and particularly through
increased collaborative work between TBP, Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board
(BSAB) and the Community Safety Partnership (CSP). This has been achieved
through an improved awareness and understanding which has enabled
professionals to recognise and respond at an earlier stage to wider types of
exploitation. (See Appendix A for definitions)

1.2

In summary:

Recently published Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 guidance
has resulted in changes to safeguarding arrangements nationally and
partners in Bradford have agreed and implemented appropriate measures.
The Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) is now known as
Working Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership (TBP).

As part of these new arrangements, partners have recognised the
emergence of wider safeguarding themes within TBP Strategic Plan 201920.

The previous CSE/Missing strategic sub group within the Childrens
safeguarding arrangements has now an extended remit to coordinate activity
around a number of themes and includes membership from the Bradford
Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB) and the Community Safety Partnership
(CSP). This group is now known as the Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex
Safeguarding.

Partners have finalised a Strategic Response to CSE and also a strategic
response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding, and recently
published a new Exploitation protocol for children.

The dedicated CSE/Missing Operational group continues to develop and
improve the partnership response to children at risk to CSE and Missing and
provides operational responses in the delivery of the Strategic plans.

Bradford District Police Cyber Team and other partners continue to deliver
training around topics relating to exploitation and on-line safety.

The Bradford Partnership has commissioned an independent thematic
Serious Case Review of CSE.

Front Door arrangements within Childrens Social Care have been extended
to address wider exploitation, with the development of new multi-agency
processes.

A District Communications and Engagement sub-group continues to provide
practitioners, parents, carers, children and communities with proactive,
1

Page 94







innovative and consistent approaches to communications and this will be
enhanced with a new website for the new Children and Adults Safeguarding
arrangements and the Community Safety Partnership.
Partners have developed a number of positive initiatives to respond to
children at risk of sexual and criminal exploitation. A Steering Group
coordinates activity and oversees commissioning arrangements.
Adult exploitation has been recognised by the BSAB and work is underway
to develop understanding and how partners can safeguard vulnerable Adults.
Innovative methods of raising awareness continue through Safeguarding
Stories and work within schools involving the theatre company which
produced Mr Shape Shifter, Somebody’s Sister and Somebody’s Daughter
and now Kidpower.
Safeguarding partners from both Children’s and Adults have come together
to consider joint pieces of work such as transitions.

2
2.1

Background
Nationally and locally, Safeguarding partners are now addressing the emergence of
numerous themes including Serious & Organised Crime, Modern Day Slavery and
criminal exploitation as new threats in a similar way to the same conversations in
the last decade around Child Sexual Exploitation. This is not only within children’s
safeguarding arrangements but also recognising that vulnerable Adults can be
exploited in the same way. These complex safeguarding matters impact across the
Working Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership (TBP),
Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB) and the Community Safety
Partnership (CSP). Scrutiny and quality assurance has also increased through the
media, inspections and inquiries both locally and nationally.

2.2
2.3

Governance and Infrastructure
Working Together to Safeguarding Children - The Bradford Partnership (TBP)
Following changes brought about by government legislation the BSCB ceased to
exist and from the 1st September 2019 new arrangements are now in place. The
legislative framework behind these changes is the Children and Social Work Act
2017 as well as new guidance in Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2018.
The changes set out new statutory responsibilities for the three key agencies
responsible for safeguarding within the District, namely Bradford Council (through
the Children’s Services department) the Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven, Bradford
City and Bradford Districts CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) and West
Yorkshire Police. These partners lead on safeguarding have equal and joint
responsibility for safeguarding arrangements. There are also a number of “relevant
agencies” who are also involved with safeguarding of children within Bradford.

2.4

Partners in Bradford have agreed a structure that caters for the needs of children in
Bradford. The previous board has been replaced with a Partnership group, chaired
by the Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead. Sub-groups continue to develop
policies, multi-agency training, quality assurance and coordinate Child
Safeguarding Practice Reviews, previously known as Serious Case Reviews.

2.5

Bradford has continued to recognise opportunities to increase collaboration
between the BSAB, CSP and the new Bradford Partnership and linked sub-groups.
This is set against the backdrop of reducing budgets and increasing demands that
bring organisational review and reshaping to deliver more with less. Across each of
2

Page 95

the three Boards, the sub-group structures manage core functions as well Board
specific objectives. Some of these core functions create obvious opportunities for a
more consistent and collaborative approach that takes into account cross-cutting
themes and presents opportunities for shared learning. Work has commenced to
develop these work streams. Appendix B outlines the details of the new
arrangements.
2.6

Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB)
Work around exploitation of vulnerable Adults is still developing. This recognises
the broader group of people who do not fall under the criteria as Adults at Risk
within the Care Act. The BSAB has commissioned work to improve understanding
and the response to people who may fall within this term. Various work streams are
on-going which look at issues of homelessness, substance misuse, mental health
and transitions. Partners have recognised that there are people who fall outside the
statutory threshold for services as Adults but do need support and safeguarding.
Future work streams include:





The development of a multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and
Procedures group to agree and support local guidance and best practice in
emerging wider complex safeguarding issues.
Development of performance datasets, quality assurance and auditing to
monitor the implementation and on-going quality of safeguarding responses
to exploitation across the partnership.
Strengthening links with Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding
Group and Housing complex needs panel in developing pathways of support
for adults with complex Non- Statutory Safeguarding issues.
A regional Task and Finish group is in development with West Yorkshire
Financial Exploitation and Abuse Team to look at what safeguards can be
put in place across Bradford to protect individuals susceptible to financial
exploitation and abuse.

2.7

The Business Units for the previous BSCB and BSAB are now combined a single
Unit which has improved the synergy between the two partnerships and allows a
greater consistency of approach, efficiencies of working, sharing of good practice
and increased resilience throughout all functions of the Business Unit. This is now
known as the Bradford Safeguarding Partnership Business Team.

2.8

Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding Group.
Partners considered and developed a definition of complex safeguarding for
children and agreed a local definition – behaviour or activity involving Children and
Young People and Adults with multiple vulnerabilities where there is exploitation, a
risk of exploitation and /or a clear or implied safeguarding concern which is likely to
lead to a serious and sustained negative impact on Children & Young People. This
definition covers a number of individual safeguarding themes.

2.9

Over a number of years Bradford has benefited from an established and
experienced Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Sub-Group. The group has now
extended its remit to coordinate activity around a number of themes, in raising
awareness and understanding. The group is now known as Risk and Vulnerabilities
in Complex Safeguarding. The group includes representation from a number of
partners and also across the impacts across TBP, the BSAB and the CSP. The
3

Page 96

group has developed a Strategic Response (Appendix C).
2.10

This strategy has 6 headings
1.
Identify and understand the nature and scale of the themes involved.
2.
Prevention, Education and Awareness
3.
Safeguarding vulnerable people, groups and communities
4.
Effective leadership and governance
5.
Disrupt and Prosecute
6.
Communication, Engagement and Empowerment

2.11

West Yorkshire Risk and Vulnerability Group
Bradford works closely with other Local Authorities and is a member of the West
Yorkshire Risk and Vulnerability group which operates under the oversight of the
West Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), seeking to support the
delivery of the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Plan. This group evolved from a
CSE group has now developed a West Yorkshire Contextual Children and Young
People Safeguarding Strategy 2018-21.

2.12

This group provides an opportunity for the sharing of good practice to learn and the
development of a consistent approach to a number of processes. Work throughout
the year has included strategic assessments and performance data around CSE,
risk assessments, information sharing protocols and missing children placed out of
Local Authority areas. A number of partnership events have also been held.

2.13

Child Exploitation
Partners have come together to develop new systems and procedures in Bradford
for safeguarding and protecting the welfare of children from Child Exploitation.
Within the Front Door, a restructure has taken place around staff, roles and
protocols to enable partners to address exploitation in its widest sense. This builds
upon the existing partnership approach which was recognised as a strength in the
Ofsted inspection report published in October 2018. A multi-agency team involving
Police, Early Help, Health, Barnardos and Education work in partnership to share
information and agree care plans and service provision to children at risk of
exploitation. Police have increased resources to deal with exploitation and Children
Services staff are now multi-skilled which is a change to previous specialist teams.
The new structure builds upon learning from the Oftsed inspection and provides
some resilience. This team works closely with the Breaking the Cycles, Trusted
Relationship and Family Against Youth Crime Projects (Para 2.53-2.61) signposting
children identified and assessed at risk of exploitation to specialist service
provision.

2.14

New procedures around exploitation (link) outline how partners provide an
enhanced, effective service to reduce the risks and to ensure that interventions are
focussed, co-ordinated and have a positive impact on outcomes for Children and
Young People. These changes recognise the wider exploitation issues that now
exist and take into account the pathways for Children and Young People who go
missing ,are at risk of Child Sexual or Criminal Exploitation, are at risk of
Radicalisation or who have been Trafficked. This work also includes a new
exploitation assessment tool. This assists practitioners when making referrals and
allows the assessment team to make an informed decision. This work is
4

Page 97

coordinated through the Bradford Partnership, and next steps will be
communications to front line practitioners. Children and Young People have been
consulted as part of the work, in the development of the assessment tool.
2.15

This work follows on from the multi-agency work around Consent and the
Continuum of Need. (Link) Front line practitioners are now using these documents
and awareness raising continues to develop a consistent approach to consent and
referrals. Though only introduced in July 2019, professionals within the Front Door
have recognised that referrals indicate that practitioners have more confidence
around these matters.

2.16

Child Criminal Exploitation.
Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) takes a variety of different forms. It can include
children being forced or coerced into moving drugs or money across the country as
part of Organised Crime Groups to other types of activity such as shoplifting,
pickpocketing, or to threaten other young people. Recently child criminal
exploitation has become strongly associated with one specific model known as ‘
county lines’. Criminal gangs are most likely to exploit children aged between 14 to
17 year olds. National thinking recognises the need for earlier help for children at
risk, responses that see children as victims and not criminals, and joined- up
national and local responses. CCE is a complex problem that requires a joined-up
approach from statutory and non-statutory agencies, and accurate sharing of
intelligence and recording of concerns facing children. Through coordinated,
concerted efforts across statutory and voluntary sectors, and by working with local
communities and families, partners can reach vulnerable young people more
quickly and begin to disrupt child criminal exploitation.
The recently published Counting Lives Report: responding to children who are
criminally exploited provides more information around this theme.
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-andpublications/counting-lives-report

2.17

Partners now convene a Tri-weekly multi-agency Child Exploitation meeting that
looks at all aspects of Child exploitation, Criminal, Sexual and Missing, along with
County Lines and other forms of Exploitation. This meeting tracks children who may
be emerging, moderate or at significant risk. Data feeds into a 6 weekly meeting
and a strategic review of all significant risk cases. This provides multi agency
scrutiny to ensure the most vulnerable children have the best support plans
possible, provide information on locations of concern and any other specific
themes. Partners will also be considering those children who may already be at
risk of CCE, including through Organised Crime Groups. Police teams are
reviewing records to identify any children against the criteria and new procedure
and are referring cases into this multi agency team. This will enable a multi agency
and coordinated response based upon the existing and well established partnership
working around CSE.

2.18

Referrals are expected to increase as will subsequent demands upon all partners
as awareness and understanding of wider exploitation grows. This is set against
current austerity measures and increases in partnership demands evidenced from
the Children Services Improvement Board. Effective and intelligent resourcing has
enabled partners to prioritise activity in the areas of greater need as outlined with
the projects in paragraphs 2.53-2.61. These projects focus upon preventive
5

Page 98

measures; working alongside other established locality models. These recognise
the potential reduction in demands through prevention and early intervention.
2.19

Child Sexual Exploitation & Missing
The CSE & Missing Operational Group provides a co-ordinated and focussed
approach to tackling CSE, resulting in a greater depth and breadth of understanding
about CSE and missing. Throughout the year the group has undertaken work to
progress the BSCB CSE Strategic Response (Appendix D) and linked CSE action
plan. Data around CSE and Missing can be found at Appendix E. The data and
performance knowledge around criminal exploitation and children impacted by
Serious Organised Crime is still under development.











There has been a decrease in the total numbers of children assessed as at
risk of CSE from numbers in excess of 350 in November 2018 to
approximately 125 in July 2019. This is due to a review and re-assessment
process undertaken by partners who are involved in the work around CSE.
Across West Yorkshire other Local Authority Areas are seeing a decrease in
number of Children assessed at risk of CSE.
The biggest reduction is in the 13-15 age groups.
As of 29/8/19 there were 94 Children and Young People (C&YP) flagged as
at risk of CCE on Police systems; 94% are male and 55% defined their
ethnicity as White British. The average age of those flagged is 14-16yrs.
33% of C&YP with a CCE flag are shown as resident in Bradford West and
30% resident in Bradford East.
Gender remains consistent with females accounting for approximately 80%
in CSE cases. What is emerging is that the main percentage of children at
risk of criminal exploitation is male.
The location of the highest numbers of children assessed as at risk has
changed in the last year, from Bradford East to Bradford South constituency
area.
During the period 01/09/18 – 31/08/19 there have been 284 CSE flagged
offences (162 recent, 122 non-recent) this is a decrease from 344 offences
in the previous year (17% reduction). Bradford East and Bradford South
each have 21% of recent offences with Keighley having 16%. With regards
non-recent offences 39% have occurred in Keighley and 13% in Bradford
West. In 17% of all flagged offences the location is not known.
The number of Missing episodes for Children Looked After (CLA) shows a
decrease in 2018/19 (2587) from 2017/18 (3073) and 2016/17 (2932).

2.20

The Police have led on partnership work with Environmental Health, Taxi Licensing,
Barnardos, HMRC, Fire Service, Council Licencing, and Immigration. This has
resulted in numerous successful proactive operations to prevent and disrupt
criminal activity. Areas of activity include cafes, fast food establishments, snooker
and multi-entertainment halls, hotels and domestic dwellings.

2.21

Over the last 12 months the group have developed assessments and
understanding of perpetrator profiles and victim profiles through the partnership
analytical team. This has provided a variety of data around perpetrators and victims
and helps look at the difference in both from a non-recent and recent perspective.
This has enabled partners to identify trends and areas of focus and continue
6

Page 99

targeted work.






As of 26/2/19 there were 145 individuals linked to CSE flagged in Bradford; 52
of those relate to recent offences the remainder non-recent. 35% of those
flagged have an address recorded in the West of the District and 8% are
resident outside of Bradford. This ‘flagging’ information pertains to individuals
suspected of being concerned in CSE and relates to recent and non-recent
offences where a crime or intelligence has been recorded. This figures show a
slight increase in that of the previous year but a reduction in those flagged to
recent offences.
Of those concerned in recent occurrences 96% are male 38% of those flagged
have a self-defined ethnicity of White British and 38% Pakistani. 32% are
assessed as High Risk and 60% assessed a Medium.
With regards non-recent occurrences all those flagged are male; none are riskassessed as high and 86% are assessed as low risk. 78% of those concerned in
non-recent offences have a self-defined ethnicity of Pakistani.
Analysis of the age of perpetrators at the time of both recent and non-recent
offences shows that the highest number are in the age brackets of 16-18yrs
(32%) and 20-21yrs (17%).

2.22

In February 2019 Police and TBP hosted a CSE awareness event at a hotel in
Bradford. Guests included business stakeholders from around Bradford. In
attendance were faith establishments, shopping centres, care homes and many
others. Guest speakers included Police and child social care along with Barnardos
and the National Working Group on exploitation. There were also inputs from
Crimestoppers and the intelligence professionals. Themes around awareness and
wider forms of exploitation were examined. The event received positive feedback.

2.23

In June during safeguarding week the Police hosted an event with partners from St
Giles Trust, Barnardos, Health and Childrens Social Care. The event was held in
the Broadway Centre and partners engaged with the public and offered advice and
information on exploitation and how to report.

2.24

Partners across Bradford are learning from the excellent work in Keighley with the
Keighley Association Women & Children's Centre (KAWACC). This group has
worked in partnership with United Keighley working group, which has established a
safe space to co ordinate regular meetings, discussing issues relating to CSE, and
raising awareness in and around Keighley and Bradford. The group brings together
a range of agencies that have an interest in supporting work associated with CSE.
These have included members of the TBP, West Yorkshire Police, Social Care,
Early Help, Community Workers, Local Councillors, local voluntary sector
organisations, Faith Institutes and local primary and secondary schools. Within
Bradford, a number of awareness campaigns, coordinated through groups like
KAWACC have focused on parents to provide guidance and support and how to
report concerns. Further details of this work can be found at Appendix G.

2.25

Operation Dalesway – Historic CSE Concerns.
West Yorkshire Police and the Local Authority continue to work together in
response to the issue of “non recent” CSE concerns. A specialist team has been
established, known as “Operation Dalesway”, set up in October 2014. Currently
this consists of a Detective Inspector, 2 Detective Sergeants, 14 Detective
7

Page 100

Constables, 15 investigative officers and 3 social care staff. Staffing levels for this
service are being kept under review. The service has clear terms of reference which
have been agreed by partner organisations.
2.26

There are currently 10 live and 18 completed Operation Dalesway investigations.
Of the live investigations 4 are long running investigations, 2 of these are at /
approaching CPS charging stage, the others are at / approaching planned arrest
phase. Victims for the other 6 investigations have only recently engaged with the
investigative process and are still at victim disclosure stage.

2.27

To date approximately 150 suspects have been arrested / interviewed. A number of
these suspects are still being investigated and new suspects continue to be
positively identified as victims engage with the investigative process and provide
disclosure.

2.28

In February 2019 at Bradford Crown Court, 9 of 10 defendants standing trial for 25
Historic sexual offence indictments were found guilty. They were sentenced to a
combined total of 132 years imprisonment.

2.29

Partners in Bradford continue to maximise opportunities to learn and improve
service provision and the response to CSE and now wider exploitation. The
Bradford Partnership has commissioned an independent thematic Serious Case
Review into CSE. While this has been prompted by the recent convictions of nine
men for grooming and abusing two young people, the SCR will be a thematic
review of CSE that will look at other cases, both recent and non-recent, and will
seek to engage positively with victims of abuse so that their experience informs the
work directly. Partners are contributing towards this review and will act on the
recommendations and learning that result from this review.

2.30

Bradford District Cyber Team
Child sexual abuse and exploitation continues to grow. This is particularly true of
online abuse where ever-more-sophisticated digital tools protect anonymity and
where apps encourage children to engage in risky behaviour. Law enforcement
agencies including the Police are working with partners from the industry and
voluntary sector partners – both in the UK and abroad to raise awareness and
support children and parents.
The team has been in place since 2015 and since the beginning of the 2018-2019
academic year, the team have continued to make a significant contribution within
the educational sector as well as targeting establishments that have key
connections to early intervention, safeguarding and other various vulnerabilities.





42, 816 children educated on eSafeguarding from 1480 separate sessions,
which is above the recommended target. This equates to approximately 70%
of all primary school children. The remaining schools will either have training
provision already in place or will be offered future training by the Team.
90 vulnerable children received one to one safeguarding visits with their
parents/carers also present.
5376 members of the community from different groups delivered to from 186
separate sessions. These groups included, NHS staff, Teachers, SEN staff,
Governors, Social Workers.
8

Page 101




2140 parents educated about the dangers of the online world and how to
help safeguard their children, through 149 different parent workshops.
Activities in support of International Safer Internet Day and Safeguarding
Week

2. 31 Exploitation within Adult Safeguarding
The Adult Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in Bradford brings together
resources from the Police and Adult Social Care, with links to other partners. All
referrals are assessed against the Care Act criteria and where appropriate referrals
are signposted to various support services. A review of the MASH is on-going and
this recognises the work in the Childrens MASH and wider thinking around
exploitation, but accepting the different legislation, particularly around consent
within the Adult arena.
2.32

The Partnership Response to other forms of Exploitation and Vulnerability

2.33

Vulnerable Learners.
Education has increased focus on vulnerable learners over the last 12 months,
highlighting the need for better understanding of complex and contextual
safeguarding. A closer working relationship between internal and external partners
is helping to support early identification and intervention along with better
awareness of the increased vulnerability in children including those children who
are looked after, children with SEN, children who are missing education and those
not in receipt of efficient and suitable full time education. Professionals are
considering indicators of wider exploitation and have reported that they find the
newly introduced Continuum of Need an enabling tool to support identification, risk
assessment and appropriate referral to services for children who may be at risk or
have experienced any form of exploitation or abuse.

2.34

Children Missing in Education (CME). During 2018/2019 1339 pupils have been
referred to the LA as missing from Education. Of these enquiries have established
the whereabouts of 65% and supported them into education settings or determined
they have moved out of the district. The demographic of the population of Bradford
often means that families move both within and out of the district without informing
school staff of new addresses and contact details.

2.35

The Local Authority will support parents choosing Elective Home Education (EHE)
where the delivery of education is sufficient and suitable for the age and aptitude of
children. We recognise the varied approaches to home educating and this being a
choice for parents to make at any point during a child’s educational career. The
number of EHE pupils in Bradford has risen over the last four academic years. At
January census point between 2015/2016 and 2016/17 there was a 35% increase
in EHE pupils and a 21% rise between 2016/17 and 2017/18. Overall from January
2016 – January 2018 EHE registered pupils has risen by 63%. From January 2018
– January 2019 the percentage increase is 7%.

2.36

Activity will focus on


Launch of a revised referral and enquiry process for Children Missing from
Education from September 2019
9

Page 102












Raising awareness of Elective Home Education across the district through multi
agency training
Targeted training delivery in respect of vulnerable groups of CME children
Performance related analysis of timescales for actioning initial enquiries for
CME referrals and of informal enquiries conducted in respect suitability of
education provision for EHE pupils
Maintain robust multi agency links to collect information in respect of
whereabouts of children in the district including improved links with Boarder
Control
Improved data analysis to identify themes and trends
Data collection and analysis to enable robust action involving the Regional
Schools Commissioners (RSCs), Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA),
OFSTED and the DfE if required, should evidence suggest illegal off rolling of
pupils.
Initiating school attendance orders where informal enquiries determine the
education is not suitable or efficient

2.37

Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking
The true scale of Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking in Bradford, like in the rest
of the country, cannot be accurately quantified; reports from statutory agencies and
the third- sector reference the fact that, due to the nature of the offences, there is a
significant under reporting of the issue. Of data recorded between April 2018 and
March 2019 shows there were 150 recorded offences that have been classified as
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking (MSHT) offences within Bradford District;
this is higher than any other West Yorkshire district. These numbers reflect the
awareness and understanding by professionals and confidence of victims in
reporting cases.

2.38

The Bradford Anti-Trafficking and Modern Slavery Network (ATMSN) is a district
forum of the regional West Yorkshire ATMSN. The Bradford forum functions as a
strategic group with an aim to provide a cohesive and co-ordinated approach
amongst statutory, non-statutory and third sector organisations in combatting
modern slavery within the Bradford District. As a multi-agency partnership, the
network seeks to establish a clear and consistent response to potential victims of
modern slavery through the sharing of intelligence and best practice, facilitating the
training of staff from front-line agencies, as well as establishing clear lines of
communication for inter-agency collaboration.

2.39

The group has progressed activity in 3 key areas
1. Safeguarding the Most Vulnerable People
Training frontline staff - Training is available to all partners and regularly utilised.
Training is delivered to a wide range of audience, mostly police, local authority and
third-sector. Further evaluation and provision of the appropriate training is needed.
Housing - Trafficking victims have little or no statutory access to emergency
accommodation during intervention processes. There is a city-wide lack of
emergency accommodation for vulnerable Adults and whilst options are being
considered, no sustainable response has been identified as yet.
Victim Care - A common theme among victims is a general fear and mistrust of the
10

Page 103

police, and/or local authority staff. Local partners have been successful in its
utilisation of third-sector organisations to address these difficulties, however further
steps towards a trauma informed care approach would be most effective.
2. Reducing Crime, Anti-Social Behaviour and Re-Offending
Intelligence - Intelligence submissions in Bradford are relatively low in comparison
to the level of criminality recorded as modern slavery in the district.
Operations - A number of successful multi-agency operations have taken place
within Bradford District.
3. Building Stronger Communities
Community outreach – The Bradford network includes a number of community
agencies and continues to build links with vulnerable communities. Identification of
cultural mediators is needed, with a particular need for Vietnamese and Roma
community workers. The DICE Project continues its work in Thornbury with Roma
and Eastern European Communities.
Raising awareness – the partnership undertakes regular awareness activities
through a number of methods, including multi-agency outreach, multi-lingual flyers
and posters and the creation of film as part of the Real Safeguarding Stories.
Upcoming is a campaign led by the Cabinet Office, which will seek to tackle labour
exploitation in West Yorkshire via frontline professionals in the banking, healthcare
and job centre sectors.
2.40

Harmful Sexual Behaviour
Harmful Sexual Behaviour (HSB) is developmentally inappropriate sexual behaviour
which is displayed by children and young people and which may be harmful or
abusive. It can be displayed towards younger children, peers, older children or
Adults, and is harmful to the children and young people who display it, as well as
the people it is directed towards. If not recognised and dealt with this can lead to
more serious sexual abuse.

2.41

Many Local Authorities have worked in conjunction with the NSPCC in assessing
and improving the partnership response to HSB. The HSB audit was launched in
Bradford in October 2018, the results were analysed & disseminated in December
2018. Over 40 organisations (the education response was a collective response
representing 25 schools) contributed towards this work.

2.42

Partners have found value in the learning from this audit and identified a number of
areas particularly around identifying and understanding HSB, assessment and the
response to HSB. The Bradford Partnership are progressing this work through the
learning and improvement framework. The Designated Safeguarding Lead training
for school staff incorporates the learning and supports school staff in their response
to HSB.

2.43

Serious and Organised Crime (SOC)
Serious and Organised Crime costs the UK economy around £37 billion every year
and brings misery and suffering to those who become victims. Serious and
Organised Crime covers a range of crimes including drugs, firearms, child sexual
exploitation, cybercrime, modern slavery, gangs and county lines.

2.44

The SOC Governance and Silver board continues to build on its partnership
11

Page 104

strengths. By developing greater relationships with schools and with the Local
Authority Education Team, head teachers from some of the priority high schools
form part of the Board, enable concerns and approaches to disruption and
intelligence gathering to be shared. Bradford has developed a partnership strategy
along the recognised 4 P’s – Prevent, Protect, Prepare and Pursue.
2.45

The District is seeing a downturn in the number of mapped OCG’s against a
landscape of improving partnership relationships and work. There is a commitment
to continuing this approach. Partners are continuing to assess and analyse how
children and vulnerable adults are impacted through organised crime.

2.46

The Serious and Organised Crime (SOC) Community Coordinator pilot is to reduce
the impact of SOC on communities, divert those most likely to become SOC
offenders and protect the most vulnerable members of society from criminal
exploitation. The project has worked to deliver a whole system approach to tackling
SOC through activities that involve targeted Prevent interventions, community
resilience-building and strengthening local partnerships. Since its introduction in
2018/19 the pilot has brought increased scale, consistency and reach to the
Government’s response to tackling SOC-related harm and vulnerability at the
community level and is a key component of the implementation of the
Government’s 2018 SOC Strategy.

2.47

The Home Office are citing nationally some of the positive work being done in
Bradford in conjunction with West Yorkshire Police. Programme Precision is the
name of a new crackdown involving West Yorkshire Police, local partners and the
public to work together to tackle serious and organised crime. This strategy sets out
a common vision and commitment to work together in tackling these threats to
ensure communities can become safer places to live, work and visit.

2.48

Partners will need to develop agreements and understanding around the extent of
children and criminality. Evidence and information suggests that there are children
in Bradford who are approaching Adulthood and who are criminally active and form
part of Organised Crime Groups. It is highly likely that these children were exploited
into this lifestyle at a younger age but currently are making a decision to continue
committing offences without influence.

2.49

Previous reports outlined how partners were understanding the impact of OCGs
and children. This work continues to systematically develop the data to better
inform the activity required to ensure that the right support and appropriate
interventions are available to those at risk of exploitation, as per the definition.
There are currently 94 children flagged at risk of CCE where intelligence indicates
that they are at risk of exploitation. They have all had the appropriate multi-agency
referrals made.

2.50

This work is supported by the recently introduced Exploitation Protocols alongside
the new Multi-Agency Referral Form which both serve to improve identification of
risk and response.

2.51

Intervention work and engagement is extremely challenging and partners continue
to undertake prevention work in a variety of forms. Appendix F contains details of
case studies.
12

Page 105

2.52

Over 150 Designated Safeguarding Leads from schools have had bespoke training
on SOC to aid information and intelligence gathering. This also highlighted the need
to recognise exploitation of children and young people in relation to SOC and the
multi-agency response to this. The Police are working with schools to support a
programme of education in respect of weapons and violence across both primary
and secondary schools.

2.53

Service Provision

2.54

Children’s Services Child Exploitation Projects Steering Group is the committee
which oversees the delivery of exploitation and pathways and is responsible for the
development and delivery of the Breaking the Cycles, Trusted Relationship and
Family Against Youth Crime Projects. Bradford has developed effective working
methods through these projects to prevent and engage with young people on the
edge of criminality and vulnerable to exploitation. Whilst this is in its early stage,
professionals are seeing the benefits of group and 1-1 work. Appendix F contains
details of case studies. This group links with Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex
Safeguarding group to enable coordination of activity against strategic priorities of
TBP.

2.55

The Family Against Youth Crime Project
The Family Against Youth Crime Project in Bradford is one of 21 Local Authority
areas to receive funding through the Troubled Families Programme (Ministry of
Housing, Communities & Local Government) for tackling Youth Crime.

2.56

This fund has brought together VCS, key/outreach workers, Police, Targeted Early
Help , schools and a range of professionals to intervene at an early stage and in
order to help stop young people from becoming drawn into crime, serious violence
and entering the youth justice system. This locality based model is an extension of
the existing Voluntary Community Sector (VCS) Families First Partnership contract
(2018-2020) in Bradford including Barnardo's, Brathay Trust, JAMES, YMCA
Bradford and now including West Yorkshire Police. The Partnership will deliver a
coordinated response for 6-13 year olds and their families through a family key
worker, school transition and outreach model of support. This programme will sit
alongside the Early Intervention Youth Fund (EIYF) / Trusted Relationship
programmes

2.57

The aim of the programme is to develop children’s personal resilience to withstand
peer pressure and make positive choices, particularly around transition from
primary to secondary school. This will raise awareness of dangers surrounding
gangs, youth violence and knife crime and changing the culture around
acceptability of carrying knives. At the heart of this programme is work undertaken
with families to give parents/carers the skills to identify the risks and discuss their
concerns children. The offer includes a ‘Think Family’ approach for parents/carers
using a signs of safety assessment and plan supported by parenting programmes.
Further details of successful case studies can be found at Appendix F.

2.58

Young Lives Bradford Consortium - Trusted Relationships
The Consortium received Home Office Funding in September 2018 to deliver a
targeted intervention of 1 to 1 support to 10-14 year olds up to a period of 6 months,
to young people at low level risk of Child Exploitation. The five Bradford based
13

Page 106

providers are Barnardo’s; James – Motor Education Services; e;merge; Project 6Keighley; Bradford YMCA. The consortium has been awarded 2-year funding of a 4
year programme. The programme’s target is to reach 100 young people per year
who are at low Risk of Child Exploitation. The programme’s focus is prevention to
support Young People’s awareness, resilience, confidence, safety and life skills.
Since the start of the programme, the Preventative Group Worker has engaged with
1103 young people through awareness sessions, 272 people through Community
Awareness Raising activities, 338 staff / partners through training / workshops /
guidance sessions and visited 49 businesses via outreach visits.
2.59

Breaking the Cycles
Breaking the Cycles is a Youth Intervention Project (YIP) in partnership between
the Council’s Youth Service, the Youth Offending Team and West Yorkshire Police.
The project also works closely with the MASH, PRU providers, Early Help Hubs,
Leaving and Through Care Services to actively identify and target young people
who are vulnerable to exploitation, on the fringes of, or who have associations with
young people linked to Organised Crime Groups (OCG), Urban Street Gangs
(USG) and those who demonstrate mid / low level Anti-Social Behaviours. There is
a close working relationships between the SOC) Community Coordinator and the
Breaking the Cycles Project.

2.60

The work of Breaking the Cycles is underpinned by a broad prevention and early
help services provided in part by the VCS under contract through Trusted
Relationship Funding and Families Against Crime funding. This is now joining up
with the different levels of SOC interventions work providing a golden thread and
more holistic approach towards positive case management at the earliest possible
stage. The project is beginning to evidence the pathways, feeders and identifiers
that make young people more vulnerable to participation in SOC, violent crime and
ASB, and of what interventions work. This is an attempt to reduce some of the flow
to the Front Door and threshold services.

2.61

The challenge remains around funding and continuing service provision as well as
capacity. As awareness of criminal exploitation and the availability of these services
increase, numbers of referrals will also increase and resource remains limited.
Intelligence assessments and data collection is at an early stage in understanding
the numbers and level of criminal exploitation impacting upon children. Partners will
need to develop effective analytical and performance frameworks to enable
intelligent deployment of finite resources.

2.62

Youth Service.
Across all districts in Bradford, the Youth Service continues to offer a broad menu
of engaging activity delivered from easily accessible locality bases that ensure
pathways of support to young people that are preventative and offer early
intervention. The Youth Service works with young people, identifying with them,
their concerns, working with young people to better understand the consequences
of their behaviours and of others towards them and to support them to reduce their
risk. This area of work is often undertaken before young people are engaged in
specific support services.

2.63

Buddy support as part of Youth In Mind. Youth Workers receive referrals from the
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS), School Nurses & other
14

Page 107

professionals, the Youth Workers then act as Buddies to the young people, their
role is to befriend them, support them over a period of time and navigate them to
the various support opportunities available to them.
2.64

The Youth Service continues to provide direct support to young people at risk of
Child Sexual Exploitation. Youth Workers support the young people referred on a
1:1 basis and engage them in support opportunities available. The Youth Service
currently runs a number of female only provisions and specialist groups all of which
offer young people a safe space to engage in positive informal educative activities.

2.65

The Youth Service continues to work with Prevention and Early Help and supports
the area based panels. Through these panels young people are referred to the
Youth Service and are supported by the area Ward Youth Workers to engage in
localised youth provisions, Youth in Mind groups and an offer for those who require
1:1 support. The young people referred have been supported around a number of
issues including non engagement in education, anger management, family
breakdowns, Anti Social Behaviour (ASB) and domestic abuse, all of which helps to
prevent young people from entering the social care system and supports them into
a positive destination.

2.66

Changing Places and Community Integration. The youth service plays a pivotal role
in supporting cohesion of young people across the district; Bradford South has
allocated a link worker to champion the Changing Places programme. This
innovative programme is focused on young people from new migrant communities
including those with refugee status. Bradford South runs a very popular session on
a Wednesday evening with over 10 young people engaging weekly.

2.67

In line with other areas of Council activity affected by the Government’s austerity
programme, Youth Services are working towards minimising cuts to base budget
from April 2020 through accessing external funding and operating as a traded
service. Appendix F contains details of case studies.

2.68

Training and Communication

2.69

TBP provides a varied training offer around a number of topics relating to
exploitation, in a wider variety of formats and partners have also provided specialist
training. Police teams delivered training to a number of partners to raise awareness
and understanding of Organised Crime Groups and County Lines and the work of
the Police Cyber Team continues around on-line safety.

2.70

The District Communications and Engagement sub-group continues to coordinate
communications and messaging. Throughout the year activity has included
networking, messaging and newsletters around topics within this report. The group
works closely with other groups to share learning and changes to policies and
procedures. The group has extended its membership and the Bradford
Safeguarding Partnership Business Team now has a Communication and Project
officer to facilitate this work. Work continues on the website with a planned launch
in autumn and this will enable TBP, BSAB and CSP to share guidance and advice
from one portal.

2.71

Real Safeguarding Stories is a learning tool dedicated to raising awareness of
15

Page 108

safeguarding issues. By telling compelling stories based upon real life events, it can
help professionals from many walks of life understand these complex issues.
Understanding and relating to these stories is the first step towards individuals and
organisations being better able to support those at risk. The videos come with
guidance to support wider training or awareness activity. Bradford continues to
develop these tools and this year has produced stories around County Lines and
Modern Day Slavery. As part of Hate Crime Week a bespoke real safeguarding
story has been developed and will be delivered by a member of the service user
group. (https://realsafeguardingstories.com/)
2.72

GW Theatre
Over the last 5 years GW Theatre has delivered several distinct programmes of
creative CSE prevention work to children in primary and secondary schools in
Bradford, working closely with all key agencies and in particular schools. Some of
this work was funded directly by the Local Authority and some was co-funded by
WY Police and Crime Commissioner. The impact of this work has been substantial
and profound. This includes the play Somebody’s Sister, Somebody’s Daughter
between 2014/6, and Mister Shapeshifter between 2016/8.

2.73

In January 2019, Bradford hosted the launch of the animated version of Mr
Shapeshifter. The resource is available online at https://www.mrshapeshifter.com/
for anyone to use alongside free support materials. It is designed to help teachers,
parents, community groups and organisations alike to discuss these complex
issues with children of primary school age.

2.74

The latest project Kidpower is still under development. Last year Bradford worked
with the company on this project which looks at the same issues with even younger
children aged 6-8. The company will be commencing research and development of
ideas and materials which will lead to the creative outputs in the project and this
involves professionals from Bradford. This will lead to a number of pilot plays.

2.75

Bradford Safeguarding Adult Board – Voice Group
The Safeguarding Voice Group is a sub group of the SAB made up of Service
users. The role of the group is to ensure that voice of service users shape the
priorities of the SAB and support the SAB in the improvement of services and
information to safeguard Adults in the District. The group have recently presented at
the BSAB and delivered training to partner agencies in how to ensure making
safeguarding personal is embedded in practise This group recently identified a
need for targeting awareness raising activities on fast food outlets, buses and
places of work.

2.76

Specialist specific training/learning events featured as part of Safeguarding Week
that included the Airedale Annual Conference on Complex safeguarding, County
Lines, Forced Marriage, Cyber Crime, financial abuse with input from the Gambling
project at Citizens Advice Bureau.

16

Page 109

2.76 Emerging Themes
2.77

Violence Reduction Units (VRUs).
The Home Secretary announced in April that £35 million of the Serious Violence
Fund will be invested in Violence Reduction Units (VRUs). VRUs will lead and coordinate local responses to serious violence, bringing together a range of agencies
including, health, education, social services and others to develop a multi-agency
approach to preventing serious violence. West Yorkshire OPCC and Chief
Constable (CC have been provisionally awarded £3,370,000 calculated on a tiered
basis, reflecting levels of serious violence in West Yorkshire based on hospital
admissions for sharp object assault data. There are two mandatory products that
the VRU must deliver in the course of the funding period a problem profile and a
response strategy. This strategy describes the multi-agency response being
delivery by the VRU, its members and other partners that will tackle the drivers
identified in the problem profile and work to reduce serious violence in the area.

3.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1

There are no other considerations.

4.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1

The Bradford Safeguarding Business Partnership Team current has a gross
expenditure budget of £0.577m of which £0.329m is funded via the Local Authority
and £0.248m is funded by partners.

4.2

The Bradford Safeguarding Business Partnership Team provides support to the
Bradford Partnership and Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board.
In particular the teams coordinate and facilitate safeguarding activity and the
delivery of strategic priorities and Delivery Plans. This is achieved through








Coordination of inter-agency working
Administration of meetings
Coordination of Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and
Safeguarding Adults Reviews
Multi-agency audits and challenge
Learning and Improvement including multi-agency training
Performance, information and audit including Section 11 and Section 175.
Production and publication of the Annual Reports

Funding for the Team covers staffing costs, multi-agency training and audits and
reviews.
4.3

The staffing resource for Bradford Safeguarding Business Partnership Team is:
 Manager, 2 x Deputy Managers
 Business Administrators
 Learning and development coordinators
 Performance and information officers
 Communication and Project officer
17

Page 110

4.4

TBP also has an Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead and the BSAB has
continued with an Independent Chair.

4.5

During the course of the year, partners have made successful funding applications
to the Community Safety Partnership to enable service provision and events in line
with exploitation and wider vulnerability.

5.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1

The protection of Children and vulnerable Adults is the highest priority for the
Bradford Council and its partners when considering the implications of exploitation,
as is the provision of services to support those who are victims of this abuse.
Failure to protect and provide appropriate services significantly increases the risk to
Children and vulnerable Adults in the District. It would also lead to significantly
reduced public confidence in Bradford Council, West Yorkshire Police and other
partners, as has been demonstrated in some other Districts.

6.

LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1

The report has been considered by the office of the City Solicitor and there are no
identified legal issues to highlight.

7.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY
Child exploitation is a crime committed by predominantly male perpetrators, though
not exclusively, from all different racial backgrounds. Victims of exploitation also
come from all backgrounds and ethnicities. Nevertheless, local experience and
national research indicates that recognised victims and perpetrators do not
necessarily reflect the gender ethnicity and other characteristics of the District’s
population.

7.12

Between Aug 2018 – July 2019 the number of male children experiencing or at risk
of CSE in Bradford District was approximately 20%, this recognises national
research data that highlights that female children are statistically more likely to be at
risk of abuse then male children.

7.13

Analysis of cases open to the Hub on March 2018 (see Appendix E) shows that
64% of open cases were of white British heritage, which is a an increase of 6%,
while 15% were of Asian heritage, which is an increase of 3% from last year.

7.2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.21

None

7.3
7.31

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS
None

7.4

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
18

Page 111

7.41

Exploitation of Children and vulnerable Adults is a criminal offence. The
consequences of exploitation can be long-standing for the victim and there is
growing research evidence that victims of CSE are themselves over-represented
among young people coming to the attention of police services as potential
offenders. In addition, Exploitation has lasting consequences for families of victims
and perpetrators and has potential implications for community relations.

7.42

The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) currently oversees the commissioning of
funding from the passporting of Police and Crime Commissioner funding against
key priorities, including CSE and now wider exploitation. Since the last update TBP
has now been allocated funding to support worthwhile initiatives or service
provision. The Risk and Vulnerabilities Group will allocate funding and oversight of
progress.

7.5

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

7.51

Sexual and Criminal Exploitation is a violation of the rights of the child/adult under
the Human Rights Act. The arrangements made by the Council and its partners are
intended to prevent the rights of the child/adult being violated in this way.

7.6

TRADE UNION

7.61

None

7.7

WARD IMPLICATIONS

7.71

It is recommended that each Area Committee receives an update report regarding
criminal and sexual exploitation in the next 6 months.

7.8

AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)

7.9

IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

7.91

National and local evidence shows that children who are looked after are more
likely to become victims of Child Sexual Exploitation than other groups. This means
that in relation to safeguarding and corporate parenting responsibilities, partners
have a responsibility to understand the safeguarding risks facing children, and
especially in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation.

7.10

ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

7.11

The nature of Sexual and Criminal Exploitation work requires partners to manage
confidential matters and data under GDPR regulations in accordance with individual
agency guidelines. There is no sensitive data included in this report that requires a
Privacy Impact Assessment.

8.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

8.1

None
19

Page 112

9.

OPTIONS

9.1

None

10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1

The Area Committee is invited to consider the contents of this report and how
members can support local activity.

10.2

The Area Committee shall receive a further update on the progress of the response
to exploitation in 12 months time.

10.3

Partners will seek further funding opportunities from Government funding streams
to enable the continuation of service provision as outlined in this report.

10.4

This report is a call to action for all partners to recognise exploitation in its widest
sense and continue to provide a coordinated safeguarding response to children and
vulnerable adults.

11.

APPENDICES

Appendix A - Definitions
Appendix B - Working Together To Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership.
Appendix C - Strategic Response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding
Appendix D - CSE Strategic Response
Appendix E – CSE Missing Data Overview
Appendix F – Case Studies
Appendix G – The work of Keighley Asian Women and Childrens Centre (KAWACC)
Appendix H – Information and Data for Keighley Area
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2018 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
The Care Act 2014 - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
West Yorkshire Police and Crime Plan - https://www.westyorkshire-pcc.gov.uk/ourbusiness/the-police-crime-plan.aspx
Serious and Organised Crime Strategy 2018 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/serious-and-organised-crime-strategy-2018
West Yorkshire Police Serious and Organised Crime Strategy https://www.westyorkshire.police.uk/precision
NSPCC Counting Lives Report: responding to children who are criminally exploited https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/counting-lives-report

20

Page 113

Appendix A – Definitions
Child Exploitation occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance
of power to coerce, control, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age
of 18 in exchange for something the victim needs or wants and/or the financial or other
advantage of the perpetrator or facilitator and/or through violence or the threat of violence.
The victim may have been criminally exploited even if the activity appears consensual.
Child exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through the
use of technology.” (Home Office, 2017)
The below nationally agreed definitions will be utilised across Bradford:
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an
individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or
deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity
(a) In exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or
(b) For the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator.
The victim may have been sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears
consensual. Child Sexual Exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also
occur through the use of technology. (Home Office 2017)
Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) occurs where an individual or group takes advantage
of a person under the age of 18 and may coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young
person under that age into any criminal activity
a) In exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or
b) For the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator
and/or
c) Through violence or the threat of violence. The victim may be exploited even if the
activity appears consensual (i.e. moving drugs or the proceeds of drugs from one
place to another).
Child Criminal Exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur
through the use of technology. (Home Office 2018)
County Lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved
in exporting illegal drugs into one or more importing areas (within the UK), using dedicated
mobile phone lines or other form of “deal line”. They are likely to exploit children and
vulnerable Adults to move (and store) the drugs and money and they will often use
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons. (Home Office
2018)
County Lines is a form of Child Exploitation (CE). It is a major, cross-cutting issue
involving drugs, violence, gangs, safeguarding, criminal and sexual exploitation, modern
slavery, and missing persons. The response to tackle it involves the Police, the NCA
(National Crime Agency) and a wide range of Government departments, local government
agencies and VCS (voluntary and community sector) organisations. County Lines activity
and the associated violence, drug dealing and exploitation has a devastating impact on
children, vulnerable Adults and local communities.
Home Invasion (sometimes referred to as Cuckooing)
21

Page 114

Urban gangs establish a base in the market location, often by taking over the homes of
local vulnerable Adults by force and/or coercion, in a practice referred to as ‘cuckooing’.
Urban gangs then use children and vulnerable people to move drugs and money.
Human Trafficking
A person commits an offence if the person arranges or facilitates the travel of another
person to exploit them. It is irrelevant whether the exploited person, Adult or child,
consents to the travel. A person may, in particular, arrange or facilitate another person’s
travel by recruiting, transporting or transferring, harbouring or receiving them, or
transferring or exchanging control over them. ‘Travel’ means arriving in, or entering, any
country; departing from any country and travelling within any country. A person who is a
UK national commits an offence under Section 2 regardless of where the arranging or
facilitating takes place, or where the travel takes place. A person who is not a UK national
commits an offence under Section 2 if any part of the arranging or facilitating takes place
in the UK, or the travel consists of arrival in or entry into, departure from, or travel within
the UK.
In determining whether or not a child is a victim of trafficking, their consent to being
trafficked is irrelevant and how they are trafficked is also irrelevant. Only the act
and the purpose need to be present. It is not necessary to prove coercion or any
other inducement.
Exploitation alone does not constitute trafficking – there also needs to be recruitment,
transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of a person. Slavery, servitude and forced or
compulsory labour is, or may be, a crime in its own right under Section 1 Modern Slavery
Act 2015.
Harmful Sexual Behaviour (HSB) is developmentally inappropriate sexual behaviour
which is displayed by children and young people and which may be harmful or abusive
Harmful sexual behaviour. HSB includes:





using sexually explicit words and phrases
inappropriate touching
using sexual violence or threats
full penetrative sex with other children or Adults.

Contextual Safeguarding Contextual Safeguarding expands the objectives of child
protection systems in recognition that young people and vulnerable Adults who are
vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts. This includes sexual exploitation,
modern day slavery, harmful sexual behaviour, peer on peer violence and abuse including
gangs and groups, criminal exploitation, and going missing and should not be seen in
isolation as they often overlap , creating a complex set of harmful circumstances and
experiences for children, young people, vulnerable Adults, families, carers and
communities.
It recognises that the different relationships that young people form in their neighborhoods,
schools and online can feature violence and abuse. Parents and carers have little
influence over these contexts, and young people’s experiences of extra-familial abuse can
undermine parent-child relationships. Contextual Safeguarding, therefore, expands the
objectives of child protection systems in recognition that young people and Adults are
vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts.
22

Page 115

Organised Crime Groups and Gangs means a group that:
d) Has as its purpose the carrying on of criminal activities, and
e) Consists of three or more persons who act, or agree to act, together to further that
purpose
Gang related violence and drug dealing activity is defined as gang related if it occurs in the
course of, or is otherwise related to, the activities of a group that:
a) Consists of at least three people, and
b) Has one or more characteristics that enable its members to be identified by others
as a group. (Serious Crime Act 2015)
Appendix B - Working Together To Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership.
(Attached PDF)

23

Page 116

Appendix C - Strategic Response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding

Bradford Safeguarding Children Board strategic response to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)
Introduction:
Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) has the responsibility for ensuring that relevant organisations in the local
area co-operate effectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation,
published in March 2015, set out an ambitious programme of work to address on a national scale some of the
failures, brought to light by Professor Alexis Jay, Dame Louise Casey and others.
Page 117

Within Bradford, partner organisations have decided that Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) is the lead
strategic body for the development and implementation of the District’s response to CSE. BSCB is required to ensure
that the needs of children and young people who have been, or may be, sexually exploited and their families are
considered as it:
• Guides the planning and commissioning of services;
• Develops policies and procedures;
• Ensures that appropriate training is in place;
• Communicates and raises awareness; and
• Monitors and evaluates the work that is being done.
This BSCB strategic response sets out the key strands to be addressed in the work to tackle CSE in the Bradford
District and this document takes into account the progress made in improving the Districts response to CSE in the 9
Point Strategic Response and previous BSCB “7 Point Strategic Response to CSE” which was agreed in July 2013.
The overall objective remains that the partnership response to CSE is child, young person and victim
focused.
These strands describe statutory safeguarding activity to be undertaken by statutory and voluntary sector partners,

1

awareness raising and training activity, and community initiatives informed by specific knowledge of the incidence of
CSE in the Bradford District. This Strategic response recognizes the links between children who go missing and CSE
and takes cognisance of the Bradford Missing Children Multi-Agency Strategy 2016/18. Taken together, the overall
aims of these strands are:
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.

Identify and understand the nature and scale of CSE
Prevention, Education and Awareness
Safeguarding vulnerable people, groups and communities
Effective leadership and governance
Disrupt and Prosecute
Communication, Engagement and Empowerment

Definition of CSE from Government Guidance:
Page 118

Following on from the definition in 2009, the Government has refreshed and produced the following definition in
February 2017.
“Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of
an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual
activity (a) in exchange for something the victims needs or wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or
increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been sexually exploited even if the sexual
activity appears consensual. Child sexual exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur
through the use of technology.”
The plan will focus upon the following groups in all aspects
 Children and young people
 Communities
 On-line activity
 Parents and carers
 Professionals and people involved with children and young people

2

All activity will consider the voice of the child in responding to immediate needs and how the voice of the child is
used to inform planning and designing of services.
1. Identify and understand the nature and scale of CSE
Bradford is committed to understanding the local threat risk and harm to allow a proportionate and appropriate
response to CSE.

Page 119










Maintain strategic assessments, problem profiles and develop a joint data set
Vulnerable people and groups
Victims – recognising gender and age
Locations which can attract vulnerable people and potential perpetrators
Methods and types of abuse
Perpetrators including tackling unacceptable attitudes and pre offending behaviour
Linkage to emerging threats –Missing/Modern Day Slavery, Criminal Exploitation and Organised Crime
Groups
Effective information sharing – including ISA

2. Prevention, Education and Awareness
Bradford is committed to raising awareness of CSE among children and young people, parents, carers and potential
perpetrators, to prevent incidents / repeat incidents of CSE.





Working closely with children and young people to understand and response to CSE
Raising awareness amongst all communities, parents, carers and potential perpetrators
Training for professionals to enable identification and responding to CSE, recognising the importance of CSE
work in all phases of schools, colleges and in alternative educational provision.
Work with the industry sector and night time economy to raise awareness and develop prevention strategies

3

3. Safeguarding and supporting vulnerable people, groups and communities
Bradford is committed to safeguarding vulnerable children and young people and supporting victims and those
professionals who seek to reduce instances of CSE





Adopting the Journey to Excellence principles
Support and intervention - timely therapeutic and support services
Information to advise and access support
Coordinated services available to work with all groups

Page 120

4 Effective leadership and governance
Bradford is committed to providing strong leadership, effective systems whilst working with partners to tackle CSE.
The BSCB remains open in identifying areas for improvement and to encourage change.







Effective systems around the Front Door/ MASH and CSE processes
Encourage statutory and non-statutory partners to work together to develop and strengthen our collective
safeguarding efforts
Quality assurance of improved outcomes for children
Developing best practice and learning
Multi agency training at all levels – initial contact through to specialist services, leadership teams and those
who are able to influence planning and change
Improving outcomes and reducing harm to young people who are vulnerable to or at risk of exploitation and
victims of exploitation

4

5. Disrupt and Prosecute
Bradford is committed to disrupting, arresting and prosecuting Child Sexual Exploitation offenders, ensuring a victim
centred approach at all times







Partnership response
Collaborative working with law enforcement and criminal justice agencies
Proactive response to prevent crimes and harm
Early interventions for potential perpetrators
Support to victims throughout investigations and proceedings
Continued partnership response to multi-agency historic investigations into CSE

Page 121

6. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment
Bradford is committed to increasing public confidence and awareness and listening to the views of children, young
people and communities to improve the delivery of services.







Coordinate the delivery of the strategic response to CSE
Ensure effective internal communications to professionals across the partnership
Ensure effective external communications to parents, carers and children.
Maximise on-line and social media opportunities and campaigns
Raising awareness and understanding amongst all groups
Empowering and involving communities to develop community resilience

The BSCB Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing Children sub group is responsible for ensuring that this
Strategic Response is up to date and reflects national and local policy and procedures in respect of CSE. All BSCB
action and improvement plans related to CSE and all such individual agency plans must be guided by this Strategic
Response.

5

Appendix D - CSE Strategic Response

Bradford District response to Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding
Introduction:
Page 122

Bradford continues to recognise opportunities to increase collaboration between Strategic Boards and sub-groups.
This recognises the emergence of more complex safeguarding matters which are under intense scrutiny through the
media, inspections, and inquiries and impact across Children’s Safeguarding, the Adult Safeguarding arena and the
Community Safety Partnership.
In order to proactively safeguard children and vulnerable adults within a wide contextual safeguarding remit, a
shared approach and collective understanding of the issues and experiences children and vulnerable adults is
required. This approach recognises the broader group of people who do not fall under the criteria as Adults at Risk
within the Care Act. The BSAB has commissioned work to improve understanding and the response to people who
may fall within this term.
This strategy recognises that contextual Safeguarding is an approach to understanding, and responding to, young
people’s experiences of significant harm beyond their families. It recognises that the different relationships that
young people and vulnerable adults form in their neighbourhoods, schools and online can feature violence and abuse.
Parents and carers have little influence over these contexts, and young people’s experiences of extra-familial abuse
can undermine parent-child relationships.

6

Across the three Boards, there are detailed sub-group structures in place to manage core functions as well Board
specific objectives. Some of these core functions lend obvious opportunities for a more consistent and collaborative
approach which takes into account the cross-cutting themes and presents opportunities for shared learning. Bradford
has developed this thinking with the Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding sub-group.
In the past Bradford has developed a strategic response to CSE and this strategy seeks to use the experience and
methodology in developing this strategy.

Page 123

Taken together, the strategic objectives are:
13. Identify and understand the nature and scale of the themes involved.
14. Prevention, Education and Awareness
15. Safeguarding vulnerable people, groups and communities
16. Effective leadership and governance
17. Disrupt and Prosecute
18. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment
Definitions
The BSCB considered the definition of complex safeguarding and agreed a local definition –
Behaviour or activity involving C& YP and adults with multiple vulnerabilities where there is exploitation , a risk of
exploitation and /or a clear or implied safeguarding concern which is likely to lead to a serious and sustained
negative impact on Children & Young People
Contextual Safeguarding expands the objectives of child protection systems in recognition that young people and
vulnerable adults are vulnerable to abuse in a range of social contexts. This includes sexual exploitation, modern day
slavery, harmful sexual behaviour, peer on peer violence and abuse including gangs and groups, criminal
exploitation, and going missing and should not be seen in isolation as they often overlap , creating a complex set of
harmful circumstances and experiences for children, young people, vulnerable adults, families, carers and
communities.

7

County lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in exporting illegal drugs into
one or more importing areas [within the UK], using dedicated mobile phone lines or other form of ‘deal line’. They
are likely to exploit children and vulnerable adults to move and store the drugs and money and they will often use
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons.
Child criminal exploitation occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce,
control, manipulate
or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into any criminal activity:
• in exchange for something the victim needs or wants.
• for the financial or other advantage of the perpetrator or facilitator.
• through violence or the threat of violence.

Page 124

The victim may have been criminally exploited even if the activity appears consensual. Child criminal exploitation
does not always involve physical contact, it can also occur through the use of technology. The criminal exploitation of
children is not confined to county lines but can also include other forms of criminal activity such as theft, acquisitive
crime, knife crimes and other forms of criminality.
Harmful sexual behavior (HSB) includes:





using sexually explicit words and phrases
inappropriate touching
using sexual violence or threats
full penetrative sex with other children or adults.

Children and young people who develop HSB harm themselves and others. More information is available here
Stakeholders
The strategy will include the following groups in all of the strategic objectives
 Children and young people, particularly those in transitions
 Vulnerable adults
 Communities
 On-line activity

8

 Parents and carers
 Professionals and people involved with children and young people

Page 125

4. Identify and understand the nature and scale of risk and vulnerabilities
 Development of a vulnerability profile that includes relevant data sets and amalgamates individual profiles
and assessments, to enable the partnership to utilise the profiles to effectively target resources and
interventions effectively safeguard children and vulnerable adults. This should be done as part of the
Joint Strategic Needs Assessments that all local authorities are required to produce.
 Develop data and performance measures that provides partners with an understanding of trends and allows
challenge and scrutiny
 Enhancing the processes for recording flagging or ‘markers’ on service systems, to support effective
consistent record keeping and information sharing with partner agencies, regarding those who pose a risk of
harm to children and vulnerable adults.
 Implementing agreed information sharing pathways to enable effective sharing of early information and
data between partners, to help collate intelligence and other information about communities, environments,
perpetrators and victims, in order to support robust interventions for children and families where emerging
problems are recognised.
 Identify specific vulnerable people and groups incluidng transitions, homelessness and vulnerable learners

5. Prevention, Education and Awareness
 Working closely with key stakeholders to understand and respond to a range of risk and vulnerabilities
 Raising awareness amongst all communities, parents, carers and potential perpetrators
 Training for professionals to enable identification, understanding and responding to range of risk and
vulnerabilities
9









Establish effective working with early years, reducing the number of children beginning school with very low
levels of development (Links with Keeping Kids Safe1)
Make contacts count - There are many points where support for a child or family can reduce the risk of them
joining a gang. At each of these points there are services tasked with working with these families, and the
key is ensuring these services are used. (Links with Keeping Kids Safe1)
Focus upon all schools, colleges and alternative educational provision.
Inform training and development opportunities that support agencies and practitioners to recognise that
children can simultaneously be both a victim and perpetrator of exploitation, harm and abuse and therefore
responses, assessments and interventions must child centred
Work with the industry sector and night time economy to raise awareness and develop prevention strategies

Page 126

6. Safeguarding and supporting vulnerable people, groups and communities
 Ensuring that robust multi-agency needs led risk management plans are in place that give full consideration
to vulnerability and need factors, , ensuring that these are strengths-based in approach, coordinated,
effectively actioned and compliment (where relevant)any statutory
processes

1

Childrens Commissioners Report -Improving safeguarding responses to gang violence and criminal exploitation

10








Support and intervention - timely therapeutic and support services, particularly recognising the vulnerability
of young people and adults with mental health needs2.
Ensure that there is appropriate information to advise and access support
Develop effective information sharing to identify and inform gaps in service provision
Protect vulnerable locations – places where vulnerable young people can be targeted, including pupil referral
units and residential children’s care homes3
Focus upon transitional arrangements –ensure appropriate arrangements are in place to support and protect
children who have been assessed as increasingly vulnerable
Recognise and respond to the children and vulnerable adults with multiple vulnerabilities – including mental
health, alcohol and substance misuse and Domestic Abuse

Page 127

5 Effective leadership and governance
 Coordinate the delivery and oversight of this strategic response
 Ensuring that the local multi-agency response is informed by national / local research and learning and an
understanding of the wider context of risk and harm
 Effective systems around the Front Door/ MASH and associated processes for both children and adults

2

Public Health Report - The mental health needs of gang affiliated young people

3

Home Office Report – Ending gang violence and exploitation

11







Encourage statutory and non-statutory partners to work together to develop and strengthen our collective
safeguarding efforts
Quality assurance of improved outcomes for children and vulnerable adults
Developing best practice and learning
Multi agency training at all levels – including specialist and non-specialist practitioners and linking with
established programmes to widen knowledge of exploitation.
Improving outcomes and reducing harm to young people and vulnerable adults who are at risk of
exploitation and victims of exploitation

Page 128

7. Disrupt and Prosecute
 Improve intelligence and information sharing and analysis, to assist local disruption plans and the
prosecution of people and businesses where appropriate
 Making best use of licensing laws, Child Abduction Warning Notices, Sexual Harm Prevention
Orders, Slavery and Trafficking Risk Orders and other relevant legislation available to address
offences to close down premises, deter perpetrators and prevent violence and abuse from
occurring, escalating and /or recurring
 Collaborative working with law enforcement and criminal justice agencies
 Ensure a proactive response to prevent crimes and harm
 Supporting children and vulnerable adults through all aspects of the criminal justice system
including court processes to improve their experiences and help minimise revictimisation
created by the process/system including the often difficult court process and help achieve
successful prosecutions of those who exploit, harm and abuse. Seek to identify and develop
post CJS support networks and signposting for children, vulnerable adults and their families.

8. Communication, Engagement and Empowerment

12










Page 129



Develop a coordinated programme of information and education for all partners.
Developing awareness messages/campaigns about what to look for, and how to report concerns, in order to
enhance not only the identification of people and places of concern
Creating public facing campaigns and user friendly materials to effectively signpost children, young people,
vulnerable adults families and communities to appropriate advice, support and services, to develop
community resilience to empower and involve communities
Provide clear and unambiguous deterrent messages to perpetrators including campaigns to reach diverse
groups
Ensure effective internal communications to professionals across the partnership
Maximise on-line and social media opportunities and campaigns
Coordinating clear pathways to centrally collate feedback received from children, families and vulnerable
adults; to enable the reality of children’s and service users experiences to inform and enhance strategic
knowledge, through developing and sharing that knowledge.
Listening to the voice of children and making safeguarding personal for service users to inform thinking and
future planning.

13

Appendix E - CSE & Missing Overview
August 2018 – July 2019
Introduction
The aim of this profile is to provide a robust dataset for children and young people (CYP) at risk of Child Sexual
Exploitation (CSE) and those that are reported missing in Bradford. It will assist partner agencies to inform strategic
priorities and decision-making to support the reduction in the number of children and young people at risk of CSE
and going missing.

Children and Young people (CYP) assessed as being at risk of CSE
The purpose of the following section is to examine the number of children and young people (CYP) assessed as being
at risk of CSE during the period August 2018 to July 2019.
NUMBER OF CYP ASSESSED AS BEING AT RISK OF CSE
AUG 2018 - JUL 2019

Graph 1
400
300
200
100
0

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
High Risk

Low Risk

AGE GROUPS OF CYP WITH CSE FLAG
AUG 18 - JUL 19

Graph 2
Graph 1
Graph 1

Medium Risk

9-12 Years Old

13-15 Years Old

16-18 Years Old

200
150
100
50
0
Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

Graph 3

GENDER OF CYP FLAGGED AT RISK OF CSE
AUG 18 - JUL 2019

Graph 1

400

Graph 1

300
200
100
0
Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
Female1

Male

Page 130

ETHNICITY
Asian/Brit. Asian - Bangladeshi
Asian/Brit. Asian - Indian
Asian/Brit. Asian - Other
Asian/Brit. Asian - Pakistani
Black/Black Brit. - African
Black/Black Brit. - Caribbean
Gypsy/Roma
Information Not Yet Obtained
Mixed - Other
Mixed - White/Asian
Mixed - White/Black African
Mixed - White/Black Caribbean
Other Ethnic Group
Traveller of Irish Heritage
White - British
White - Eastern European
White - Other

Graph 4

Sep-18
2
1
3
39
1
1
11
24
5
21
0
7
5
1
188
10
7

Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18
3
3
5
1
1
1
3
3
3
41
44
44
2
2
1
1
2
3
11
10
10
26
26
27
5
5
5
21
21
20
8
1
1
0
8
7
5
6
6
1
1
1
193
201
198
10
10
10
9
11
10

Jan-19
5
0
3
34
1
3
7
19
5
14
1
6
5
0
169
9
9

Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19
3
3
3
3
1
1
1
1
1
0
2
2
2
2
1
28
28
27
25
16
1
1
2
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
7
6
9
8
8
15
14
13
10
7
4
3
3
2
1
11
11
12
12
9
1
1
1
0
0
5
4
4
4
5
3
3
2
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
136
128
125
112
93
7
8
6
3
3
5
4
4
4
2

CHILDREN/YP AT RISK OF CSE - CURRENT CSC STATUS
AUG 2018 - JUL 2019

Graph 1
Graph 1

Aug-18
0
1
3
36
1
1
10
23
4
21
0
6
5
1
181
10
8

80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
Open referral to CSC

Graph 5
Graph 1
Graph 1

Open CIN Plan

Open CP Plan

Looked After Child

% OF 0-17 POPULATION AT RISK OF CSE BY CONSTITUENCY IN WHICH THEY LIVE
AUG 2018 - JULY 2019
0.30%
0.25%
0.20%
0.15%
0.10%
0.05%
0.00%
Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19
Bradford East

Bradford South

Bradford West

2

Page 131

Shipley

Keighley

Jul-19
1
0
1
17
1
2
8
1
1
8
0
4
0
0
77
1
2

Children and young people (CYP) with missing episodes recorded on Children Services
systems
Graph 6

TOTAL NUMBER OF MISSING EPISODES AUG 2018 - JULY 2019

Graph 1
Graph 1

400
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0
Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

AGE OF MISPER AUG 2018 - JULY 2019

Graph 7

Under 5 years old

Graph 1
Graph 1

6-10 years old

11-15 years old

16 - 18 years old

250
200
150
100
50
0
Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

Graph 8

GENDER OF MISPER AUG 2018 - JULY 2019

Graph 1

Female

Graph 1

Male

Unborn

200
150
100
50
0
Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

3

Page 132

Ethnicity
Asian / British Asian - Bangladeshi
Asian / British Asian - Indian
Asian / British Asian - Other
Asian / British Asian - Pakistani
Black / Black British - African
Black / Black British - Caribbean
Black/Black British - Other
Gypsy / Roma
Mixed - Other
Mixed - White / Asian
Mixed - White / Black African
Mixed - White / Black Caribbean
Other Ethnic Group
Traveller of Irish Heritage
White - British
White - Eastern European
White - Irish
White - Other
Information Not Yet Obtained

Oct-18
2
0
7
14
6
0
2
5
5
23
0
9
4
2
153
3
0
16
47

Nov-18
1
0
3
21
3
1
1
4
1
9
0
7
2
0
200
5
0
9
39

Dec-18
0
0
13
21
5
1
0
5
0
11
0
9
1
2
204
2
1
3
31

Jan-19
0
0
15
16
3
0
0
19
2
14
4
5
1
1
159
6
0
4
26

Feb-19
0
0
2
37
15
0
0
2
3
18
0
6
1
0
124
4
1
2
48

Mar-19
1
1
1
45
26
0
0
11
5
25
0
15
2
3
172
3
1
4
51

Apr-19
2
0
3
34
19
0
0
10
2
29
0
11
1
2
132
3
2
1
23

May-19
1
2
1
32
9
0
0
9
2
35
0
6
0
3
132
4
0
7
26

Jun-19
4
1
1
26
11
0
0
7
6
33
0
16
3
0
153
2
0
4
44

CSC STATUS OF CYP AT TIME OF MISSING EPISODE AUG 2018 - JULY
2019

SEP18

Graph 10

OCT18

JAN19

FEB- MAR19
19

54%
41%

51%
42%

51%
44%

APR- MAY19
19

5%

6%

5%

3%

9%

13%

48%
49%

44%
43%

49%
41%

57%

NOV- DEC18
18

6%

6%

10%
AUG18

Currently Looked After by another LA

13%

29%
18%

37%

49%

51%
30%
19%

49%
41%

Currently Looked After
60%

Not Looked After

34%

Graph 1

38%

Graph 1

Sep-18
2
0
2
24
8
0
0
8
9
21
0
15
1
0
124
1
0
19
60

53%

Graph 9

Aug-18
0
0
1
34
7
1
0
2
7
23
0
11
1
0
101
2
0
5
35

JUN19

JUL19

LEVEL OF CSE RISK AT TIME OF MISSING EPISODE

Graph 1

Page 133

JU

84%

L-

9

19

7%
6%
3%

10%
9%
4%
-1
N

JU

19
YA
M

77%

66%
12%
17%
6%

16%
10%
5%
9
-1
PR
A

A
M

FE

65%
8%
8%

R-

19

19

7%
8%

20%

27%

19%
13%
8%

4

69%

No Risk Flag

59%

61%

Low

9
-1
N
JA

D

EC

-1

-1

8

8

8%
11%

13%
12%

18%

22%

52%

63%

67%
N

O

V

-1
CT
O

SE

P-

18

8

7%

11%
5%

16%
16%

16%

61%

54%
24%
9%
13%
8
-1
G
U
A

Medium

B-

High

Graph 1

Jul-19
2
2
1
30
4
1
0
8
5
20
1
14
2
5
152
11
1
6
35

Appendix F – Case Studies
Serious and Organised Crime
Community Cougars Foundation (CCF) – 5 schools across the district:
UAK; Holy Family and Oakbank – Keighley
Laisterdyke Academy and Carlton Bolling – Bradford East.
Work last year focussed on Tong School.
The CCF Inspiring Others Project uses sport as a means to break down barriers and open
up communication for 100 young people per school taking part in this programme. The
delivery model is through an hour of rugby followed by an hour of work on one of 5 key
topic areas (County Lines; ASB; Grooming; Modern Day Slavery and Cyber Crime).
BD3 United – a collaborative approach in Bradford Moor –
In year 1, the work in Bradford Moor was limited and delivered largely by Crime Stoppers
as part of an awareness campaign.
A different approach was taken in year 2. This involved inviting together a number of key
local representatives of organisations delivering within Bradford Moor – delivering the
vision of tacking SOC together and promoting discussion on opportunities. As a result of
this, 4 organisations came together on a project which utilises respected local youth
workers from the community that are able to target and engage with the young people
engaged with or at risk from SOC and then divert them into available interventions which
include sports provisions, a community garden and a youth club. A number of family
events have been hosted at the Laisterdyke centre to take a whole family approach to
tackling SOC.
Real benefits are being seen both in young people who are being stepped away from
SOC, but also in the trust and confidence building of the community. Organisations are
now speaking to each other, sharing information and taking a collective approach. A
neighbourhood watch scheme is now established and a local facebook group has
residents speaking up about local issues that concern them.
Holme Wood - 4 local organisations have been funded to deliver work in Holme Wood.
E:merge; The Valley Project; All Star Youth Entertainment and Outloud Ltd.
When work was initially commissioned, each project intended to work solo to deliver their
planned work however, following similar thinking to Bradford Moor in terms of a coordinated approach, and in conjunction with the area co-ordinators office, a collaborative
project over the summer was developed titled Holme Wood Moving Up.
This project targeted a cohort of 34 young people, identified by primary schools and
through local youth worker knowledge, of being at risk of SOC. This cohort were
predominantly of an age that they were transitioning from primary to secondary school.
A daily program of activities was offered throughout the summer holidays. By the end of
the holidays there were 20 young people consistently attending daily. These young
people will continue to be supported throughout the year.
Trusted Relationship Group Work
Innovative area-based youth work response to prevent young people aged 10-14
becoming involved in exploitation through CSE, criminal exploitation and gangs has taken
place in Bradford East.
5

Page 134

Since the start of the programme to the end of Q2 the Preventative Group Worker has
engaged with 1103 young people through awareness sessions, 272 people through
Community Awareness Raising activities, 338 staff / partners through training / workshops
/ guidance sessions and visited 49 businesses via outreach visits.
The rise in engagement with young people at one school can mainly be attributed to the
delivery of assemblies to all year groups. The assemblies focussed on the theme ‘staying
safe over summer’ exploring ‘risk’ and how we all develop knowledge/skills as we grow
(particularly with support from those around us) to understand and manage the wide
variety of risks we may come across as we grow. The assemblies introduced ‘exploitation’
and ‘grooming’ as new risk to think about, top tips for staying safe and information on how
to seek guidance and support from trusted adults and services.
Feedback gained at the start of the assemblies highlighted that fewer than 20 of the 824
young people could describe what the words ‘exploitation’ and ‘grooming’ meant but by
the end all young people reported a clearer understanding and could think of ways to help
them stay safe both off and online.
Feedback from a young person participating in an 8 week targeted group work
programme:
“I’ve enjoyed everything, I couldn’t pick one thing it was all hilarious and amazing and I’ve
learnt so much, it has been the best experience. Thank you”.
Breaking the Cycles/ Youth services
One of the young people referred to the Breaking the Cycle Project was being exploited by
a criminal gang and had become heavily used to sell class A drugs. The young person
was being exploited by the gang and used in both the local area and in a neighbouring
county. In addition to being exploited themself, the young person had also started to be
forced into exploiting some of their own peers.
Intensive work was undertaken with this young person and over time a positive
relationship was built that enabled the young person to understand more about
exploitation, criminal grooming and county lines.
Through a sustained and consistent approach the young person was encouraged to take
up boxing as a relief to get rid of the stress they were experiencing and they now attend a
boxing gym three times a week. This has enabled the young person to meet the worker in
a safe space and they have increasing became surrounded by positive role models.
Over the course of the last few months we have been able to develop a better
understanding about some of the factors that led to the young person being exploited.
Although the young person does not want to use these as an excuse they have been able
to reflect on how losing a parent to suicide made them feel isolated and this lead to
hanging out with the wrong ‘friends’ and constantly getting arrested. They young person
described this as things just getting out of control and getting deeper and deeper and
feeling trapped.
We continue to work with this young person who has now started a construction course.
The young person’s parent reports seeing a massive changes in their child‘s behaviour
and believes this is down to the relationship that they built with the worker form the project.
6

Page 135

Appendix G – The work of Keighley Asian Women and Childrens
Centre (KAWACC)
Purpose of the report
KAWACC has worked in partnership with United Keighley working group, constituting
multiagency of local organisations based in Keighley. The group has established a safe
space to co ordinate regular meetings, discussing issues relating to CSE, and raising
awareness in and around Keighley and Bradford.
The group constitutes a range of agencies that have a keen interest in supporting work
associated with CSE. These have included The
Bradford Partnership (previously the BSCB) , West Yorkshire Police, Social Care, Early
Help, Community Workers, Local Councillors, local organisations, Faith Institutes and local
primary and secondary Schools. The admin support has been offered by the Area Cocoordinator (BMDC) office. This forum provides a wider context and perspective for
professional working in this area. There is also a strategic plan that draws the work up
together joining up thinking and working.
How has this been done?
The group was formed together under the Racial Justice Network, funded by Joseph
Rountree Charitable Trust, and hosted by CABAD. Due to media attention surrounding
CSE cases, public perception in regards to this taboo subject brought negativity within the
Keighley community, causing segregation due to the sensitivity of culture and faith.
To counter this problem a statement was prepared by Reverent Pritchard of Shared
Churches, who worked very closely with the network. The United Keighley statement is a
clear and unequivocal condemnation of grooming. It also invited the people of Keighley to
commit to addressing grooming together. It was based on an earlier letter signed by the
local MP, Councillors from across the political and ethnic spectrum, churches and
mosques and other community organisations. It also deliberately deracinated the issue.
All organisations were invited to join as a working group to counter CSE in Keighley. A lot
of time, and hard work was put together by the group all done on a voluntary basis. There
was a rise in awareness raising events within Keighley. There were banners provided by
the church stating ‘All young people matter’ teal ribbons were made by women from
diverse backgrounds and distributed in the community to promote CSE awareness. This
work was a collective contribution from people from all walks of life.
Muslim Women’s Council and KAWACC in conjunction with TBP delivered the FRAGILE
project in Partnership across the Bradford District in Secondary Schools and faith institutes
(mosques/ madrassas). The project facilitated discussions to men and young boys of
Pakistani ethnicity in and around Bradford, including Keighley. The project utilised a values
based approach to creating awareness around CSE, creating safe spaces to unpack
values we live by, unpack cultural, faith and traditional nuances that impact how we form
values and how these values then translate into how we parent, choices we make and
how we live our lives. This preventative approach was comprehensive and has allowed
seeds of CSE prevention to be implanted in both young men of Pakistani ethnicity and at
the centre of traditional Asian families.
7

Page 136

KAWACC has been leading the e5 project with three other partners CABAD, ICLS and
JAMES to deliver preventative work with women and young women across Keighley who
are at risk of CSE and violence against them. The project has been delivered across
Keighley in primary and secondary schools, Community Organization and faith institutes
for over 3 years and we are in our last year of this project. This project has enabled us to
engage with women and young girls through direct and indirect work to develop their
confidence, self -esteem, self-worth and assertiveness through a range of activity
sessions and workshops that have been designed to equip them with the knowledge,
tools and support needed to reach their full potential. This project has provided a
gateway to access marginalised girls, who may not necessarily be engaged in mainstream
services but who are lacking in self-esteem and are at particular risk of sexual exploitation,
grooming and domestic abuse.
KAWACC has also worked in partnership with Barnardo’s to develop the DICE Parenting
Programme for all parents of pre-teens and teenagers. The programme aims to raise
awareness about the risks children face growing up in a modern digital world and provide
practical parenting support ideas.
The programme is 4 weeks long and covers topics about the life of a teenager; exploitation
and grooming; digital dangers; parenting top tips and support services. We have delivered
this programme at Ingrow Primary, Victoria Primary, Good Sheppard Centre and
KAWACC. This programme has trained a number of professionals to deliver DICE in their
communities and organisations. The programme has been developed to make it more
culturally appropriate for people from diverse backgrounds to have a better understanding.
For the last two years the United Keighley Working Group has organised a day conference
and coordinated activities for CSE awareness week. This year it focused on providing local
schools with resources that would help them engage more effectively. It was based on the
premise that schools are the most effective way to reach children at risk of, or are being
sexually exploited: all children in Keighley go to school - apart from the home educated.
The conference encouraged ‘school leads’ to see their own work in a wider perspective.
At the same time the working group worked alongside community organisations to see
how they might mark CSE awareness in terms of their own rationale. For instance, the
main town Centre Church (Keighley Shared Church) organised an evening service
reflecting and praying about CSE, whilst two mosques had meetings following on from
Friday Prayer. The United Keighley statement was translated into Urdu/Bengali by
KAWACC to enable the audiences’ to have a clear understanding of the message.
The working group continues to meet. The challenge continues to be great. And together
we continue to make a difference in Keighley.
Recommendations





Have a clear bespoke message of what you want the community to buy into
Work very closely with your grass root organisations as they know their community
better
Strengthen your relationship with the community faith groups and be more visible
Work closely with the schools and safeguarding staff and improve communication
channels.
8

Page 137












Use the schools and community organisations to engage at a grass root level
Establish community ambassadors
Set up local groups to disseminate information into communities
Provide continuance support to organisations through networking training and
events.
Strengthen links with MP’s and local Councillors
Empower local business to be the people to voice your message ( especially
barbers)
Invite local communities at events and awareness sessions.
More visible signs and images in and around community spaces about CSE
More Intensive work between the Police, Council and the community to build trust
and resilience.
More awareness events in and around the city regularly

9

Page 138

Appendix H – Information and Data for Keighley Area

10

Page 139

CRAVEN

11

Page 140

ILKLEY

12

Page 141

KEIGHLEY CENTRAL

KEIGHLEY EAST
13

Page 142

KEIGHLEY WEST
14

Page 143

WORTH VALLEY
15

Page 144

WARD COMPARISONS
16

Page 145

17

Page 146

1

Working Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership.
Foreword
The fundamental priority for all partners in the Bradford District is the welfare of
children and ensuring that any children in need of help and protection receive the
highest quality care and most effective and appropriate support. Professionals working
with children in Bradford are committed to their responsibilities in delivering on these
priorities to keep children safe.
For many years, the Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) has overseen the
partnership response to safeguard children in the District and to ensure that they are
safe, well, and able to reach their full potential.
Following changes brought about by government legislation the BSCB will cease to exist
in September 2019 and new arrangements will replace it. The required changes allowed
a period of reflection and review of processes and practices, both locally and nationally.
Agencies in Bradford have been fortunate to utilise the work of Early Adopter authorities
in drawing together a plan for the future structures and functions of the partnership.
The purpose of the new arrangements is to support and enable local organisations and
agencies to work together in a system where;
 Children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted
 Partner organisations and agencies collaborate, share and co-own the vision
 Organisations and agencies challenge appropriately and hold one another to
account.
 There is early identification and analysis of new safeguarding issues.
 Learning is promoted and embedded in a way that ensures local services for
children and families can become more reflective and implement changes to
practice.
 Information is shared effectively to facilitate more accurate and timely decision
making for children and families.
This document will set out the key changes being made in Bradford District to meet the
legislative requirements. In moving to the new arrangements, we have adopted the title
– Working Together to Safeguard Children – The Bradford Partnership.

Osman Khan
District Commander

Kersten England
Chief Executive

Helen Hirst
Chief Officer

Bradford
West Yorkshire Police

BMDC

Airedale, Wharfedale and
Craven CCG, Bradford Districts CCG,
Bradford City CCG

Page 147

2

1. National and Local Context
In March 2016 the Government accepted the recommendations of the Wood Review
into Local Safeguarding Children Board arrangements. This led to changes embedded in
the Children and Social Work Act 2017 as well as new guidance in Working Together to
Safeguarding Children 2018.
The changes set out new statutory responsibilities for the three key agencies responsible
for safeguarding within the District, namely Bradford Council (through the Children’s
Services department) the Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven, Bradford City and Bradford
Districts CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) in Health and West Yorkshire Police. These
arrangements will cover the current boundaries of the Bradford District and its five
parliamentary constituencies – Bradford East, Bradford West, Bradford South, Shipley
and Keighley.
Each of the three partners has an equal responsibility for the safeguarding arrangements
through the Bradford Partnership. There is also a requirement to identify other key
partners who will be “relevant agencies” involved with safeguarding of children working
within Bradford.
As of 29th September 2019 the new “Bradford Partnership” will be formed. This
arrangement will be a formal partnership, with an Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead
who will challenge and scrutinise the safeguarding functions across Bradford District.
The vision and principles of the new partnership arrangements are detailed at section
three and these apply to all agencies working in Bradford to safeguard children. The new
arrangements will ensure that all partners are working and delivering to the highest
standards, and that every child in Bradford has the best opportunity to grow and thrive
in a safe environment, ensuring that the right support is available, at the right time and
for the right duration.
Safeguarding Snapshot Bradford – April 2018 to March 2019
 Approximately 140,000 children and young people under 18 making Bradford the
youngest city in the UK, accounting for 26% of the total population
 29% of children living in poverty
 33,406 contacts to Children’s Social Care Front Door
 8,863 referrals
 11,177 assessments completed by Children’s Social Care
 1,178 children subject of Initial Child Protection Case Conferences as of March
2019
 867 children on a Child Protection Plan as of March 2019
 1,163 children & young people looked after as of 31 March 2019

Page 148

3

 5,462 cases open to Children’s Social Care at 31 March 2018
 9% of children in need with a disability

2. The Bradford Partnership
The previous LSCB arrangements were in place for many years and the new partnership
looks to build on the existing and well established structures and the relationships that
underpin them as well as seeking to improve and develop them further.
The new arrangements will continue to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing
Board and the Children’s Trust Board, to ensure that the strategic vision and principles
are aligned to their priorities1.
We will seek to collaborate with other safeguarding arrangements across West Yorkshire
as well as the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and the Bradford Safeguarding Adults
Board (BSAB); this approach will ensure that cross-cutting areas of work are identified
and progressed collectively thereby achieving the best outcomes for people of all ages
across the District, avoiding duplication of effort where a co-ordinated response is more
appropriate.

3. Voice of the Child
The Voice of the Child will be secured at the heart of the future local safeguarding
arrangements and we will continue to listen to children and young people to inform
thinking, planning and activity.
We have engaged with young people to understand what they would want from the
new arrangements and how we can support and provide guidance to keep them safe.
We will continue to work with a number of established groups in Bradford that actively
engage and are led by young people. Moving forward the Communication and
Engagement Group is the platform for future activity.
In summary, we have found that they highlighted the following
- “Depression”
- “Neglect”
- “Knife Crime”
- “Homelessness”
- “Mental Health”
We will consider these points in our future Business planning and partners have already
commenced work on some of these points.

4. Vision and Principles
1

Connecting people and place for better health and wellbeing - A Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Bradford
and Airedale.

Page 149

4

The BSCB undertook a consultation process with partners and agreed the overarching
vision and principles for the new arrangements “The Bradford Partnership will work to ensure that children are safe and
receive a quality service”
Principles
 The child is always at the centre.
 There will be clear governance and accountability, clearly defined roles and
responsibilities
 There will be transparent, open and honest communication between all
 We will foster continual improvement which includes learning from others
 We will enable early support at the right time to build independence and self
reliance

5. How the Bradford Partnership is organised

Strategic Leadership Group (SLG)
This group will set strategic direction, ensure effective arrangements are in place, agree
funding and resolve disagreements and escalations. The group will comprise of the three
safeguarding partners, the Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead and the Lead Member
for children from the Bradford Council.

Page 150

5

The Bradford Partnership
This group will be known as “The Bradford Partnership”. The membership of the former
BSCB has been reviewed and rationalised to include statutory safeguarding partners and
relevant agencies. This group will be chaired by the Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead
and will meet quarterly. The function of this group will be delivery of the strategy,
oversight, scrutiny and challenge. The group will ensure that activity is focussed and in
line with the Business Plan and Risk Register. A flexible and virtual approach will enable
previous partners who are not now included as lead or relevant agencies, to remain
informed and involved in relevant aspects of future safeguarding arrangements.
Sub-Groups
The Sub-groups will focus upon key core functions and a review of the Chairs and
membership will allow an opportunity to ensure that relevant agencies and partners can
remain fully integrated in the new arrangements. The sub-groups will be responsible for
the delivery of the Business Plan and Risk Register. The sub-groups will meet on a
scheduled basis but will, where necessary, adopt a flexible approach to support activity
emanating from wider partnership working.
Learning and Improvement Framework

Working Together requires that the new arrangements maintain a shared local learning
and improvement framework across those local organisations working with children and
families. The ambition of this framework is to enable organisations to improve services
to learn from experience into the manner organisations work together to safeguard and
protect the welfare of children. Bradford has previously worked to this model, and,
moving forward, we will continue to embrace this way of thinking and provide clarity of
each organisation’s responsibility.

Page 151

6

In Bradford, we see the framework as an opportunity to effectively co-ordinate and
bring together the work from all of the sub-groups into an overarching and coherent
approach. In particular, we will learn from:








Local and national Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews
Multi agency audits
Data and performance information
Updates on policies and procedures
Multi-agency training
Self assessments – Section 175 and Section 11 Audits
National Research findings

We also see this as an opportunity to develop our collaborative thinking with the BSAB
and CSP in a joint framework.
Learning and Improvement
The new arrangements will ensure effectiveness of safeguarding children learning and
development activity in the Bradford District, so that those working with children and
families are appropriately skilled and competent.
This will include the delivery of accessible multi-agency training that complements the
training available to the staff in single-agency or professional settings and that the
training provided is evaluated and analysed to inform future planning.
We will ensure that training is compliant with national and local guidelines and
procedures, and they are accessible and incorporate established and innovative delivery
methods. As we identify emerging themes and gaps in training provision, the group will
work closely with the BSAB, CSP and the new Bradford Partnership to develop
programmes to raise awareness and understanding.
Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews
The Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review sub-group supersedes the former Case
Review Sub-group and will provide oversight and scrutiny of notifiable incidents and
subsequent rapid reviews. This will be achieved through a flexible and dynamic
approach as well as continuing to provide coordination and oversight of reviews, action
plans and subsequent learning. Decision making will be scrutinised by the independent
chair and scrutiny lead.
The sub-group will have the following key functions:
 Consider cases referred to it on a timely basis, oversee the rapid review process
through a dynamic and flexible approach, ensure that immediate safeguarding
action is taken if required and share any immediate learning.
 Report findings to the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel within
15 working days.

Page 152

7

 Commission and oversee local case reviews. Leadership of practice reviews will
be independent of the agencies involved.
 Identify learning themes from reviews and formulate learning outcomes and
action plans.
 Include areas of good practice for moderation and to share learning.
The group will convene on a regular basis to monitor and evaluate progress of multiagency and single-agency action plans in response to reviews and report progress to the
Bradford Partnership. Working with other sub-groups we will ensure that lessons
learned from local and national reviews are disseminated to staff in all local
organisations and seek assurance that changes to practice have been embedded, and
that reviews are published, where applicable, through a number of mediums, including
the Partnership website.
Practice and Procedures
This sub-group will enable the co-ordination and development of policies, procedures
and guidance for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and young people
in Bradford. This will take into account the findings of Local Child Safeguarding Practice
Review and from all national reviews with a view to considering how identified
improvements and learning should be implemented locally. The sub-group will also
consider national multi-agency policies, procedures, guidance or research findings, in
terms of the need to develop any additional local policy, procedures or guidance.
We will also continue to work with our colleagues in Local Authorities across West
Yorkshire to develop policies and procedures.
Performance, Audit, Evaluation and Compliance
This sub-group will monitor, evaluate and seek assurance about the effectiveness of
safeguarding activity by partners individually and collectively and report this to the
Bradford Partnership and Strategic Leadership Group to inform strategic decisionmaking. The group will analyse data, receive monitoring information and conduct multiagency challenge panels to identify quality of practice and lessons to be learned for
multi-agency practice, and subsequently provide assurance that findings are being
responded to. The group will also oversee multi-agency safeguarding self-evaluations
including Section 11 and Section 175 audits. Finally, and most importantly the group will
ensure that the voice of the child is evidenced in all areas of work carried out across the
partnership. The group will continue to monitor the effectiveness of the new Prevention
and Early Help model in Bradford as it evolves and embeds across the District.
Child Death Review (Previously Child Death Overview Panel)
Governmental leadership of Child Death Reviews will transfer from the Department of
Education to the Department of Health, with the Local Authority and CCGs being the

Page 153

8

accountable bodies locally. The main changes are the additional multi-professional
meeting that takes place prior to the Child Death Review partners review.
Whilst continued “affiliation” with the new safeguarding partnership is important for the
future, we are looking to establish the most appropriate governance arrangements that
recognises the changes to the arrangements and will enable support and accountability.
The Bradford Health and Wellbeing Board will maintain strategic oversight and will
delegate the executive management of the arrangements to their Integrated Change
Board. The new safeguarding arrangements will continue to support the work of the
group, and retain the strong working relationship with all the sub-groups to ensure
operational change and learning and improvement is maximised throughout the District.
It is proposed that that the group will be called the Child Death Overview Panel.

6. Relevant Agencies
The safeguarding partners are keen to ensure that the voice and influence of other
partners is maintained in the new arrangements and to also assure themselves that
agencies have appropriate, robust policies and procedures in place. This will be
achieved through appropriate representation on the Bradford Partnership group as well
as all the sub-groups.
Appendix A outlines the relevant agencies
Within Bradford there has been a long standing and effective relationship with the
Voluntary Community Sector (VCS) and across the Health partnership.
The VCS comprises over 300 organisations working with babies, children, young people
and families. It encompasses a wide variety of organisation in terms of size and
provision. The VCS have maintained a steering group which reported to the BSCB. This
steering group will continue and act as an advisory body to the VCS and to the Young
Lives Bradford team, to share information and promote good safeguarding practice for
children and young people within the sector and to provide scrutiny and challenge to the
new arrangements on behalf of the VCS.
The VCS will be represented on the Bradford Partnership Group as well as across all the
sub-groups. This representation will be on behalf of the VCS but in some cases there will
be a benefit of having specific VCS organisations also attending groups, including time
limited groups as subject matter experts. The VCS steering group with support from
Young Lives Bradford will coordinate representation where required.
Health membership will be reviewed to ensure representation from the different
agencies and two geographical areas, Bradford and Airedale, whilst avoiding duplication.
Bradford and Airedale Health Safeguarding Children Group play a key role in supporting
and overseeing the Bradford and Airedale Health Services’ statutory responsibility for

Page 154

9

Safeguarding Children and Young People under the age of 18 years. This is achieved
through promoting, coordinating and monitoring the effectiveness of safeguarding
practice delivered by health service personnel within Bradford and Airedale Health
Services Organisations. The Group also provides expert advice and assurance to Health
Services providers and other agencies on specific safeguarding children issues related to
Health care services.
The Group will continue to support and contribute to the work of new safeguarding
arrangements in providing a source of expert advice, assurance and challenge as well as
coordinating activity of the Health agencies that contribute to the sub-groups so as to
provide an opportunity for all Health agencies to contribute and influence the agenda.
The education infrastructure in Bradford, like other Districts, remains complex; and in
order to ensure effective communication and involvement, all schools (including multi
academy trusts), colleges and other educational providers, in Bradford will be fully
engaged and included in the new safeguarding arrangements as relevant agencies.
The Bradford Partnership group and sub-groups will include representatives across all
aspects of the Educational system. This will include representation from Early Years,
Primary, Secondary, Special and Further Education. The Bradford Partnership will
maintain the close working relationship with the Local Authority Education Safeguarding
Team and engagement will be maintained through the Designated Safeguarding Leads
forums, Head Teacher forums and School Governor forums. These networks will allow
the other schools such as independent, academies and free schools to become involved
in the new arrangements. In Bradford the Section 175 audit will continue to be an
opportunity for schools to self assess against consistent safeguarding principles.

7. Collaboration
Bradford continues to recognise opportunities to increase collaboration between the
BSAB, CSP and the new Bradford Partnership group and sub-groups. This is set against
the backdrop of reducing budgets and increasing demands that bring organisational
review and reshaping to deliver more with less. It also recognises the emergence of
more complex safeguarding matters which impact across Children’s Safeguarding, the
Adult Safeguarding arena and the Community Safety Partnership.
Across each of the three Boards, the sub-group structures manage core functions as well
Board specific objectives. Some of these core functions create obvious opportunities for
a more consistent and collaborative approach that takes into account cross-cutting
themes and presents opportunities for shared learning. Work has commenced to
develop these work streams namely Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding,
and Communications and Engagement.

Page 155

10

Communications and Engagement
Building upon the excellent work by the Safeguarding Adult Board a Communications
and Engagement Group now exists with representation from the CSP and the Children’s
safeguarding arrangements. The group provides a consistent, timely, accessible and
inclusive approach to campaigning, awareness raising and key messaging on issues
affecting the health, safety and well-being of people in Bradford. The ethos of the group
is to allow communication both ways, from the safeguarding partners but also to engage
in a way that captures the voice of the child (and service users in Adults).
The intended audiences are:
 Service Users (children, young people and adults)
 Parents, Carers
 Professionals & Practitioners including the Voluntary and Community Sector
 General public
 Board Members
The group includes safeguarding as well as media expertise and aims to provide a
proactive, innovative and consistent approach to communications. This work is
supported by a Communications officer from the Business Unit Team.
Risk and Vulnerabilities in Complex Safeguarding
Over a number of years Bradford has benefited from an established and experienced
Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Sub-Group. Moving forward, Safeguarding
partners are now addressing the emergence of organised crime, modern day slavery and
criminal exploitation as new threats in a similar way to the same conversations in the
last decade around child sexual exploitation. The group has now extended its remit to
coordinate activity around a number of themes, in raising awareness and understanding.
This is being developed under the banner of “complex safeguarding”.
Serious Case Reviews, Safeguarding Adult Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews.
Learning lessons from reviews has created an opportunity for collaboration as many high
profile cases repeatedly identify similar themes for learning and improvement. In order
to share and maximise learning we have developed specific shared learning events that
included themes from Serious Case Reviews, Domestic Homicide Reviews and
Safeguarding Adult Reviews and will continue this approach. These events take into
account local as well as national learning. We also recognise the value in increasing
multi-agency training opportunities across all BSAB, CSP and the new Bradford
Partnership in the future.

Page 156

11

Regional Collaboration
In addition senior leaders from the five Districts in West Yorkshire have indicated a
common wish to progress collaborative work. There are a number of county
wide/regional groups already in existences and a coordination group is to be formed
around these groups to support local activity and share good practice.

8. Independent scrutiny
Bradford has recently recruited a new Independent Chair and Scrutiny Lead. This reflects
the traditional role as independent chair and the new role of scrutiny and quality
assurance. As a result of the recent Oftsed inspection, the independent chair is a
member of the Children Services Improvement Board.
The Business Partnership Team supporting the Partnership reports directly to the Office
of Chief Executive. This allows a greater element of independence for the Team,
particularly around scrutiny and challenge. We recognise the need for all the partners to
professionally challenge each other about their processes and performance and this is
coordinated through the new arrangements. The Council’s effectiveness of safeguarding
arrangements is also scrutinised through the process of Overview & Scrutiny which is
recognised as valuable process and will be continued.
The role of independent scrutiny is to provide additional assurance in judging the
effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of all
children in a local area, and this will add value to what we already know and do. Working
Together to Safeguard Children 2018 requires that safeguarding partners ensure that
the scrutiny is objective, acts as a constructive critical friend and promotes reﬂection to
drive continuous improvement. Some forms of scrutiny will need to be independently
commissioned, for example local child safeguarding practice reviews.
The role will also
 Assess how well organisations come together to cooperate with one another to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children and to hold each other to account
for effective safeguarding.
 Scrutinise any quality assurance activity (including multi-agency case file auditing
and processes for identifying lessons to be learned).
 Scrutinise the effectiveness of training, including multiagency training, to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.
 Provide a rigorous and transparent assessment of the extent to which
appropriate and effective systems and processes are in place in all partner
agencies so as to fulfil their statutory duties and ensure that children are
Page 157

12

protected and that appropriate safeguarding strategies are developed and
embedded.
 Evaluate arrangements for the operation of the safeguarding partnership,
including the purpose and functions of meetings, and recommend and
implement appropriate changes.
 Confirm, or not, that effective performance management, audit and quality
assurance mechanisms are in place within partner organisations which will
support the 3 safeguarding partners to fulfil their statutory objectives, and which
will enable the partnership to identify and measure its success and impact.
 Ensure that the voices of children, young people and their families are
appropriately represented and heard in the work of the partnership.
Professional Challenge and Escalation
Safeguarding partners will work together to resolve any professional challenges and
disputes locally. Whilst every effort will be made to work across the partnership in a
strengths-based way, there may be occasions where necessary agreement cannot be
reached after escalation to the Partnership. Agencies should follow the ‘Resolving
Professional Disagreements/Escalation Policy’ where such instances occur. Where the
disagreements or challenge involves one of more of the safeguarding partners, the
Strategic Leadership Group will resolve the matter.

9. Bradford Safeguarding Business Partnership Team and funding.
Bradford has combined the Business Units of Children’s and Adult Safeguarding and
moving forward this will enable a more consistent approach and increase opportunities
to merge overlapping work. The Unit will be known as the Bradford Safeguarding
Business Partnership Team.
The team will continue to support safeguarding arrangements namely
 Administration of meetings
 Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and associated learning and practice
improvement
 Learning and Improvement including multi-agency training
 Performance, information and audit including Section 11 and Section 175.
 Production and publication of the Annual Report – this will include a contribution
from the independent chair and scrutiny lead on the effectiveness of safeguarding
arrangements, their performance and the effectiveness of local services. The
report will be published through existing networks and on the website for the new
arrangements.
 Publication of a threshold document – within Bradford this has been completed
with the Continuum of Need and Risk Identification Tool. This recently

Page 158

13

commissioned work recognises the new arrangements and a communication plan
agreed with partners.
Future funding will be agreed between the safeguarding partners, which should be
equitable and proportionate, and will enable the Business Partnership Team to fulfil its
functions and enable the new arrangements to deliver against statutory responsibilities
and strategic priorities. Current funding covers staffing costs, multi-agency training and
audits and limited serious case reviews/lessons learnt work and the future funding will
need to continue to adequately cover these functions.

10.Transitional Arrangements and Continuous Improvement
We will continue to carry out all the statutory functions of the BSCB until the
commencement of the new Partnership.
For any SCRs not completed or completed and not published in this 12 month period we
will ensure that we comply with transitional guidance within Working Together. Where
an SCR has not been completed at the point the new safeguarding partner
arrangements begin to operate, for example, if any have only recently been
commissioned, we will seek to complete and publish the SCR within six
months of the date of the decision to initiate a review, with a maximum of 12 months
to do so.
Similarly we will also comply with transitional guidance around the transition from CDOP
to the new Child Death Review process, and the data recorded appropriately. Before
safeguarding partner arrangements begin to operate in a local area, the BSCB will plan
how and when to hand over all relevant data and information to the
safeguarding partners. In doing so, they should comply with the Data Protection Act
2018 and the GDPR.
If we identify any matters relating to deaths that are relevant to the welfare of children
in the District or to public health and safety and we decide it would be appropriate for
someone to take action we will ensure these are forwarded to Child Death Review
partners for their information and consideration.
As outlined, previously, the BSCB brought together learning and improvements through
the Learning and Improvement Framework, Annual Training Delivery Plan (2018/19) and
the Learning and Development Strategy (2018-20 Draft). These are shaped through the
statutory requirements and the BSCB Learning and Improvement sub-group. This
framework provided a sound basis for bringing key sub-groups together to improve
practice and learn from reviews, which will be a key requirement of the new Local Child
Safeguarding Practice reviews that we are adopting.

11. References and further information

Page 159

14

DfE (2016) Wood report: review of the role and functions of local
safeguarding children boards
DfE (2018) Working Together to Safeguard Children
Connecting people and place for better health and wellbeing - A Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy for Bradford and Airedale
Bradford Safeguarding Children Board – Continuum of Need
Bradford Safeguarding Children Board – Resolving Professional Disagreement and
Escalation

For more information please contact:
Mark Griffin – Business Unit Manager - Bradford Safeguarding Children
Board/Bradford Safeguarding Adults Board
Email – Mark.Griffin@Bradford.gov.uk
Website - www.bradford-scb.org.uk

Telephone - 01274 434361
Floor 6, Margaret McMillan Tower,
Princes Way, Bradford, BD1 1NN

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Relevant Agencies













National Probation Service
CRC
All schools (including multi academy trusts), colleges and other educational providers
CAFCASS
Youth Offending Service
Housing Providers
Airedale NHS Foundation Trust
Bradford Teaching Hospitals Foundation Trust
Bradford District Care Foundation Trust
VCS
West Yorkshire Ambulance Service
NHS England

Page 160

15

Page 161

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11/

Report of the Strategic Director, Place, to the meeting of
the Keighley Area Committee to be held on 26 March
2020.

AC
Subject:
HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE NON-CLASSIFIED ROADS AND SURFACE DRESSING
ALLOCATION FOR KEIGHLEY CONSTITUENCY - 2020/21

Summary statement:
This report provides information on the Capital Highway Maintenance funding element of
the Local Transport Plan for 2020/21 and makes recommendations on the allocation for
Non-Classified road resurfacing schemes and Surface Dressing sites in the Keighley
constituency.

Wards: All Keighley Constituency
Steve Hartley
Strategic Director of Place

Portfolio:
Regeneration, Planning & Transport

Report Contact: Andy Fisher
Principal Engineer, Highway
Maintenance North

Overview & Scrutiny Area:
Regeneration and Environment

Phone: 01535 618297
E-mail: andy.fisher@bradford.gov.uk

Page 163

Report to the Keighley Area Committee
1.0.

SUMMARY

1.1

This report provides information on the Capital Highway Maintenance element of
the Local Transport Plan for 2020/21 and makes recommendations on the
allocation for Non-Classified road resurfacing schemes and Surface Dressing sites
in the Keighley constituency.

2.0.

BACKGROUND

2.1

The DfT Capital Highway Maintenance allocation (through the Local Transport Plan)
for roads, highway structures and street lighting in the Bradford district for 2020/21
is expected to be £6,008,000 as in 2019/20. This will include circa £4,950,000 for
the maintenance of A, B, C Classified roads and Non-Classified roads.

2.2

It is essential that local highway maintenance continues to be prioritised, reflecting
the economic and social importance to communities and the need to safeguard the
largest single local public asset. As such, the allocation is to be prioritised on those
roads in most need of maintenance.

2.3

The varying types and classifications of roads are surveyed annually using
standardised survey and video equipment. The sites chosen for inclusion are those
that are shown to be in the most need of repair following in-house and third party
condition analysis. This analysis is supplemented with routine site monitoring by
officers. Those roads that are known to have suffered increased deterioration due to
the ageing process and recent winter weather are also considered when formulating
annual schemes lists.

2.4

For information purposes, Appendix 1 summarises the resurfacing schemes
completed in the Keighley constituency during the 2019/20 financial year.

2.5

A recommended list of Non-Classified resurfacing schemes for the 2020/21
financial year, funded through the Local Transport Plan and DfT additional highway
maintenance budget, is included in Appendix 2.

2.6

A recommended list of Surface Dressing sites for the 2020/21 financial year, funded
through the Local Transport Plan, is included in Appendix 3.

2.7

The full list of Non-Classified resurfacing sites (Appendix 2) is detailed in priority
order, based on road condition. The cut off between ‘priority’ and ‘reserve’ sites
coincides with a value of circa £300,000 as described in paragraph 4.1. Members
may seek to substitute schemes from the priority list with those from the reserve list
as is deemed necessary to address local highway maintenance concerns. Also, if it
transpires that it is not feasible to progress any of the originally selected schemes,
these will be substituted with alternatives from the reserve list.

2.8

The suggested programme of Surface Dressing sites, totalling circa 13,080m
(approx. £250,000) is attached as Appendix 3.

2.9

In order that programme delivery can be achieved within the 2020/21 financial year
it is imperative that the committee approves a works programme at this stage.

Page 164

Report to the Keighley Area Committee
3.0

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1

There are no other considerations at this time.

4.0

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1

The total value of priority and reserve schemes in Appendix 2 exceeds the LTP
allocated budget for Non-Classified roads for 2020/21 which is £1.5m for the whole
of the Bradford district. This equates to £300,000 for the Keighley constituency.

4.2

Indicative funding has been identified for each scheme but the actual cost will be
determined through the scheme development process. The identification of a
reserve list of works is necessary in order to offset schemes that will inevitably be
delayed as a consequence of unforeseen circumstances such as work by statutory
bodies and conflicts with other major schemes, etc. There may also need to be
further adjustment to the programme following the more detailed costing process.
Any sites that are deferred for whatever reason will roll over to the following year’s
list.

4.3

The total value of the schemes identified in Appendix 3 does not exceed the capital
allocation for 2020/21 for Surface Dressing. This is £1.25m for the whole of the
Bradford district and includes A, B and C Classified roads. Consequently, it is the
intention that work will be completed on all of those sites listed, however it is
possible that some of the schemes may need to be deferred, again likely due to
conflicts with works by other bodies, statutory undertakers, etc. Any schemes that
are deferred for whatever reason will roll over to the following year’s programme.

5.0

RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1

A failure to prioritise highway maintenance schemes based upon condition and
safety survey data will result in an increased requirement for reactive maintenance
and lead to a reduction in road safety conditions and an associated increase in
successful insurance claims against the Council.

6.0

LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1

There are no specific issues arising from this report. The course of action proposed
is in general accordance with the Councils power as Highway Authority.

6.2

All works undertaken will be carried out within the requirements of the Highways Act
1980.

7.0

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

7.1.1 In writing this report, due regard has been given of the need to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, to advance quality of opportunity
between different groups and to foster good relations between different groups
under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

Page 165

Report to the Keighley Area Committee
7.2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.2.1 Proactive repairs, such as surface dressing, serve to extend carriageway life.
7.3

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

7.3.1 There are no greenhouse gas implications arising from this report
7.4

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

7.4.1 Maintenance of the local highway network is essential to ensure the safe passage
of all road users.
7.5

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

7.5.1 There are no human rights implications arising from this report.
7.6

TRADE UNION

7.6.1 There are no trade union implications arising from this report.
7.7

WARD IMPLICATIONS

7.7.1 The programmes have been determined on the basis of condition surveys, hence
the proposed level of funding may differ from ward to ward for the programme year.
However, it is considered that, over a number of years, monies expended on
maintenance works within each Area Constituency will even out (proportionate to
the length, nature and condition of highways).
7.8

AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.8.1 The development and implementation of schemes included in this report support
priorities within the Keighley Area Committee Ward Plans 2019-21.
7.9

IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

7.9.1 There are no Corporate Parenting duty implications arising from this report.
7.10

ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.10.1 None
8.0

NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

8.1

None.

9.0

OPTIONS

9.1

That the Keighley Area Committee approves the recommended schemes detailed in
Appendices 2 and 3.

9.2

That the Keighley Area Committee approves the recommended schemes detailed in
Page 166

Report to the Keighley Area Committee
Appendices 2 and 3, with any substitutions (to a similar value) from the reserve
list in Appendix 2.
10.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1

That the Keighley Area Committee approves the proposed list of schemes for
2020/21 as shown in Appendices 2 and 3.

11.0

APPENDICES

11.1

Appendix 1 – Highway Maintenance Capital Programme 2019/20
A, B, C Classified and Non-Classified Roads Completed – Keighley Constituency.

11.2

Appendix 2 – Highway Maintenance Proposed Capital Programme for Non–PRN
(Non-Classified roads) 2020/21 – Keighley Constituency.

11.3

Appendix 3 – Proposed Programme for Surface Dressing 2020/21 – Keighley
Constituency.

12.0

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1

None.

Page 167

Appendix 1 - Highway Maintenance Capital Programme 2019/20
A, B, C Classified and Non-Classified Roads Completed – Keighley Constituency

Page 168

Highway Maintenance Capital Programme 2019/2020 - A, B, C Classified and Unclassified Roads Completed – Keighley Constituency
Length
Budget
Road Name
Ward
From
To
Cost
(m)
Estimate
Road Resurfacing (A,B and C)
A6033 Hebden Bridge Road, Oxenhope
Worth Valley Church
Hill House Edge Lane
480
£50,000
£38,752
A629 Halifax Road, Cross Roads
Worth Valley Myrtle Drive
Hainworth Crag Road
350
£44,000
£38,726
A629 South Street, Keighley
Worth Valley Aireworth Street
Worth Way
200
£32,000
£25,357
B6142 Bridgehouse Lane, Haworth
Worth Valley Belle Isle
Station Rd
130
£18,000
£16,000
B6142 Station Road, Haworth
Worth Valley Ped Crossing Approaches
110
£12,000
£14,798
B6160 Bolton Road, Addingham
Craven
Harcourt Drive
Bridge
100
£12,000
£17,891
B6265 Bradford Road, Crossflatts
East
Dalesway
Roundabout
320
£40,000
£47,866
C501 Main Road / Carr Lane, East Morton
East
Elm Terrace
Otley Mount
280
£30,000
£33,626
C504 Glen Lee Lane, Keighley
East
Bend at bottom of hill
30
£5,000
£2,000
C504 Hainworth Shaw Lane, Keighley
East
Pear Tree Farm
Woodhouse Road
630
£40,000
£42,388
* B6143 Oakworth Road, Oakworth
West
Ingrow Lane
Wheathead Lane
240
£30,000
£31,000
* C508 Moor Road, Burley-in Wharfedale
Ilkley / Wdale Cow and Calf PH
Low Cragg
1,400
£100,000
£85,206
Total (A, B and C)
4,270
£413,000
£393,610
Road Resurfacing (Unclassified)
Kensington St / Lennie St, Keighley
Morton Gr / Elm Cres, East Morton
Wheathead Lane, Keighley
Southlands Road, Riddlesden
East Terrace, Cross Roads
Barr Lane, Riddlesden
Prospect Mount, Keighley
Ilkley Road, Riddlesden
Barley Cote Grove, Riddlesden
Old Station Way, Addingham
Melville Grove, Ilkley
Bracken Bank Ave, Keighley
Greystones Rise, Keighley
Back Bolton Road South
Lawkholme Lane, Keighley
School St / Market St, Steeton
Stockinger Lane, Addingham
* Nab Water Lane, Oxenhope
* Lee Lane, Oxenhope
* Victoria Road, Haworth

Central
East
West
East
Worth Valley
East
West
East
East
Craven
Craven
West
West
Craven
East
Craven
Craven
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley

Oakworth Rd
Full Length
West J/o Wheathead Cres
Adopted Section
Full Length
Bradford Road
Fell Lane
500m before bend
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Roundabout
Full Length
Bolton Road
Bradford Street
Sett Paved Strips
Main Street
Full Length
Moorside Lane
Full Length

Goulbourne Street
Cambourne Way inc Jnt
Canal Road
Wheathead Drive
Mast

Greystones Rise
Park Entrance
Cavendish Street
School Car Park
Mount Pleasant
Bodkin lane

130
200
300
80
65
110
370
1,000
110
170
130
70
90
30
320
130
200
750
470
330

£20,000
£25,000
£28,000
£7,000
£6,000
£25,000
£35,000
£40,000
£10,000
£16,000
£15,000
£10,000
£8,000
£5,000
£30,000
£10,000
£13,000
£45,000
£60,000
£56,250

£17,781
£25,000
£25,430
£7,000
£9,465
£16,100
£26,423
£43,255
£10,000
£16,109
£24,713
£12,827
£8,610
£5,796
£45,389
£9,601
£14,942
£39,432
£27,817
£41,786

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Taylor Avenue, Silsden
St John’s Street, Silsden
Scott Lane West, Riddlesden
Banks Lane, Riddlesden
Broomhill Avenue, Keighley
Weston Road, Ilkley
Wheatley Lane, Ilkley
Wheatley Rise, Ilkley
Eaton Road, Ilkley
Ben Rhydding Road, Ilkley

Craven
Craven
East
East
West
Ilkley
Ilkley
Ilkley
Ilkley
Ilkley

Full Length
Full Length
Dunkirk Rise
High Wood Head
Oakworth Rd
Full Length
Railway Bridge
Full
Full
Old Lane

* Funded through DfT additional highway maintenance 2018/19 budget

Coles Way
Silsden Road
First hump
Wheatley Close
Wheatley Road
Total (Unclassified)
Total (Keighley Constituency)

160
110
240
480
150
125
200
150
200
380
7,250
11,520

£25,000
£10,000
£15,000
£31,000
£16,000
£15,000
£30,000
£7,000
£18,000
£35,000
£666,250
£1,079,250

£15,033
£16,027
£22,341
£21,740
£23,006
£11,344
£35,053
£15,149
£25,212
£44,503
656,884
£1,050,494

Page 169

Appendix 2 - Highway Maintenance Proposed Capital Programme for Non-PRN (Non-Classified roads) 2020/21 – Keighley
Constituency

Site

Page 170

Spring Gardens Lane, Keighley
Royd Ings Avenue, Keighley
Station Road, Oakworth
Hardings Lane, Ilkley
Wharfe View Road, Ilkley
Bracken Bank Ave, Keighley
Sun Street, Haworth
Westway (Shann), Keighley
Moorside Road, Addingham
Silsden Road, Riddlesden
Lord Lane/ Tim Lane, Haworth
Earl Street, Keighley
Acres Street, Keighley
Moor Park Grove, Addingham (micro asphalt)
Tivoli Place, Ilkley (micro asphalt)
Victoria Close, Ilkley
Back Dale View, Silsden

Ward
Central
Central
Worth Valley
Ilkley
Ilkley
West
Worth Valley
Central
Craven
East
Worth Valley
Central
Central
Craven
Ilkley
Ilkley
Craven

From
Skipton Rd
Bradford Road
KWVR
Full Length
Weston Road
Approaches to roundabout
Cold Street
Full Length
Sections
Ilkley Road
100m either side bridge
Full length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length

To
Earl Street
Depot
Dockroyd Lane
Northern J/O A65
Bracken Bank Grove
Rosslyn Grove
West for 400m

inc j/o North Croft Grove
Total

Reserve List
Hainworth Road, Silsden
Intake Lane, Steeton
Parkwood Street, Keighley
Heber Street, Keighley
Broadhead Lane, Oakworth
North Dean Road, Keighley
Lower Constable Road, Ilkley
Redwood Close, Long Lee
East Parade, Ilkley
Hollingwood Rise, Ilkley
Barley Cote Road, Riddlesden
Lawkholme Lane, Keighley
Ilkley Road, Riddlesden
Wheatley Grove, Ilkley
Ilkley Road, Riddlesden
Chapel Road, Steeton
Airey Street, Keighley

Craven
Craven
East
Central
Worth Valley
West
Ilkley
East
Ilkley
Ilkley
East
East
East
Ilkley
East
Craven
Central

200m at southern end
Redcar Lane
Park Road
Adopted length
New bed
School Entrance
Full Length
Full Length
Little lane
Parish Ghyll Drive
Full Length
Hard Ings Rd
Unity Street
Northern 80m
New bed
Full Length
Full Length

Highfield House
Haynes Street
End
North dean Avenue
for 120m plus patch
30m above bend
Bradford Street
Willow Tree
50m south of bridge

380
180
380
530
160
110
160
140
450
400
275
110
80
60
115
100
90
3,720

Budget
Estimate
£36,000
£23,000
£45,000
£28,000
£20,000
£14,000
£11,000
£15,000
£20,000
£28,000
£20,000
£10,000
£8,500
£2,000
£5,000
£7,500
£7,000
£300,000

200
500
300
90
460
400
150
250
150
110
135
360
230
80
800
340
80

£8,000
£40,000
£32,000
£30,000
£25,000
£75,000
£9,000
£16,000
£18,000
£10,000
£10,000
£35,000
£20,000
£8,000
£37,500
£25,000
£8,000

Length (m)

Page 171

Back Simpson Street, Keighley
Simpson Street, Keighley
Pitt Street, Keighley
Bracken Bank Ave, Keighley
Arncliffe Road, Keighley
Poplar Ter / Moor View Ct, Sandbeds
Highfield Court, Oakworth
Gill Lane, Oakworth
Moorfield Road, Ilkley (micro asphalt)
Woodhouse Road, Keighley
Goose Cote Lane, Oakworth
Parkwood Street, Keighley
Undercliffe Rise, Ilkley
Barley Cote Avenue, Riddlesden
Sunnydale Grove, Long Lee
Ilkley Road, Riddlesden
White Lane, Oakworth
Moor Park Way, Addingham
Wheathead Crescent, Keighley
Royd Ings Avenue, Keighley
Royd House Grove, Long Lee
North Parade, Ilkley
Denby Court, Oakworth
Spring Avenue, Long Lee
Straight Lane, Addingham
Kings Road, Ilkley
Airedale Road, Keighley
Wells Walk, Ilkley
Goose Cote Lane, Oakworth
James Avenue, Eastburn
Vincent Avenue, Eastburn
Bracken Road, Eastburn
North Street / Chapel Street, Silsden
Langbar Rd / Denton Road, Ilkley
Barrett Street, Silsden
Grange Estate, Ilkley
Albany Walk, Ilkley
Tufton Street, Silsden
Sunset Drive, Ilkley (micro asphalt)

Central
Central
East
West
West
East
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Ilkley
East
West
East
Ilkley
East
East
East
Worth Valley
Craven
West
Central
East
Ilkley
Worth Valley
East
Craven
Ilkley
East
Ilkley
West
Craven
Craven
Craven
Craven
Ilkley
Craven
Ilkley
Ilkley
Craven
Ilkley

Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Greystones Rise
Fell Lane
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Woodhouse Drive
Harewood Road
Clover Rise
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
50m south of bridge
Adopted Length
Full Length
Full Length
Bend
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Jct with Spring Dve
Full Length
Easby Drive
Part
Full Length
Oakworth Road
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Coop
Roundabout
Full Length
Valley Drive
Wells Walk
Full Length
Full Length

Goose Cote Lane
Westburn Avenue

Glen Lee Lane
Bracken Bank Ave
Grace Street

Silsden Road
Cambourne Way inc Jnt
Cougars - Royd Way

Victoria Avenue
100m

Pickard Lane
St Helens Way
Back Parish Ghyll Road

80
60
280
130
275
130
90
600
340
80
425
600
90
175
65
725
280
60
260
200
45
145
120
80
860
300
30
250
100
50
50
80
130
100
100
100
225
200
210

£15,000
£10,000
£50,000
£25,000
£25,000
£15,000
£18,750
£28,000
£13,000
£6,000
£35,000
£50,000
£5,500
£15,000
£6,000
£30,000
£20,000
£4,000
£20,000
£30,000
£4,000
£14,000
£8,000
£7,000
£55,000
£37,500
£6,000
£18,750
£8,000
£1,500
£1,500
£3,000
£9,000
£18,750
£20,000
£6,000
£19,000
£45,000
£10,000

Appendix 3 - Proposed Programme for Surface Dressing 2020/21 – Keighley Constituency

Site

Page 172

Aireworth Close, Stockbridge
Kinara Close, Stockbridge (micro asphalt)
Back Bar Lane, Riddlesden
Bar Lane, Riddlesden
Smithville, Riddlesden
Altar Villas, Riddlesden
Compeigne Avenue, Riddlesden
West Bank Road, Riddlesden
Leach Crescent, Riddlesden
Street Lane, East Morton
Mayfield Drive, Near Sandbeds (micro asphalt)
Whitestone Drive, East Morton
Grace Street, Keighley (micro asphalt)
Harden Road, Keighley
Providence Lane, Oakworth
Slaymaker Lane, Oakworth
Low Bank Lane, Oakworth
Sunhurst Drive, Oakworth
Back Ln / Cold Knowle Rd, Stanbury
Hob Lane, Near Stanbury
Outside Lane, Near Oxenhope
Hawksbridge Lane, Near Oxenhope
Todley Hall Road, Near Laycock
Station Road, Haworth
Hebden Bridge Road
Brow Road, Haworth
Braithwaite Avenue, Keighley
Hawkstone Drive, Keighley
Spring Gardens Lane, Keighley
Market Street, Keighley
Market Place, Keighley (micro asphalt)
Green Lane, Eastburn
Lyon Road, Eastburn
Ridge Lane, Silsden Moor
Horne Lane, Silsden Moor

Ward
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
East
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
Worth Valley
West
Central
Central
Central
Central
Craven
Craven
Craven
Craven

Length
(m)
70
240
70
130
100
20
50
70
60
470
70
190
60
370
780
440
300
280
500
730
320
260
1070
250
660
440
330
80
1130
120
90
120
130
480
490

From
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Scott Lane
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Leach Road
Past J/O Highstead Close
Full Length
J/O Street Lane
Pitt Street
J/O Thwaites Brow Road
Colne Road
J/O Wright Ave
7m Before Street Light Col No 18
Full Length
J/O Stanbury Main St
The Old Silent Inn
10m Above Stairs Bottom Farm
J/O Moorside Lane
J/O Green Sykes Lane
Spar
Waggon & Horses PH
Station Road (inc Roundabout)
J/O West Lane
Full Length
7m West Of J/O Shann Lane
Full Length
Full Length
J/O Main Road
J/O Shoebridge Ave
Full Length
J/O Low Lane

To

No.27 Post Office

Scott Lane West
45m before High Ash Farm
Traffic calming after No.15
Parkwood Street
50mph Sign
Mill Chimney
Gill Clough Farm
J/O Windsor Road
End of surfaced sections
Ponden Reservoir access road
End
10m past Public Footpath sign
Public Footpath sign
Mini roundabout / Brow Rd
Lay-by (tie in with Calderdale)
Hebden Road
Roundabout
50m before west of J/O Earl Street

Tuck Place
5m Past Street Light Col. No 10
J/O Hole Lane

Cornwall Avenue, Silsden
Gloucester Avenue, Silsden
Dradishaw Road / Woodside Road, Silsden
Woodside Road, Silsden
Windsor Avenue, Silsden
Maxwell Road, Ilkley
Chestnut Close, Ilkley
Old Lane, Ilkley
Castle Road, Ilkley
Birchwood Court, Ilkley (micro asphalt)

Craven
Craven
Craven
Craven
Craven
Ilkley
Ilkley
Ilkley
Ilkley
Ilkley
Total

440
360
220
330
100
370
50
100
80
60
13,080

Full Length
Full Length
Elliott Street
Westerley Crescent
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length
Full Length

Gloucester Ave
Hawkcliffe View

Page 173

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12/

Report of the Strategic Director, Place to the meeting of
Keighley Area Committee to be held on 26 March 2020.

AD

Subject:
SAFER ROADS DEVOLVED BUDGET

Summary statement:
This report seeks approval for programmes of Safer Roads schemes in the Keighley
Area for 2020/21 and 2021/22.

Steve Hartley
Strategic Director
(Place)

Portfolio:

Report Contact: Simon D’Vali
Principal Engineer

Overview & Scrutiny Area:

Phone: (01274) 431000
E-mail: simon.dvali@bradford.gov.uk

Regeneration & Environment

Regeneration, Planning and Transport

Page 175

1.

SUMMARY

1.1

This report seeks approval for a programme of Safer Roads schemes in the
Keighley Area for 2020/21 and 2021/22.

2.

BACKGROUND

2.1

The West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040 was approved by the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA) in August 2017. In conjunction with the Strategic
Economic Plan, the overarching aim of the strategy is “…for Leeds City Region to
be a globally recognised economy where good growth delivers high levels of
prosperity, jobs and quality of life for everyone.”

2.2

The key objectives of the strategy are:
Economy: Create a more reliable, less congested, better connected transport
network.
Environment: Have a positive impact on our built and natural environment.
People and place: Put people first to create a strong sense of place.

2.3

In terms of Safer Roads themes, the strategy includes a specific aim to reduce road
accidents, aspiring to ‘zero tolerance’ of transport-related deaths. There are also
aspirations to encourage walking and cycling by improving safety.

2.4

The Strategy includes a casualty reduction target, similar to that first introduced
within the Local Transport Plan. This equates to a 42% reduction in the number of
people killed or seriously injured in road collisions (KSI) by 2027. (Using the 2016
KSI figure as a base).

2.5

Historically there were specific budgets for the promotion of Casualty Reduction
schemes and more general Traffic Management Measures. Following a significant
reduction in the level of funding, this was combined into a single funding stream.
Executive devolved the budget to the Area Committees in October 2012, with a
provision that 70% of the budget had to be allocated to Casualty Reduction
schemes, the residual funding being available for projects prioritised by members.

2.6

The prioritisation of funding for Casualty Reduction schemes has been an important
contributor to the continuing downward trend in casualty rates within the district.
This has been achieved in partnership with other interventions including Police
enforcement and Road Safety education, training and publicity activities. However,
the current level of funding dictates that individual Area Committees are restricted in
the scale of projects that can be prioritised. The current system also precludes the
development of projects of more strategic significance or on a district-wide basis.

2.7

There has been a systematic addressing of locations with notable clusters of
recorded traffic collisions. As such, the occurrence of collisions is becoming more
sporadic and thus more difficult to target with specific area committee based
interventions. Notwithstanding this it is acknowledged that there remains a safety
Page 176

benefit in delivering traffic management schemes in areas where casualty rates are
not necessarily high, but where there are concerns about vehicle speeds,
severance or more general safety issues.
2.8

In order to address the issues highlighted in paragraphs 2.6 and 2.7 the following
revisions to the Safer Roads budget allocation and scheme governance systems for
2018/19 onwards were approved by Executive committee on 12 June 2018:


Establish a strategic Safer Roads budget to enable the development of
larger scale schemes with road safety benefits, with the approval to promote
such projects and consideration of any resulting objections being an
Executive Member function.



Funding continues to be distributed to the Area Committees to promote
Casualty Reduction schemes as a priority.

2.9

An element of the Safer Roads budget can also be prioritised to address community
safety, access, mobility and sustainable transport issues. The determination of
proposed schemes programmes takes into account the needs of all road users,
including those with special mobility needs, is referred to in the body of this report.

3.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1

It is recommended that the Area Committee re-affirms its commitment to
progressing Disabled Persons Parking Places and undertaking mobility access
improvement works by again including budgets for these within the 2020/21 and
2021/22 programme. The cost of any traffic surveys required to assess requests for
traffic management measures and assist in determining future schemes
programmes will also need to be met from this budget as these are now generally
externally procured to maximise resources.

3.2

It is also suggested that the successful exercise of promoting a constituency-wide
Traffic Regulation Order, to include a number of sites where minor amendments to
waiting restrictions have been requested, be repeated in 2020/21 and 2021/22.
(Due to the more extensive processes involved, it would not be feasible to include
any larger schemes or Residents Permit Parking Schemes within the constituencywide Order). Given that the Traffic & Road Safety team receives a number of
requests for new TRO’s throughout the year, only approval for a 2020/21
programme of Orders is being sought at this stage. It is then proposed to present a
report to the Area Committee early in 2021 to seek approval for the 2021/22 TRO
programme.

3.3

It is further recommended that a similar approach is adopted for the promotion of a
constituency wide Speed Limit Order (SLO), where minor amendments to speed
limits have been requested. The funding of this SLO will need to be split between
the two financial years.

3.4

A further review of parking in Ilkley, along with a number of road safety
improvements in and around Ilkley town centre are proposed. to be funded
separate from this programme.

Page 177

4.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1

The total Keighley Area Safer Roads budget for 2020/21 and 2021/22 is £110,000
each financial year.

4.2

The recommended split between casualty reduction schemes and communitybased projects in the Keighley Area is £70,000 and £40,000 respectively. This is
based on the suggested schemes programmes detailed in Appendices 2 and 3.

4.3

Schemes with a total value of £50,000 have currently been identified for the
Casualty Reduction programme for 2021/22 (Appendix 2). It is proposed to seek
approval for the remaining £20,000 (including any other residual Safer Roads
programme funding) as part of the 2021/22 TRO report (as detailed in paragraph
3.2).

5.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1

A failure to follow an evidence-based approach and prioritise schemes on the basis
of casualty reduction potential would not meet with the overarching aims of the
Safer Roads allocation

6.

LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1

There are no specific issues arising from this report. The course of action proposed
is in general accordance with the Councils power as Highway Authority and Traffic
Regulation Authority.

7.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

7.1.1 Due consideration is given to Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 when developing
all Safer Roads schemes.
7.1.2 It is expected that there will be no disproportionate impact from the projects
recommended for implementation within this report; furthermore some of the
schemes would advance equality of opportunity for people who share a protected
characteristic. Any projects where a potential disproportionate impact is identified,
through more detailed investigation and design, will be subject to Equality Impact
Assessments.
7.2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
Safer Roads projects are designed to minimise future maintenance implications and
the impact on the environment.

7.3

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS
The implementation of highway safety schemes and projects which encourage
Page 178

sustainable transport modes will potentially reduce harmful emissions.
7.4

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
The Safer Roads programme delivers a wide-range of projects including traffic
calming, pedestrian crossing facilities, cycling and horse riding provision, speed
limit reductions and junction improvements. Such measures, along with partnership
activities, form an integral part of improving safety in local communities. Reduction
of community severance and community cohesion are two positive outcomes of this
programme.

7.5

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT
None

7.6

TRADE UNION
None

7.7

WARD IMPLICATIONS
Respective ward members will be involved in the development of site specific
projects.

7.8

IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING
None

7.9

ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT
None

8.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS
None

9.

OPTIONS

9.1

Members may nominate alternative schemes to those recommended in Appendix 3
(to the same total budget value). Officers will provide appropriate advice on any
suggested substitutions. Any alternative sites suggested for inclusion in Appendix 2
will be subject to justification in terms of Casualty Reduction potential.

10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1

That the Keighley Area Committee approves a programme of Casualty Reduction
schemes for 2020/21 and 2021/22 listed in Appendix 2.

Page 179

10.2

That the Keighley Area Committee approves the proposed programme of Traffic
Management schemes for 2020/21 and 2021/22 listed in Appendix 3.

10.3

That the Keighley Area Committee notes the progression of Traffic Regulation
Order schemes for 2019/20 listed in Appendix 4.

10.4

That the Keighley Area Committee approves the proposed programme of Traffic
Regulation Order schemes for 2020/21 listed in Appendix 5.

10.5

That any Traffic Regulation Orders, or any legal procedures linked to the processing
of traffic calming measures or pedestrian crossing facilities which are necessary to
implement the chosen schemes be approved for processing and advertising subject
to the scheme details being agreed with the local Ward Members.

10.6

That any valid objections to the advertised Traffic Regulation Orders, traffic calming
or pedestrian facilities be submitted to this Area Committee for consideration or in
the event of there being no valid objections the Traffic Regulation Orders be sealed
and implemented and the traffic calming or pedestrian facilities be implemented as
advertised.

11.

APPENDICES

11.1. Appendix 1 – Keighley Casualty Reduction Schemes – previous years Capital
programme schemes.
11.2. Appendix 2 – Keighley Casualty Reduction Schemes – recommended for the
2020/21 and 2021/22 programme.
11.3. Appendix 3 – Keighley Traffic Management Schemes – recommended 2020/21 and
2021/22 programme.
11.4. Appendix 4 – On-going list of Traffic Regulation Orders in Keighley.
11.5. Appendix 5 – Outstanding list of Traffic Regulation Orders in Keighley including
those recommended for inclusion in 2020/21 Area-Wide Traffic Regulation Order.
12.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1

Report of the Strategic Director Department of Environment and Sport to the
meeting of Council Executive 9 October 2012 – Devolution to Area Committees.

12.2

Report of the Strategic Director Place to the meeting of Council Executive 12 June
2018 – Proposed changes to the Safer Roads budget allocation.

Page 180

APPENDIX 1
Keighley Area Casualty Reduction Schemes – previous years Capital programme.
LOCATION

SCHEME

CURRENT POSITION

Ward 9 Craven
Bolton Road B6160, Addingham

50mph speed limit

Complete

Leeds Road A65 near Ashlands
Primary School

Possible reduction in speed limit and
traffic measures

Complete

Skipton Road, Ilkley

VAS and warning sign

Complete

A65 Skipton Road/ Church Street
junction with B6382 Bolton Bridge Rd

Traffic Island/Pedestrian Refuge and
signing and lining improvements

Complete

Worth Way/East Parade A6035,
Keighley

Traffic measures and improvements to
pedestrian facilities

Ongoing

Luster Street / Mount Street, Keighley

Traffic Calming, one way system

Complete

Skipton Rd, Utley

Speed reduction

Complete

Traffic Measures & upgrade of existing
Zebra Crossing to a Puffin Crossing

Ongoing

Traffic measures, gateway and possible
VAS

Part issued to contractor

Formalise parking and waiting
restrictions

Complete

Traffic measures including
improvements to existing Zebra
Crossing

Ongoing

Ward 14 Ilkley

Ward 15 Keighley Central

Ward 15 Keighley Central &
Ward 16 Keighley East &
Ward 17 Keighley West
Halifax Road/South Street (A629),
Keighley
Ward 16 Keighley East
Bradford Road, (B6265), Riddlesden
Ward 15 Keighley Central and
Ward 17 Keighley West
South Street, Keighley
Ward 17 Keighley West &
Ward 29 Worth Valley
Keighley Road / Oakworth Road
(B6143), Keighley

Page 181

APPENDIX 2
Keighley Area Casualty Reduction Schemes – recommended programmes for 2020/21 and 2021/22. (£70,000 each year)
2020/21
Ward

Scheme Location

Proposal

KSI

Slight

Any Existing / Proposed
Schemes

Value / Estimate

Keighley West Ward

Ashbourne Lane / Ingrow Lane

Possible reduction in speed limit
and traffic measures

4

12

N/A

£30,000

Keighley East Ward

Parkwood Street / Park Lane

Reduction in speed limit and traffic
measures

3

9

Road narrowings with priority
give ways

£15,000

Craven Ward

Bolton Road

Possible reduction in speed limit
and traffic measures

3

6

VAS’s

£15,000

Keighley West Ward

Oakworth Road/Keighley Road
(B6143)

Traffic measures with signing and
lining improvements

2

11

Traffic islands, safety
cameras and VAS’s

£10,000

Page 182

Sub total

£70,000

2021/22
Ward

Scheme Location

Proposal

KSI

Slight

Any Existing / Proposed
Schemes

Value / Estimate

Worth Valley Ward

Haworth Road / Lees Lane / Mill Hey
Crossroad to Bridgehouse Lane

Possible reduction in speed limit
and traffic measures

2

10

N/A

£20,000

Keighley East Ward

Otley Road, East Morton

Traffic measures with possible
additional VAS’s

2

5

VAS’s

£5,000

Worth Valley Ward

Keighley Road / Colne Road

Traffic measures with a possible
reduction of the speed limit

2

4

N/A

£15,000

Keighley Central Ward

Devonshire Street

Traffic measures

2

3

Traffic calming humps

£10,000

All Wards

Contingency for schemes to be
identified in 2020/2021

To be confirmed

N/A

N/A

N/A

£20,000

Sub total

*Funding spans 2020/21 and 2021/22

£70,000

APPENDIX 2 (continued)
Reserve List
Scheme Location

Proposal

KSI

Slight

Any Existing / Proposed
Schemes

Value /
Estimate

Keighley Central

Greenhead Road /
Skipton Road

Traffic measures with possible
VAS’s

2

2

Cushions, humps and a
gateway

£20,000

Keighley Central

Bradford Road

Traffic measures with signing and
lining improvements

2

1

VAS’s

£15,000

Craven

Keighley Road, Silsden

Traffic measures with possible
VAS’s

1

4

Gateway

£25,000

Craven

Main Road, Steeton

Traffic measures with signing and
lining improvements

1

3

VAS’s

£25,000

Worth Valley Ward

Green Sykes Road /
Game Scar Lane

Traffic measures with signing and
lining improvements

1

2

No

£20,000

Ward

Page 183

APPENDIX 3
Keighley Area Traffic Management Schemes – recommended 2020/21 programme. (£40,000)
HOW IDENTIFIED
WARD

9,14,
15,16,
17,29

LOCATION

PROPOSED SCHEME

Various

Members

N'Hood
Forums

Parish
Council

Injury Estimate
£
Accidents
in 5 years

Public

Officers

Maintenance of existing Vehicular Activated Signs (VAS)’s

Yes

Yes

N/A

5,000

Various

Informal disabled person parking and mobility improvements

Yes

Yes

N/A

5,000

Various

Speed and volumetric data collection using data logger units or
survey enumerators

Yes

N/A

5,000

Various

TROs/Lining schemes (see Appendices 4 & 5)

N/A

25,000

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Page 184

Sub Total £40,000

Keighley Area Traffic Management Schemes – recommended 2021/22 programme. (£)
HOW IDENTIFIED
WARD

9,14,
15,16,
17,29

LOCATION

PROPOSED SCHEME

Various

Members

N'Hood
Forums

Parish
Council

Injury Estimate
£
Accidents
in 5 years

Public

Officers

Maintenance of existing Vehicular Activated Signs (VAS)’s

Yes

Yes

N/A

5,000

Various

Informal disabled person parking and mobility improvements

Yes

Yes

N/A

5,000

Various

Speed and volumetric data collection using data logger units or
survey enumerators

Yes

N/A

5,000

Various

TROs/Lining schemes (see Appendices 4 & 5)

N/A

25,000

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Sub Total £40,000

APPENDIX 4
On-going list of Traffic Regulation Orders in Keighley
Craven – Ward 9

Page 185

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Status

Belton Road

Silsden

Keighley Road

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Business

To be issued

Main Street

Addingham

Cross End Fold

Parking

Request to remove waiting
restrictions

Revoke NWAAT

Public

To be issued

Main Street

Addingham

Parking

Request to extend waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Metro
WYCA

To be issued

New Close Mill Fold

Silsden

Howden Road

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Public

To be issued

Skipton
Road/Thornhill
Road Area

Steeton

Near Airedale
Hospital

Parking

Problems caused by vehicles parking
on residential streets in connection
with Airedale Hospital

Residents only

Public
MP

To be
advertised

Thornhill Road

Steeton

Elm View

Parking

Request to extend waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Public

To be issued

Ilkley – Ward 14

Page 186

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request
Date

Ben Rhydding Drive

Ilkley

Wheatley Lane

Parking

Request to extend waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Public

To be issued

Ben Rhydding Road

Ilkley

Wheatley Road

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Public

To be
abandoned

Moorfield Road

Ilkley

Wheatley Lane

Parking

Request to extend waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Public
Cllr

To be issued

Queen’s Road

Ilkley

Princess Road

Parking

Request to extend waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Metro
WYCA

To be issued

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Status

Gresley Road

Keighley

Access to Nelsons
Builders

Parked vehicles

Parked vehicles causing
difficulties for delivery vehicles to
turn into site.

NWAAT

Public

Complete

Starkie Street

Keighley

Goulbourne Street

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Business

Complete

Cooke Street

Keighley

Lawkholme
Crescent

Parking

Removal of some disabled
parking

Limited waiting

Temple Row

Keighley

Russell Street

Parking

Request to adjust waiting
restrictions

NWAAT

Keighley Central
– Ward 15

Cllr/
Business
Public
Parking
Services

Complete
To be issued

Keighley East –
Ward 16

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request Date

Aireworth Road

Keighley

Airevalley Road

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Business

To be issued

Cherry Tree Rise

Keighley

Dale View Grove

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

School

To be issued

Parkwood Street

Keighley

Thwaites Brow
Road

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Public

To be issued

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request Date

Braithwaite Avenue

Keighley

West Lane

Parking at junction

Restricted visibility

NWAAT

Public

Complete

Broomhill Avenue

Keighley

Queens Road

Parking

Parking causing sight line
problems

NWAAT

Judge

Complete

Elmwood
Drive/Road/Terrace

Keighley

Ingrow Lane

Parking

Request for waiting restrictions

NWAAT

Public

To be issued

South Street

Keighley

Ingrow Lane

Parking

Request to increase the limited
waiting time

Limited Waiting

Business

Complete

South Street

Keighley

Rawling St

Parking

Request to introduce limited
waiting time

Limited Waiting

Business

Complete

Keighley West –
Ward 17

Page 187

Worth Valley –
Ward 29

Page 188

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request Date

Changegate

Haworth

North Street

Parking

Request to reduce the length of
Police parking bay

Police Parking

Cllr
Police

To be issued

Dockroyd Lane

Oakworth

Chapel Lane

Parking problems near
school

Parked vehicles causing visibility
problems and road safety
concerns and congestion

Formalise existing
School Keep Clear
with a TRO

School
Officer

Complete

Main Street

Stanbury

Parking

Parking problems around school

No waiting Mon-Fri
8am to 6pm

Public

Complete

Mill Lane

Oxenhope

Station Road

Parking problems

Parked vehicles causing visibility
problems and road safety
concerns and congestion

NWAAT

Cllr
Parish
Council

Complete

Mytholmes Lane

Haworth

Victoria Avenue

Junction visibility

Sight lines obstructed

NWAAT

Public / Cllr

Complete

Oakworth
Road/Keighley Road

Oakworth

Gladstone Place

Parking & Visibility

Request to extend waiting
restrictions

NWAAT

Public

To be issued

APPENDIX 5
Outstanding list of Traffic Regulation Orders in Keighley
Suggested programme for 2020/21
Craven – Ward 9

Page 189

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request
Date

Aire View

Silsden

Hothfield

Speeding traffic

New School will reduce volume of traffic

20mph zone/limit

Other

23/02/16

Aire View

Silsden

Whole Length

Speeding traffic

New School will reduce volume of traffic

20mph zone/limit

Public

02/07/19

Bolton Road

Craven

Pickard Lane /
Townshead

Speeding Traffic

New School will increase volume of traffic

20mph zone/limit
& NWAAT

Public
Cllr

15/02/20

Bolton Road

Addingham

Bark Lane

Parking

Visibility problems at junction

NWAAT

Public

16/07/19

Grange Road

Eastburn

Parking

As part of Thornhill Road permit parking

Residents only

Public

12/3/16

Howden Road

Silsden

St John’s Street

Parking

Vehicles parking on dropped kerb outside
hairdressers

NWAAT

Public

05/11/19

North Street

Silsden

Chapel Street

Speeding and ratrunning

Request for traffic measures

20mph and
possible NWAAT

Public

06/02/15

Steeton Town
Centre

Steeton

Various locations

Parking

Request for parking strategy

Various

Public

14/11/16

Station Road

Steeton

Old Part

Parking

Request for limited waiting

Limited Waiting

Public

07/02/20

Sutton Lane

Steeton

Skipton Road

Parking

Visibility problems at junction

NWAAT

Public

29/01/20

Elliott St

Silsden

Harwal Gate

Parking

Visibility problems at junction

NWAAT

Public

01/03/18

Ilkley – Ward 14
Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Complaint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request
Date

Victoria Avenue

Ilkley

Parish Ghyll Drive /
Hollingwood Rise /
Parish Ghyll Lane

Parking

Request for double yellow lines

NWAAT

Public

08/07/15

Bolling Road

Ilkley

Wheatley Avenue

HGV ban

Request to provide HGV ban to prevent
lorries driving towards railway bridge

HGV ban

Public

19/06/16

Bolling Road

Ilkley

Manley Road

Parking

Request for double yellow lines

NWAAT

Public
Cllr

19/10/19

Keighley Central
– Ward 15

Page 190

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Compl
aint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request
Date

Emily Street

Keighley

Bradford Road

Parking

Request for residents parking

Residents only

Public

07/02/19

Kensington Street

Keighley

Oakworth Road

Parking

Request for residents parking

Residents only

Public

11/04/18

Hartington Street

Keighley

Strawberry Street

Rat running

Request prohibited access

Prohibited access

Cllr

20/11/17

Lord Street

Keighley

Alice Street &
Cavendish Street

Congestion

Two vehicles are unable to pass each
other safely

One Way

Cllr
Public

27/07/19

Lawkholme
Crescent

Keighley

Cavendish Street

Lack of Parking

Request to convert one of the loading bays
to a limited waiting parking bay

Limited waiting

Cllr
Business

02/03/20

Royd Ings Avenue

Keighley

Near Bowling Club

Lack of Parking

Request to remove single yellow line

Limited waiting

Bowling
Club

25/08/19

Spring Gardens
Lane

Keighley

North Street

Parking

Request for residents parking

Residents only

Public

14/12/18

Skipton Road

Utley /
Keighley

Green Head Lane

Parking

Relocation of disabled parking bay

Disabled parking

Public

26/03/18

Spearhead Way

Keighley

Lawkholme Lane

Parking

Request to remove waiting restrictions

NWAAT & No
Loading

Cllr
Business

03/03/19

North Street /
Skipton Road

Keighley

Holker Street

Parking

Extension of existing double yellow lines

NWAAT

Public

30/08/18

Highfield Lane

Keighley

Well Street

Parking

Request for double yellow lines

NWAAT

Public

04/07/19

Keighley East –
Ward 16

Page 191

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Compl
aint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request
Date

Bar Lane

Riddlesden

Bradford Road

Parking

Request for residents parking

Residents only

Public

17/05/17

Chatsworth Street
Area

Keighley

Dalton Lane

Parking

Request for residents parking

Residents only

Public

13/09/17

Heath Grove

East Morton

Main Road

Parking

Request for residents parking

Residents only

Public

11/03/17

Parkwood Street

Keighley

St Paul’s Road

Speeding/Parking

Near Parkwood Primary School

20mph Limit/Zone
& NWAAT

Cllr
School

09/12/19

Ripley Street

Riddlesden

Full Length

Access only

Access only

Public

12/07/16

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Compl
aint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request
Date

Ashbourne Road &
Ingrow Lane Area

Keighley

Various

Speeding

Local Distributor Road

20mph
Limit/Zone &
possible NWAAT

Cllr
Public

13/08/19

Grafton Road

Keighley

Queens Road

Parking

Request for extension of Double Yellow
lines

NWAAT

Public
Parking
Services

06/03/20

South Street

Keighley

Foster Road

Parking

Request to provide limited waiting

Limited waiting

Business

12/02/15

Keighley West –
Ward 17

Worth Valley -Ward 29

Page 192

Road Name

Location

Junction with

Concern/Compl
aint

Notes

Type of Order

Request
From

Request
Date

Cold Street

Haworth

Sun Street

Parking

Request for residents only parking

Residents only

Public

12/05/17

Denholme Road

Oxenhope

Near Dog & Gun Pub

Speeding traffic

Request for an extension to speed limit

SLO

Public
Councillors

20/06/18

Holme House Lane

Oakworth

Speeding traffic

Request for a reduced speed limit

SLO

Public

29/07/17

Keighley Road
A6033

Oxenhope

Station Road

Parking

Site obstruction near mini roundabout

NWAAT

Parish
Council

31/08/18

Oldfield Lane

Oldfield

Hob Cote Lane /
Pickles Hill

Speeding traffic

Request for a reduced speed limit near
primary school

SLO

Moorside Lane

Oxenhope

Moor Lane/Lee Lane

Speeding traffic

Request for an extension to 40mph limit

SLO

Cllr

10/06/19

Rawdon Road

Haworth

Mytholmes Lane

Speeding

Near Haworth Primary School

SLO

Cllr

14/02/20

Station Road

Oxenhope

Perseverance Fold

Parking

Request for double yellow lines

NWAAT

Public

12/03/20

Sun Street

Haworth

Ivy Bank Lane

Speeding problems

Request for a reduced speed limit

SLO

Public

06/09/16

Sun Street

Haworth

Parking

Request for residents only parking

Residents only

Cllr

15/03/19

Public
Cllr

14/02/20

Page 193

This page is intentionally left blank

